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cemeX is a global building materials company that provides high-
quality products and reliable service to customers and communities 
in more than 50 countries throughout the world. cemeX has a rich 
history of improving the well-being of those it serves through its 
efforts to pursue innovative industry solutions and efficiency 
advancements and to promote a sustainable future.



BY BUILDIng A stronger FoUnDAtIon, 
We ensUre tHAt CeMeX stAYs At  
tHe ForeFront oF A HIgHLY DYnAMIC 
InDUstrY.
 

We are building a more agile, more innovative, 
more competitive, and more sustainable CEMEX;  
a company with a stronger foundation to transform 
the challenges of today into the opportunities of 
tomorrow. 



Letter 
to our
stockholders

DEar fElloW stoCkholDErs:
Last year was a transitional one for CEMEX, from the global 
crisis of 2009 to the slow recovery that is now taking place in 
many of our markets. While the pace of the economic recov-
ery is not something within our control, we have remained 
focused on ensuring we fully capture the value of our business 
by managing the variables we do control. We have worked to 
strengthen our balance sheet and to strengthen our business 
model, to reposition the company for future growth.  Despite 
the uncertainties of the environment, we have defined and ex-
ecuted a coherent strategy to maximize earnings and free cash 
flow: cutting costs, improving organizational flexibility, encour-
aging innovation, optimizing capital allocation, and strategical-
ly accessing the capital markets. I am confident that the result 
will be renewed value creation for you, our stockholders.

Nonetheless, for 2010, our net sales decreased 3% to 
US$14.07 billion, our operating EBITDA declined 13% to 
US$2.3 billion, and our free cash flow after maintenance 
capital expenditures decreased 58% to US$512 million. This 
reflected lower volumes and weaker pricing conditions in 
some of our major markets, most notably the United States 
and Spain. 

In the face of that weakness, our ability to produce positive 
free cash flow underscores the strength of our geographically 
diverse portfolio of cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggre-
gates assets, as well as the improvements we have made to our 
operational efficiency. In particular, our operations in emerging 
markets performed well last year, with some markets in the 
Americas, Africa, and Asia setting EBITDA and revenue records. 
These markets are likely to provide opportunities for significant 
organic growth over the medium and long term, complement-
ing the eventual recovery and expansion of our developed 
market portfolio. 

WE haVE WorkED to strENGthEN oUr BalaNCE 

shEEt aND oUr BUsINEss MoDEl—to rEPosItIoN 

thE CoMPaNY for fUtUrE GroWth. 
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Lorenzo H. Zambrano
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Of course, we cannot affect the trajectory of the markets. But 
we can always improve the efficiency and productivity of our 
organization. As you know, we executed a major cost reduc-
tion exercise in 2009. During 2010 we again worked to align 
our cost structure with changing market realities and realized 
another US$150 million in cost savings. For 2011 we have 
identified a further US$250 million in cost reductions. 

At CEMEX our search for improved efficiency never ends. We 
are deeply committed not only to ongoing cost discipline, but 
also to continuously improving our processes and organiza-
tion to make our operations as efficient as possible. To that 
end, we have recently launched a company-wide initiative to 
consolidate and extend the changes we have been making to 

how we do business worldwide, which I expect will make our 
operations even leaner and more agile. 

A healthy balance sheet is a critical element of returning to our 
long record of sustained, profitable growth. Our financial strat-
egy rests on three elements: delivering on the commitments 
we have made to our creditors and other financial stakehold-
ers, eliminating refinancing risk, and minimizing financial costs. 
These are crucial to future value creation.

That is why we have devoted so much effort to reducing our debt, 
extending our maturity schedule and raising new capital. In 2010, 
we reduced our total debt including perpetual notes by more than 
US$1.4billion; by the end of last year we had reduced our total 
debt including perpetual notes by US$4.5 billion from the June 
2009 level. The result is that we have substantially addressed our 
maturities under our Financing Agreement through December 
2012. We will continue proactively implementing our financial 
strategy, while ensuring we enhance value for all our stakeholders.

DEBt ProfIlE
percentage
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During 2010, lower-than-expected economic recovery trans-
lated into lower-than-expected EBITDA generation, which 
had the potential to impact on our financial commitments. 
To ensure that we remained in compliance with our cove-
nants, we worked closely with our banks and private place-
ment note holders to amend some covenants under our 
Financing Agreement on terms that are beneficial to all of 
our stakeholders. The prepayments that we have made under 
our Financing Agreement and the successful amendments 
to its financial covenants reflect both our commitment to 
deliver our targets and the recognition and support from our 
banks and note holders. 

In addition to strict cost discipline and an improved capital 
structure, our future growth depends on the development 
of new approaches to deliver value to our customers and 

new products to make good on our commitment to sustain-
able development. To this end, we have launched an array of 
global initiatives that encourage our employees to collabo-
rate across geographies, functions, and organizational levels. 
The goal is to unleash the full potential and creativity of our 
worldwide network to develop and spread the very best 
ideas throughout all of CEMEX. 

We are already seeing results. Among other initiatives, we are 
working to launch new value-added ready-mix concrete prod-
ucts that address specific customer requirements; to design 
sustainable construction materials that meet the challenges 
and capitalize on the opportunities of a new low-carbon econ-
omy; and to develop innovative turnkey solutions—including 
third party project financing, technical support, and eventually, 
project maintenance—to help governments build concrete 
roads, highways, and other infrastructure. 
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We are unleashing the 
full potential and cre-
ativity of our worldwide 
network to develop and 
spread the very best ideas 
throughout all of CeMeX.



Sustainability is central to our business strategy, as well as 
key to our future growth. With this in mind, we are reducing 
our company’s carbon footprint—and lowering our costs—
by expanding our use of alternative fuels and renewable 
sources of clean energy. We are mitigating the environmen-
tal impact of all our operations, including the rehabilitation 
of our cement and aggregates quarries. We are actively 
promoting green building practices, and developing green 
products. And we are working to provide a healthy, safe, 
and attractive environment in which our employees can 
prosper and which contributes positively to the communi-
ties in which we operate. 

The goal of all our efforts is not just to recover from the effect 
of the downturn on some of our key markets, but to assure 
that we are ready for a new era of sustained, profitable growth. 

Today’s CEMEX is leaner, more agile, more innovative, and 
more competitive. We are in a better place today than a year 
ago—and I am confident we will be in a much better place a 
year from now.

On behalf of the board and our management team, I thank our 
stockholders, employees, customers, banks, note holders, and 
suppliers for their continued support.

Sincerely,

 

Lorenzo H. Zambrano
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
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 2010 2009 %
net sales 2  14,069  14,544 (3)

operating income 2  856  1,165 (27)

operating ebitda 2  2,314  2,657 (13)

controlling interest net income (loss)  (1,304) 104 n/a

earnings (loss) per ads 3  (1.30) 0.11 n/a

free cash flow after maintenance capital expenditures   512  1,215 (58)

total assets   41,675  44,483 (6)

total debt plus perpetual notes  17,729  19,175 (8)

stockholders’ equity attributable to controlling interest   15,710  16,339 (4)

(in millions of US dollars 1, except per-ADS data).    

   

1  For your convenience, nominal Mexican peso results for 2010 and 2009 
were translated to US dollars using the average exchange   
rate of the year of 12.67 MXN/US$ and 13.60 MXN/US$, respectively. For 
balance sheet accounts, US dollar amounts were calculated by converting 
the peso amounts at the end of each year using the end-of-year exchange 
rate of 12.36 MXN/US$ and 13.09 MXN/US$, respectively. 

2 Amounts have been adjusted to reflect the effect of the divestment of our 
Australian operations in 2009. 

3 Based on an average of 999.2 and 893.2 million American depositary 
shares (ADSs) for 2010 and 2009, respectively.   

FInAnCIAL
highlights



NEt salEs
millions of Us dollars

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10

oPEratING INCoME
millions of Us dollars

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10

total assEts
millions of Us dollars

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10

 6,
92

3

1,6
53

16
,23

0

6,5
43

1,3
10

15
,93

4

7,1
64

1,4
55

16
,01

68,1
49

1,8
52

17
,38

1

15
,32

1 2,4
87

26
,76

3

18
,24

9

2,9
45

29
,97

2

20
,89

3

2,8
95

49
,66

2

20
,13

1

2,3
27

45
,38

7

14
,54

4

1,1
65

44
,48

3

14
,06

9

85
6

41
,67

5



BUILDIng a
stronger
foundation

8
—

9



In the face of a very challenging global 
business environment, we keep adapting 
our operations to meet the current market 
reality.  We continue to rightsize our busi-
ness as necessary, and are constantly look-
ing for opportunities to reduce costs at both 
the operating and corporate levels. In fact, 
we accomplished our cost saving target of 
Us$150 million in 2010, while proactively 
addressing our financial commitments. 

We continue evolving into a leaner, more agile, and flexible com-

pany to ensure that CEMEX stays at the forefront of a highly dy-

namic industry, which, along with the rest of the global economy, 

is changing deeply and changing fast. We are intensifying our 

collaboration in order to continually strengthen and maximize 

our company’s competitive advantages. Through our collabora-

tion, we are engaging and empowering all CEMEX employees—

beyond traditional titles, roles, and responsibilities—to develop 

and share the very best ideas and practices quickly throughout all 

of our global organization. As a result, we are unleashing the full 

potential and creativity of our employees worldwide and devel-

oping innovative initiatives that make CEMEX a more efficient, 

competitive, and sustainable company.

WE arE INtENsIfYING oUr CollaBoratIoN to 

CoNtINUallY strENGthEN aND MaXIMIZE oUr 

CoMPaNY’s CoMPEtItIVE aDVaNtaGEs.



IMProVING oPEratING EffICIENCY
Our ability to operate ever more efficiently is an important 

competitive advantage in a fast-changing world and is a key 

component in the implementation of CEMEX’s strategy in the 

near future. With this in mind, we have defined, tested, proved, 

and are now operating a Shared Services Model to serve our 

company’s business units. This Shared Services Model converges, 

centralizes, and streamlines back-office services—such as human 

resources and payroll, information technology, and transactional 

and financial services—for our operations across regions. They 

not only drive significant cost savings, but also increase the 

productivity of these functions by enhancing quality of service; 

fostering economies of scale; freeing up resources to enable im-

proved focus on core tasks; minimizing duplication of functions; 

and promoting collaboration across traditional boundaries.

To create a more flexible and agile operational support network, 

we have reorganized some areas such as our Global Technology 

and Procurement functions, developing leaner corporate areas 

that are aligned more closely with our local operations, allow-

ing us to better respond to the changing business environment 

worldwide. Our new Global Technology model improves our 

efficiency and enhances our ability to innovate through greater 

collaboration, while a slim global staff focuses on capturing 

economies of scale in large projects and technology develop-

ment. Likewise, in Procurement, we have transferred broader 

operational responsibility to our local Procurement areas, while 

ensuring that a leaner global staff continues reaping the benefits 

of global economies of scale, and reducing our company’s costs.
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WE arE CoNstaNtlY DEVEloPING sPECIal rEaDY-MIX 

CoNCrEtE ProDUCts that fUlfIll oUr CUstoMErs’ 

rEQUIrEMENts. 

ENhaNCING CoMMErCIal offErINGs
As a global leader in the production and distribution of ready-mix 

concrete, we are enhancing our efforts to develop solutions based on 

the thorough knowledge and application of concrete technology. Led 

by our Global Center for Technology and Innovation in Switzerland, 

our research labs constantly design and develop specialty ready-mix 

concretes that fulfill our customers’ demanding performance require-

ments. Our new concrete products comprise an increasingly higher 

percentage of the total ready-mix volume sold to our customers. For 

example, in France, new concrete products rose from 17% of our total 

ready-mix volume sold in 2007 to 27% in 2010. Similarly, in Spain, over 

the same period, the proportion rose from 14% to 25%.

Our customers use our specialty concretes for a broad range of 

applications. When London’s Heathrow Airport required a ready-

mix concrete with a low carbon footprint and low heat generation 

to avoid cracking in the foundation for its new terminal, we came 

through with the solution—supplying an innovative mix of over 

100,000 cubic meters of customized, eco-friendly ready-mix con-

crete. Another example is the Benidorm West Beach Promenade, 

one of Spain’s newest emblematic structures, which was created 

with more than 10,000 cubic meters of our white concrete. The 

work of noted architect Carlos Ferrater, the project has garnered 

worldwide recognition and awards.

Recently, we also launched our first global product brand: Promptis®, 

our cutting-edge, fast formwork removal concrete. A joint partner-

ship between our research and development team and our European 

operations made it possible to transfer this solution quickly from the 

laboratory to our customers. Such speed of innovation strengthens 

our competitive advantage in a world of constant evolution, where 

customers’ needs demand increasingly fast answers. Among its many 

benefits, this new rapid hardening concrete enables our customers 

to maintain their tight schedule, to rotate equipment quickly, and to 

reduce jobsite costs; thus, saving on total project costs. 

In addition to concrete, we are one of the world’s largest suppliers 

of aggregates. Because of their many different qualities, our custom-

ers can use our aggregates in a wide variety of ways, such as a stable 

foundation for thoroughfares, for water and erosion control, and for 

recreational uses. For example, along with our decorative ready-mix 

concrete products, we recently supplied the city of Saint-Tropez, France, 

with crushed beige and yellow rolled gravel for its colorful 250-me-

ter long dike. At the height of the tourist season, with the city at its 

fullest, the aggregates were delivered safely, on time, and according 

to specifications. Additionally, in Dortmund, Germany, we will supply 

more than 230 thousand tons of aggregates, including water blocks, a 

variety of stones and stone chips, and special sands, to build an artificial 

24-hectare lake, which will be used for leisure activities and as a flood-

control reservoir. Beyond their wide range of stand-alone applications, 

our aggregates—primarily crushed stone, sand, and gravel—are an 

indispensable ingredient used in virtually all forms of construction. 

As part of our enhanced commercial offerings, we are positioning 

our company to be the provider of choice for value-added prod-

sPECIaltY rEaDY-MIX  
CoNCrEtE ProDUCts
percentage of total volumes

 07 10  07 10
 fraNCE sPaIN

25

17

27

14



12
—
13

ucts and services in the infrastructure market. We are evolving 

from a traditional supplier of building materials into a fully 

integrated turnkey solutions provider, mostly in infrastructure 

projects which make extensive use of our cement and concrete 

products. For example, in Mexico alone, we have paved more 

than 10,000 kilometers of concrete highways and roads. Our 

offer spans a project’s life cycle: originating new infrastructure 

projects; potentially structuring their financial requirements 

through third-party financial institutions; executing and manag-

ing construction; and in some cases, operating and providing 

maintenance. By becoming fully involved in the project, we 

develop closer relationships with our public and private sector 

clients. Ultimately, we provide greater value for them—offering 

the cost-effective, comprehensive solutions they need—and 

create a competitive advantage for our company, generating 

new market opportunities for us. 

fostErING a sUstaINaBlE loW-CarBoN ECoNoMY

The global challenges posed by climate change are an important 

issue for our company, our industry, and our world, so we are ap-

plying our ideas, skills, technology, and determination to contribute 

to the development of a sustainable low-carbon economy. Today, 

buildings account for as much as 40% of the energy used around the 

world, and almost 90% of this energy is consumed during their life 

span for operation, maintenance, and renovation. This presents our 

company and our industry with both a responsibility and an oppor-

tunity: to develop products that help save energy during the lifetime 

of a building. When properly designed and constructed, concrete 

buildings can improve energy efficiency and can last for decades 

with little or no maintenance. Hence, we are continually working to 

develop and deliver more efficient and sustainable building materi-

als. For example, our structural lightweight concrete offers insulation 

advantages that improve the energy efficiency of buildings. Whereas, 

our impermeable concrete eliminates water absorption, making it 

ideal for the development of green roofs.  

altErNatIVE fUEls UtIlIZatIoN
percentage of total fuels
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fossil fuels with more environmentally friendly biomass residues and 

refuse-derived fuel (RDF). Overall, our four CDM projects will avoid 

the emissions of approximately 8.5 million tons of CO2.

We are further committed to securing renewable sources of energy 

by either developing projects or contracting with external providers. 

In 2010, renewable sources of energy accounted for 12% of our total 

power needs, compared with less than 1% in 2007. Eurus, the 250 

megawatt wind farm jointly developed by CEMEX and ACCIONA En-

ergía, supplies approximately one fourth of the total electricity con-

sumption of our operations in Mexico. Financed, constructed, and 

managed by ACCIONA, Eurus is one of the largest wind farm projects 

in terms of CO2 emissions reduction—approximately 600 thousand 

metric tons per year—registered under the United Nations’ Clean 

Development Mechanism. Moreover, our cement plant in Panama 

only consumes power sourced from a local hydroelectric plant. 

Most important, thanks to these and other global eco-friendly 

initiatives, we are on track to achieve our goal of a 25% reduction in 

specific CO2 emissions per ton of cement by 2015 from 1990 levels. 

Indeed, by year-end 2010, we had achieved a reduction of more than 

20% since 1990, avoiding 7 million metric tons of CO2 emissions, an 

amount equal to the CO2 produced by 1.2 million cars annually. 

Today, CEMEX has evolved into a vertically integrated building 

materials company: developing projects; offering multiple products 

and services; and serving consumers directly through our retail 

distribution network. Collectively—through all of our initiatives—

we are creating value by building a more agile, more innovative, 

more competitive, and more sustainable CEMEX; a company with a 

stronger foundation to transform the challenges of today into the 

opportunities of tomorrow.

 
 
For more information, please visit our website at www.cemex.com.

In addition to developing advanced products, we are the first 

building materials company in the industry to develop a car-

bon footprint tool, which enables our company to measure and 

disclose the greenhouse gas emissions of our cement, ready-mix 

concrete, and aggregates products. The footprint tool follows a 

cradle-to-gate approach, from raw material sourcing to product 

manufacturing. This tool not only offers crucial information for 

our customers as they work to reduce the environmental impact 

of their buildings and other structures, but also meets the re-

quirements of existing and emerging certifications and building 

codes—expanding the potential markets for our products.

In response to the ever-growing concern over the emission of 

greenhouse gases—most notably carbon dioxide (CO2)—we con-

tinue to expand our intensive use of more economical, environ-

mentally friendly alternative renewable fuels. We are increasingly 

using biomass and treated commercial and municipal waste in our 

manufacturing processes to reduce our consumption of carbon-

based fossil fuels, protect our business from volatile energy prices, 

and recover energy from society’s waste. In the past five years, we 

have increased our use of alternative fuels fourfold, reaching 20% of 

our cement plants’ total fuel consumption in 2010. Consequently, we 

saved the equivalent of 1.4 million tons of coal while simultaneously 

generating important savings for our company.

We also set new records in the use of alternative fuels at our cement 

plants. In Poland, our Chelm plant recently achieved a new record for 

our company, using alternative fuels for 80% of the energy required 

in the production of cement. By sharing best practices from this and 

our other cement operations, we are further extending our use of a 

variety of alternative fuels around the world. 

Regarding carbon offsetting, in 2010 we registered our fourth United 

Nations Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) project at our 

Zapotiltic cement plant in Mexico. This project replaces conventional 



 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Operating results
Net sales  5,621  6,923  6,543  7,164  8,149  15,321  18,249  20,893  20,131  14,544  14,069 

Cost of sales(1)(2)    (3,141) (3,894) (3,656) (4,130) (4,586) (9,271) (11,649) (13,868) (13,735) (10,270) (10,127)

Gross profit   2,480  3,029  2,888  3,034  3,563  6,050  6,600  7,025  6,396  4,274  3,943 

Operating expenses(2)  (826) (1,376) (1,577) (1,579) (1,711) (3,563) (3,655) (4,130) (4,069) (3,109) (3,087)

Operating income   1,654  1,653  1,310  1,455  1,852  2,487  2,945  2,895  2,327  1,165  856 

Other expenses, net(3)  (270) (441) (425) (474) (514) (316) (49) (273) (1,909) (407) (527)

Financial expense (467) (412) (333) (381) (372) (526) (494) (807) (910) (994) (1,287)

Financial income   25  41  45  17  23  39  46  75  46  28  35 

Comprehensive financing result(4)  (174) 265  (329) (267) 133  239  (32) 93  (2,527) (1,111) (1,233)

Income before taxes 1,271  1,522  617  766  1,541  2,495  2,989  2,851  (2,031) (341) (946)

Discontinued operations(5) - - - - - - - 26  187  (314) - 

Non-controlling interest(6)(7)(8)(9)  78  153  37  30  21  55  110  77  4  18  2 

Controlling interest net income   999  1,178  520  629  1,307  2,112  2,378  2,391  203  104  (1,304)

 

Millions of ADSs outstanding(10)(11) 556  584  608  648  678  704  733  751  849  998  1,001 

Earnings per ADS(11)(12)  1.83  2.07  0.87  1.00  1.96  3.05  3.31  3.21  0.24  0.11  (1.30)

Dividends per ADS(10)(11)(13) 0.49  0.51  0.52  0.51  0.61  0.60  0.90  0.83  n.a n.a n.a

 

Balance sheet infOrmatiOn
Cash and temporary investments   308  428  361  291  342  601  1,579  743  939  1,077  676 

Net working capital(14)   813  933  699  576  525  1,268  887  1,383  1,191  946  732 

Property, plant, and equipment, net   9,034  8,940  8,963  9,265  9,613  15,542  17,196  22,895  19,671  19,776  18,726 

Total assets   15,759  16,230  15,934  16,016  17,381  26,763  29,972  49,662  45,387  44,483  41,675 

Short-term debt   2,962  1,028  1,393  1,329  1,044  1,191  1,252  3,311  6,934  565  456 

Long-term debt   2,709  4,345  4,374  4,537  4,887  8,287  6,290  16,542  11,849  15,565  15,953 

Total liabilities   8,111  8,078  8,983  9,250  9,161  16,409  15,193  30,967  28,119  24,806  24,385 

Non-controlling interest(6)(7)(8)(9) 2,398  1,975  1,207  532  389  529  1,920  3,753  3,390  3,338  1,580 

Total controlling stockholders’ equity 5,251  6,177  5,744  6,234  7,831  9,825  12,859  14,942  13,879  16,339  15,710 

Total stockholders’ equity   7,649  8,152  6,951  6,766  8,220  10,354  14,779  18,695  17,268  19,677  17,290 

Book value per ADS(10)(11) 9.45  10.58  8.63  8.78  11.55  13.94  17.55  19.90  16.34  16.37  15.70 

 

Other financial data
Operating margin 29.40% 23.90% 20.00% 20.30% 22.70% 16.20% 16.10% 13.85% 11.56% 8.01% 6.08%

Operating EBITDA margin(14) 36.10% 32.60% 29.30% 29.40% 31.10% 23.20% 22.70% 21.60% 20.29% 18.28% 16.45%

Operating EBITDA(14) 2,030  2,256  1,917  2,108  2,538  3,557  4,138  4,512  4,080  2,657  2,314 

Free cash flow(14)(15)  886  1,145  948  1,143  1,478  2,198  2,689  2,455  2,600  1,215  512 

14

selected consolidated
FInAnCIAL information
CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES
In millions of US dollars, except ADSs and per-ADS amounts
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Notes to Selected Consolidated Financial Information

1.  Cost of sales includes depreciation.

2.  For the periods ending December 31, 2002 through 2007, and partially during 2001, the expenses related to the distribution of the 
company’s products were classified as selling expenses on the income statement. Partially during 2001 and fully between the years 1999 
and 2000, such expenses were recognized as part of cost of sales.

3.  In accordance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), starting from 2007 new presentation requirements apply for the 
income statement. For the purposes of the table, the years from 1999 through 2006 have been adjusted to comply with the new presenta-
tion requirements for 2007.

4.  Comprehensive financing result includes financial expense, financial income, realized and unrealized gains and losses on derivative 
financial instruments and marketable securities, foreign exchange results, and the net monetary position result.

5.  In October 2009, we completed the sale of our Australian operations for approximately A$2,020 million (approx. US$1,700 million). The 
consolidated income statements present the results of operations of the Australian assets, net of income tax, for the years 2007, 2008, and 
2009 in a single line item as “Discontinued Operations” (see note 3B to the 2010 Annual Report’s Financial Statements).

6.  During 1995 and until August 2000, a minority interest was created in the consolidated stockholders’ equity due to a financial transaction 
implying the ownership transfer of 24.77% of the common stock of CEMEX España. Such shares were treated as owned by a third party, 
although CEMEX retained dividends and voting rights over such shares during the life of the transaction.

7.  In 2000 a Dutch subsidiary of CEMEX issued preferred stock for US$1.5 billion in connection with the financing required for the CEMEX, Inc. 
(formerly Southdown) acquisition. After redemptions of preferred stock made during the life of this transaction, the outstanding amount 
of preferred stock included as minority interest as of December 31, 2000, 2001, and 2002, was US$1,500 million, US$900 million, and 
US$650 million, respectively. In October 2003, CEMEX early redeemed the total outstanding amount of the preferred stock.

8.  In 1998 a subsidiary of CEMEX in Spain issued US$250 million of capital securities. In April 2002, through a tender offer, US$184 million 
of capital securities were redeemed. The balance outstanding as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, was US$66 million and was liquidated 
during 2004. This transaction was recorded as minority interest during its validity.

9.  As of December 31, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 non-controlling interest includes US$1,250 million, US$3,065 million, US$3,020 
million, US$3,045 and US$1,320 million, respectively, of aggregate notional amount of perpetual debentures issued by consolidated entities. 
For accounting purposes, these debentures represent equity instruments (see note 16D to the 2010 Annual Report’s Financial Statements).

10.  The number of ADSs outstanding represents the total ADS equivalent units outstanding at the close of each year, stated in millions of ADSs, 
and includes the total number of ADS equivalents issued by CEMEX in underlying derivative transactions, and excludes the total number of 
ADS equivalents issued by CEMEX and owned by subsidiaries. Each ADS listed on the New York Stock Exchange represents 10 CPOs.

11.  Our shareholders approved stock splits in 2006, 2005, and 1999. As a result, each of our existing series A shares was surrendered in 
exchange for two new series A shares, each of our existing series B shares was surrendered in exchange for two new series B shares, and 
each of our existing CPOs was surrendered in exchange for two new CPOs, with each new CPO representing two new series A shares and 
one new series B. The proportional equity interest participation of the stockholders in CEMEX’s common stock did not change as a result of 
the exchange offer and the stock splits mentioned above. The number of our outstanding ADSs did not change as a result of the stock splits 
of the years 2005 and 1999. Instead, the ratio of CPOs to ADSs was modified so that each ADS represented 10 new CPOs; as a result of the 
stock split approved during 2006, one additional ADS was issued in exchange for each existing ADS, each ADS representing 10 new CPOs. 
Earnings per ADS and the number of ADSs outstanding for the years ended December 31, 1999 through 2005, have been adjusted to make 
the effect of the stock splits retroactive for the correspondent years. In the Financial Statements these figures are presented on a per-share 
basis (see note 18 to the 2010 Annual Report’s Financial Statements).

12.  For the periods ended December 31, 2000 through 2010, the earnings(loss)-per-ADS amounts were determined by considering the aver-
age number of ADS equivalent units outstanding during each year, i.e., 568.6, 598.3, 630.4, 665.8, 691.9, 718.4, 743.2, 838.1, 893.2 and 
999.2 million, respectively. It has to be noted that the MFRS B-14 “Earnings per Share”, indicates that occurred dividends in previous periods 
most restore the ordinary and preferent earning per share, due that, the effect is reflected in the 2008 and 2009 periods. (see note 18 to the 
2010 Annual Report’s Financial Statements).  

13.  Dividends declared at each year’s annual stockholders’ meeting for each period are reflected as dividends for the preceding year. We did not 
declare a dividend for the years 2008 and 2009, instead, at our 2009 and 2010 annual shareholders’ meeting, a recapitalization of retained 
earnings was approved. New CPOs issued pursuant to the recapitalization were allocated to shareholders on a pro-rata basis. As a result, 
shares equivalent to approximately 335 million CPOs and 384 million CPOs were issued and paid during 2009 and 2010, respectively. CPO 
holders received one new CPO for each 25 CPOs held, and ADS holders received one new ADS for each 25 ADSs held. There was no cash 
distribution and no entitlement to fractional shares.

14.  Please refer to page 97 for the definition of terms.

15.  Beginning in 2005, free cash flow is calculated after maintenance capital expenditures only.
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 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Operating results
Net sales  5,621  6,923  6,543  7,164  8,149  15,321  18,249  20,893  20,131  14,544  14,069 

Cost of sales(1)(2)    (3,141) (3,894) (3,656) (4,130) (4,586) (9,271) (11,649) (13,868) (13,735) (10,270) (10,127)

Gross profit   2,480  3,029  2,888  3,034  3,563  6,050  6,600  7,025  6,396  4,274  3,943 

Operating expenses(2)  (826) (1,376) (1,577) (1,579) (1,711) (3,563) (3,655) (4,130) (4,069) (3,109) (3,087)

Operating income   1,654  1,653  1,310  1,455  1,852  2,487  2,945  2,895  2,327  1,165  856 

Other expenses, net(3)  (270) (441) (425) (474) (514) (316) (49) (273) (1,909) (407) (527)

Financial expense (467) (412) (333) (381) (372) (526) (494) (807) (910) (994) (1,287)

Financial income   25  41  45  17  23  39  46  75  46  28  35 

Comprehensive financing result(4)  (174) 265  (329) (267) 133  239  (32) 93  (2,527) (1,111) (1,233)

Income before taxes 1,271  1,522  617  766  1,541  2,495  2,989  2,851  (2,031) (341) (946)

Discontinued operations(5) - - - - - - - 26  187  (314) - 

Non-controlling interest(6)(7)(8)(9)  78  153  37  30  21  55  110  77  4  18  2 

Controlling interest net income   999  1,178  520  629  1,307  2,112  2,378  2,391  203  104  (1,304)

 

Millions of ADSs outstanding(10)(11) 556  584  608  648  678  704  733  751  849  998  1,001 

Earnings per ADS(11)(12)  1.83  2.07  0.87  1.00  1.96  3.05  3.31  3.21  0.24  0.11  (1.30)

Dividends per ADS(10)(11)(13) 0.49  0.51  0.52  0.51  0.61  0.60  0.90  0.83  n.a n.a n.a

 

Balance sheet infOrmatiOn
Cash and temporary investments   308  428  361  291  342  601  1,579  743  939  1,077  676 

Net working capital(14)   813  933  699  576  525  1,268  887  1,383  1,191  946  732 

Property, plant, and equipment, net   9,034  8,940  8,963  9,265  9,613  15,542  17,196  22,895  19,671  19,776  18,726 

Total assets   15,759  16,230  15,934  16,016  17,381  26,763  29,972  49,662  45,387  44,483  41,675 

Short-term debt   2,962  1,028  1,393  1,329  1,044  1,191  1,252  3,311  6,934  565  456 

Long-term debt   2,709  4,345  4,374  4,537  4,887  8,287  6,290  16,542  11,849  15,565  15,953 

Total liabilities   8,111  8,078  8,983  9,250  9,161  16,409  15,193  30,967  28,119  24,806  24,385 

Non-controlling interest(6)(7)(8)(9) 2,398  1,975  1,207  532  389  529  1,920  3,753  3,390  3,338  1,580 

Total controlling stockholders’ equity 5,251  6,177  5,744  6,234  7,831  9,825  12,859  14,942  13,879  16,339  15,710 

Total stockholders’ equity   7,649  8,152  6,951  6,766  8,220  10,354  14,779  18,695  17,268  19,677  17,290 

Book value per ADS(10)(11) 9.45  10.58  8.63  8.78  11.55  13.94  17.55  19.90  16.34  16.37  15.70 

 

Other financial data
Operating margin 29.40% 23.90% 20.00% 20.30% 22.70% 16.20% 16.10% 13.85% 11.56% 8.01% 6.08%

Operating EBITDA margin(14) 36.10% 32.60% 29.30% 29.40% 31.10% 23.20% 22.70% 21.60% 20.29% 18.28% 16.45%

Operating EBITDA(14) 2,030  2,256  1,917  2,108  2,538  3,557  4,138  4,512  4,080  2,657  2,314 

Free cash flow(14)(15)  886  1,145  948  1,143  1,478  2,198  2,689  2,455  2,600  1,215  512 



16
—
15

BUsINEss stratEGY
We have built a portfolio of assets with sustainable, profitable, long-

term growth potential. Looking forward, we will:

Focus on our core business of cement, ready-mix concrete, and •	

aggregates

Provide our customers with the best value proposition•	

Regain our financial flexibility•	

Maximize our operating efficiency•	

Foster our sustainable development•	

focus on our core business of cement, ready-mix concrete, and 
aggregates
Our geographically diverse portfolio of cement, ready-mix concrete, 

and aggregates assets well position us for the expected recovery 

of key construction markets, providing us with the opportunity 

for significant organic growth over the medium and long term. By 

managing our cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates assets as 

one integrated business rather than as distinct businesses, we further 

improve their efficiency and profitability. 

BUsINEss
CEMEX is a global building materials company that provides prod-

ucts of consistently high quality and reliable service to customers 

and communities across the world. We advance the well-being of 

those we serve through our relentless focus on continuous improve-

ment and our efforts to promote a sustainable future.

Our company was founded in Mexico in 1906, and we have grown 

from a local player to one of the top global companies in our indus-

try, with close to 46,500 employees worldwide. Today we are strategi-

cally positioned in the Americas, Europe, Africa, the Middle East, and 

Asia. Our operations network produces, distributes, and markets ce-

ment, ready-mix concrete, aggregates, and related building materials 

to customers in over 50 countries, and we maintain trade relation-

ships in approximately 100 nations.
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WE haVE BUIlt a DIVErsE PortfolIo of assEts 

WIth sUstaINaBlE, ProfItaBlE, loNG-tErM 

GroWth PotENtIal.
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Provide our customers the best value proposition
We always work to provide superior building solutions in the mar-

kets we serve. To this end, we customize our products and services 

to meet our customers’ needs in all major construction segments, 

including the residential, commercial, industrial, and infrastructure 

sectors. 

We also see abundant opportunities to deepen our customer rela-

tionships by focusing on more vertically integrated building solu-

tions rather than separate products. By developing our integrated of-

ferings, we can provide customers with more reliable, higher-quality 

service and more consistent product quality.

regain our financial flexibility
While we continually look to produce disciplined profitable growth 

over the short, medium, and long term, our near-term priority is to 

and rightsizing initiatives, we are optimizing our business structure, 

processes, and practices to make CEMEX a leaner, more agile, and 

flexible company.

foster our sustainable development
At CEMEX, sustainability is incorporated in our strategy and our 

day-to-day operations. Our goal is to provide building solutions that 

meet the needs of a resource-constrained world, to minimize the 

ecological footprint of our operations, and to foster closer relation-

ships with all of our relevant stakeholders.

Among our priorities, we look to take the lead in sustainable 

construction through the development of products, services, and 

building solutions for a low-carbon economy. We also actively par-

ticipate in low-income housing programs and high-scale infrastruc-

ture projects.

regain our financial flexibility—which is the key to our future growth. 

To that end, we reduced our total debt, including our perpetual 

notes, by more than US$1.4 billion in 2010. Moreover, we have 

reduced our total debt plus perpetual notes by US$4.5 billion since 

mid 2009. As part of that, we have paid—ahead of schedule—more 

than one third of the US$15 billion that we refinanced under our 

Financing Agreement last year. Hence, we have substantially ad-

dressed our maturities under this agreement until December 2012. 

Maximize our operating efficiency
We constantly look for ways to reduce our costs and maximize 

our operating efficiency. In a rapidly changing, challenging global 

business environment, we continually adapt our global operations 

network to meet current market dynamics. We continue to rightsize 

our business, particularly in the U.S. and Spain, and seize every op-

portunity to drive down costs at both the operating and corporate 

levels. As a result of our efforts, we achieved our cost saving target 

of US$150 million this year, while providing superior products and 

services to our customers. In addition to our global cost-reduction 

Moreover, as part of our efforts to reduce our ecological footprint, we 

increase our use of alternative fuels and raw materials, improve our 

energy efficiency, and contract renewable power where feasible. Ad-

ditionally, we optimize air quality, waste management, and recycling; 

diminish disturbances from noise and dust; and implement biodiver-

sity action plans at our quarries.

Furthermore, we engage our key stakeholders. In particular, we place 

a high priority on the health and safety of our employees, our contrac-

tors and our communities. We are committed to helping develop our 

local communities, and we collaborate with governments, NGO’s, and 

opinion leaders to anticipate and address emerging social demands.

alIGNMENt WIth INVEstor INtErEsts
Employee stock-ownership plan
To better align our executives’ interests with those of our stockhold-

ers, we began offering executives a new stock-ownership program 

in 2005. The plan moves our company’s long-term incentives from 

stock options to programs based on restricted stock, which is more 

18
—
19



highly valued by our executives and stockholders. As of December 

31, 2010, our executives held 29,631,025 restricted CPOs, represent-

ing 0.3% of our total CPOs outstanding.

Corporate governance
We are committed to the highest standards of corporate governance. 

Our company’s board of directors is composed of qualified directors 

who provide appropriate oversight. The requirement of independence 

of the audit committee members satisfies applicable law, and one 

member of our audit committee meets the requirements of a “finan-

cial expert” as defined by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX).

We also have designed and deployed 1) a formal internal process 

to support the certification by our chief executive officer and our 

executive vice president of planning and finance of the information 

that we present in CEMEX’s periodic reports to the U.S. Securities and 

Exchange Commission; 2) a system to ensure that relevant informa-

tion reaches senior management in a timely manner; 3) a system for 

anonymously and confidentially communicating to the audit com-

mittee complaints and concerns regarding accounting and audit 

issues; 4) a process for anonymously and confidentially submitting 

complaints related to unethical conduct and misuse of assets; and 

5) a task force to follow legal requirements and best corporate-gov-

ernance practices and, when appropriate, propose further improve-

ments. Our code of ethics reflects the requirements of SOX.

We are in compliance with the applicable sections of SOX, including 

section 404. 

WE took IMPortaNt aND DECIsIVE stEPs to 

strENGthEN Not oNlY oUr BUsINEss MoDEl, BUt also 

oUr CoMMItMENt to sUstaINaBlE DEVEloPMENt.



CoNsolIDatED rEsUlts

net sales decreased 3% to US$14.1 billion compared with 2009. 

The decline in sales was the result of lower contributions mainly 

from our U.S. and European operations. 

cost of sales as a percentage of sales increased 1.4 percentage 

points to 72.0% from 70.6%. selling, general, and administra-
tive (sg&a) expenses as a percentage of sales increased 0.5 

percentage points, from 21.4% to 21.9%. The increase in expenses 

as a percentage of sales was mainly the result of lower economies 

of scale due to lower volumes. SG&A expenses were also negatively 

affected by higher transportation costs, which were partially offset 

by savings from our cost-reduction initiatives. 

Operating eBitda decreased 13% to US$2.3 billion. The decrease 

was due mainly to lower contributions from our U.S. and European 

operations. On a like-to-like basis for the ongoing operations, oper-

ating EBITDA declined 16%. Operating eBitda margin decreased 

1.9 percentage points, from 18.3% in 2009 to 16.4% in 2010. 

Other expenses, net, for the year were US$527 million as a result 

of impairment of assets, loss on sale of assets, severance payments, 

and restructuring costs.

We reported an exchange gain of US$73 million, resulting mainly 

from the appreciation of the peso against the U.S. dollar.

We reported a loss on financial instruments of US$75 million in 

2010 compared with a loss of US$156 million in 2009. This loss re-

sulted mainly from negative valuations of equity derivatives related 

to CEMEX and Axtel shares.

We reported a net loss from continuing operations of US$1.3 

billion versus a gain of US$436 million in 2009 due to lower operat-

ing income, higher financial expenses, and an increase in income 

tax expense versus a positive contribution during 2009, which 

reflected the effect of tax losses in many of our operating jurisdic-

tions due to reduced operating volumes combined with local cur-

rency exchange losses which were partially mitigated by a foreign 

exchange gain and a positive variation in Financial Instruments.

total debt plus perpetual notes decreased US$1.4 billion to 

US$17.7 billion at the end of 2010, reflecting prepayments under 

the Financing Agreement, as well as a reduction in debt resulting 

from the exchange of our perpetual debentures for new senior 

secured notes. 

salEs aND oPEratING EBItDa
millions of Us dollars

oUr aBIlItY to ProDUCE PosItIVE frEE Cash floW 

UNDErsCorEs thE strENGth of oUr GEoGraPhICallY 

DIVErsE PortfolIo of assEts.
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GloBal rEVIEW of oPEratIoNs

Mexico
In 2010, our Mexican operations’ net sales increased 10% year 

over year to US$3.4 billion, and operating EBITDA declined 1% to 

US$1.2 billion.

Our domestic gray cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates 

volumes decreased 4%, 4%, and 1%, respectively, for the year. De-

mand from the formal residential construction sector, along with the 

self-construction sector, declined modestly for the year. Investment 

in cement-intensive infrastructure projects contracted in 2010, while 

demand from the industrial-and-commercial sector decreased dur-

ing the second half of the year. However, all construction sectors are 

expected to grow during 2011.

United states
Our U.S. operations’ net sales decreased 12% year over year to US$2.5 

billion in 2010. Operating EBITDA declined to US$(45) million. 

Our U.S. operations’ domestic gray cement volumes remained flat, 

while our ready-mix concrete and aggregates volumes decreased 

7% and 5%, respectively, for 2010. On a like-to-like basis, adjusting 

for the divestiture of non-core assets, aggregates volumes de-

clined 1% for the year. For much of the year, the overall business 

environment remained challenging as a result of the weaker-

than-expected pace of economic recovery, slower job creation, 

reduced consumer confidence, and weaker infrastructure spend-

ing. Also, industrial-and-commercial construction sector activity 

remained depressed. Nevertheless, with the continued stabiliza-

tion of construction activity in the latter part of the year—as 

evidenced by our better-than-expected year-over-year volume 

growth for the fourth quarter—we are cautiously optimistic re-

garding the outlook for 2011. 

In the face of a very 
challenging global 
business environment, 
we keep adapting our 
operations to the current 
market conditions.



  CEMENT PRODUCTION  CEMENT  CEMENT      LAND  
 CAPACITY MILLION  PLANTS  PLANTS  READY-MIX  AGGREGATES  DISTRIBUTION  MARINE
 METRIC TONS/YEAR  CONTROLLED  MINORITY PART.  PLANTS QUARRIES CENTERS TERMINALS

mexico 29.3 15 3 325 16 85 7

usa1 17.2 13 5 513 83 42 4

europe 2 25.7 19 1 979 247 65 43

south / central america and caribbean 3 12.8 11 3 90 17 16 11

africa & middle east 4 5.4 1 0 71 9 7 1

asia 5 5.7 3 0 19 4 8 5

total 96.1 62 12 1997 376 223 71

as of December 31, 2010

gLoBAL operations

22
—
23

toDaY WE arE stratEGICallY PosItIoNED IN 

thE aMErICas, EUroPE, afrICa, thE MIDDlE 

East, aND asIa.



salEs DIstrIBUtIoN BY ProDUCt
percentage

oPEratING EBItDa DIstrIBUtIoN BY 
ProDUCt
percentage

 SALES    OPERATING INCOME  OPERATING EBITDA  ASSETS 6

mexico  3,435   1,004   1,153   5,088 

united states 1  2,491   (655)  (45)  17,775 

europe 2  4,793   114   434   10,445 

south/ central america & caribbean 3  1,444   370   460   2,463 

africa & middle east 4  1,035   323   369   1,183 

asia 5  515   101   123   810 

others and intercompany eliminations  357   (402)  (181)  3,910 

total  14,069   856   2,314   41,675 

millions of US dollars (as of December 31, 2010)

1 Includes operations from joint venture with Ready Mix USA 
2 Includes operations in Austria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, Ireland, Latvia, Lithuania, Norway, Poland, Spain, Sweden and 

the United Kingdom 
3 Includes operations in Argentina, Colombia, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Nicaragua, Panama, Puerto Rico, as well as  other operations in 

the Caribbean region 
4 Includes operations in Egypt, Israel, and the United Arab Emirates 
5 Includes operations in Bangladesh, China, Malaysia, the Philippines, Taiwan, and Thailand 
6 Includes assets in associated participation       

l  48  CEMENT
l  34  READY-MIX CONCRETE
l 14  AGGREGATES
l 3  OTHERS

l  87  CEMENT
l  1  READY-MIX CONCRETE
l 8  AGGREGATES
l 3  OTHERS



In 2010, we continued to align our U.S. capacity with current market 

demand. We took actions to streamline our operations and im-

prove our productivity, selectively shutting down certain ready-mix 

concrete plants and aggregates quarries, as well as a reducing our 

ready-mix fleet. We also made significant corresponding workforce 

reductions. All of these were painful, but necessary decisions given 

the adverse business conditions.  

Europe
Our European operations’ net sales decreased 11% year over year 

to US$4.8 billion, and operating EBITDA declined 27% to US$434 

million for 2010. As a whole, our European operations’ domestic gray 

cement, ready-mix concrete, and aggregates volumes decreased 8%, 

7%, and 8%, respectively, for the year.

Our UK operations’ domestic gray cement, ready-mix concrete, and ag-

gregates volumes increased 1%, decreased 3%, and decreased 2%, respec-

tively. The infrastructure and housing sectors drove demand for building 

materials during the year. Slower economic growth and fragile consumer 

confidence negatively affected the industrial-and-commercial sector.

In France, our operations’ ready-mix concrete and aggregates vol-

umes increased 1% and decreased 4%, respectively, for the year.  The 

residential sector was the main driver of demand in 2010, supported 

by tax incentives. Construction spending from the infrastructure 

sector remained stagnant, given limited financial resources. Also, the 

performance of the industrial-and-commercial sector negatively af-

fected demand throughout the year. 

In Germany, our domestic gray cement volumes decreased 2% for 

the year. The residential construction sector performed positively, 

Our Spanish operations’ domestic gray cement and ready-mix con-

crete volumes decreased 22% and 20%, respectively, for the year. 

Volumes were negatively affected by significantly weaker demand 

across all of our sectors and regions. High inventory levels and 

limited financing suppressed the performance of the residential 

sector. Infrastructure sector activity remained stagnant as a result of 

limited economic resources, as well as cuts in the national budget. 

Moreover, demand from the industrial-and-commercial sector 

remained depressed due to a lack of confidence and poor macro-

economic conditions.

In 2010, we continued to implement our rightsizing initiatives, adjust-

ing our Spanish operations to the current market environment. We 

selectively reduced both the size of our ready-mix concrete fleet and 

the number of our ready-mix concrete facilities in order to match our 

capacity with local market demand. We also made significant corre-

sponding workforce reductions. All of these moves were painful, but 

necessary to adapt our business to current market activity.

supported by low mortgage rates, shrinking unemployment, and 

higher wages. Government expenditures on new infrastructure proj-

ects moderated after increased activity at the beginning of the year, 

while building permits from the industrial-and-commercial construc-

tion sector stabilized during the fourth quarter.

Domestic gray cement volumes for our operations in Poland 

decreased 1% for the year. The infrastructure sector drove 

construction activity for the year, supported by the development of 

new infrastructure projects. The residential sector showed a gradual 

recovery, given increased mortgage financing for the year.

south/Central america and Caribbean
Our net sales in the region remained flat at US$1.4 billion, and op-

erating EBITDA declined 10% to US$460 million in 2010. As a whole, 

our regional operations’ domestic gray cement, ready-mix concrete, 

and aggregates volumes decreased 3%, decreased 2%, and increased 

8%, respectively, for the year. 

WE arE alWaYs lookING for WaYs to IMProVE 

oUr ProDUCtIVItY aND oPEratING EffICIENCY.
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Our Colombian operations’ domestic gray cement volumes increased 

5% for 2010. The residential sector was the main driver of demand for 

the year, supported by low- and middle-income housing develop-

ment. Notwithstanding the fourth quarter’s adverse weather condi-

tions, infrastructure spending, resulting from Colombia’s countercy-

clical public policy, positively affected construction. Looking ahead, 

the residential and infrastructure sectors are expected to positively 

affect the country’s cement consumption during 2011.

africa and the Middle East
Although net sales from our operations in Africa and the Middle 

East declined 1% year over year to US$1.0 billion, operating EBITDA 

increased 11% to US$369 million in 2010. As a whole, our regional 

operations’ domestic gray cement, ready-mix concrete, and ag-

gregates volumes decreased 1%, decreased 4%, and increased 7%, 

respectively, for the year.

In Egypt, our operations’ domestic gray cement volumes grew 2% in 

2010. The informal residential construction sector was the main driver 

of cement demand during the year. The performance of the infrastruc-

ture sector was negatively affected by low government spending. 

asia
Our regional operations’ net sales increased 9% year over year to 

US$515 million, while our operating EBITDA grew 7% to US$123 mil-

lion in 2010. As a whole, our regional domestic gray cement, ready-

mix concrete, and aggregates volumes increased 9%, decreased 2%, 

and increased 3%, respectively, for the year.

In the Philippines, our operations’ domestic gray cement volumes 

increased 8% in 2010. The main driver of demand for the year was 

the residential construction sector, supported by growth in remit-

tances from overseas workers. Infrastructure spending moderated 

after mid-year elections with projects in this sector expected to 

resume during 2011. 

trading
Our global trading network is one of the largest in the industry. Our 

trading operations help us to optimize our worldwide production 

capacity, deliver excess cement to where it is most needed, and 

explore new markets without the necessity of making immediate 

capital investments. Our worldwide network of strategically located 

marine terminals and broad third-party customer base also provide 

us with the added flexibility to fully place contracted supplies in an 

optimal way.

In 2010, we had trading relationships in 101 countries. Our trad-

ing volume totaled almost 8.7 million metric tons of cementitious 

materials—including approximately 7.9 million metric tons of ce-

ment and clinker. We also maintained a sizeable trading position of 

0.8 million metric tons of granulated blast furnace slag, a non-clinker 

cementitious material.

In 2010, our trading network continued to rapidly redirect excess 

capacity from our operations affected by reduced local demand. It 

also enabled us to promptly adjust our product purchases from third 

parties in light of declining cement and clinker import requirements.

Freight rates, which have been extremely volatile in recent years, 

account for a large share of our total import supply cost. However, 

we have obtained significant savings by timely contracting maritime 

transportation and by using our own and chartered fleets—which 

transported approximately 18% of our cement and clinker import 

volume in 2010.

In addition, we provide freight service to third parties when we have 

spare fleet capacity. This not only provides us with valuable shipping 

market information, but also generates additional profit for our 

operations.
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DIVEstItUrEs, CaPItal MarkEt INItIatIVEs, aND othEr 
rElEVaNt EVENts 

CEMEX prices Us$500 million reopening of 9.50% notes due 2016 
On January 13, 2010, CEMEX announced the pricing of a US$500 

million reopening of its 9.50% notes due 2016, which were originally 

issued on December 14, 2009, in the amount of US$1.25 billion.  

The additional US$500 million of notes were issued at a price of 

US$105.25 plus accrued interest from December 14, 2009, and have 

a yield to maturity of 8.477%.

Of the net proceeds from the offering, US$411 million were used to 

prepay principal outstanding under CEMEX’s Financing Agreement 

completed on August 14, 2009, as amended.  The remaining proceeds 

were used for general corporate purposes, including debt reduction.  

The notes share in the collateral pledged to the lenders under the Fi-

nancing Agreement and are guaranteed by CEMEX and the subsidiar-

ies which have provided guarantees under the Financing Agreement. 

 CEMEX receives Us$100 million in cash proceeds from joint 
venture asset sale in the U.s. 

On February 22, 2010, CEMEX announced that its 49.9% owned Ready 

Mix USA LLC joint venture completed the sale of 12 active quarries 

and certain other assets to SPO Partners & Co. for US$420 million.  The 

active quarries, which consisted of 2 granite quarries in Georgia, 9 lime-

stone quarries in Tennessee, and 1 limestone quarry in Virginia, were 

operated by Ready Mix USA LLC and were deemed non-strategic by 

CEMEX and Ready Mix USA LLC, its joint venture partner.  

The proceeds from the sale were partly used to reduce debt held by 

Ready Mix USA LLC, and to effect a cash distribution of approximate-

ly US$100 million to each joint venture partner, including CEMEX.  

CEMEX, which does not consolidate the results of Ready Mix USA 

LLC, expects to use its cash proceeds from this divestment to reduce 

outstanding debt and to enhance its liquidity position.

our global trading 
operations help us to 
optimize our worldwide 
production capacity and 
deliver excess cement 
where it is needed most.



CEMEX issues Convertible subordinated Notes Due 2015
On March 30, 2010, CEMEX closed the offering of U.S.$715 million 

of  4.875% optional convertible subordinated notes, including the 

initial purchasers’ exercise in full of their over-allotment option, 

in transactions exempt from registration pursuant to Rule 144A 

under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended. Interest on 

these optional convertible subordinated notes is payable semi-

annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of each year, 

commencing on September 15, 2010. The optional convertible 

subordinated notes are convertible by holders into ADSs, subject to 

certain conditions. The optional convertible subordinated notes are 

subordinated in right of payment to all of our existing and future 

senior indebtedness, and liabilities preferred by statute, and rank 

at least equal in right of payment to all of our existing and future 

unsecured subordinated indebtedness.

which will not be controlled by us, intends to invest in the cement 

industry and related assets. Blue Rock identified a potential invest-

ment in Peru, which consists of the construction of a new cement 

plant with an initial production capacity of approximately one mil-

lion metric tons per year. According to the proposed project, it is 

expected that the plant would be completed in 2013, with a total 

investment of approximately U.S.$230 million. Although we do 

not anticipate being in a control position to affect the decisions 

of Blue Rock’s management, given our investment and industry 

expertise, Blue Rock’s management could decide to enter into a 

contract with us, providing for our assistance in the development, 

building and operation of the plant. Depending on the amount 

raised from third party investors and the availability of financing, 

Blue Rock’s management may also decide to invest in other assets 

in the cement industry. 

CEMEX issues senior secured notes in exchange  
for perpetual securities
On May 12, 2010, CEMEX issued U.S.$1,067,665,000 aggregate principal 

amount of its 9.25% senior secured notes due 2020 and €115,346,000 

aggregate principal amount of its 8.875% senior secured notes due 2017 

in exchange for dollar-denominated 6.196% fixed-to-floating rate callable 

perpetual debentures, dollar-denominated 6.640% fixed-to-floating rate 

callable perpetual debentures, dollar-denominated 6.722% fixed-to-float-

ing rate callable perpetual debentures and euro-denominated 6.277% 

fixed-to-floating rate callable perpetual debentures, pursuant to a private 

placement exchange offer and consent solicitation directed to the holders 

of these perpetual debentures, in transactions exempt from registration 

pursuant to Rule 144A and Regulation S under the Securities Act of 1933, 

as amended. The payment of principal, interest and premium, if any, on 

the 9.25% senior secured notes due 2020 and 8.875% senior secured notes 

due 2017 are secured by a first-priority security interest over the collateral 

delivered under the Financing Agreement (and other senior secured in-

debtedness having the benefit of such collateral) and all proceeds of such 

collateral, and are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of CEMEX.

CEMEX used a portion of the net proceeds from the offering of these 

optional convertible subordinated notes to fund the purchase of a 

capped call transaction, to repay certain indebtedness, including 

indebtedness in our Financing Agreement, and temporarily reserve 

proceeds to be applied to the repayment of remaining series of 

Certificados Bursátiles maturing in March 2011. The capped call 

transaction covers, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments, 

approximately 52.58 million ADSs. The capped call transaction had 

a cap price 80% higher than the closing price of our ADSs on March 

24, 2010 and will be cash-settled. Because the capped call transac-

tion is cash-settled, it does not provide an offset to any ADSs we 

may deliver to holders upon conversion of the optional convertible 

subordinated notes. 

CEMEX announces participation in a cement plant  
project in Peru 

On April 8, 2010, CEMEX announced our plans to contribute, as an 

initial investment, up to U.S.$100 million for a non-controlling in-

terest in a new investment vehicle known as Blue Rock. Blue Rock, 

CUrrENCY DENoMINatIoN of DEBt
percentage as of fourth quarter 2010

*During 2008 and 2009, a 
recapitalization of retained 
earnings was approved. For 
more information, read note 
13 on page 15.
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CEMEX announces subscription issue price of new CPos 
On May 27, 2010, CEMEX announced that the subscription issue 

price of the new Ordinary Participation Certificates (“CPOs”) to be 

delivered to holders of CEMEX common ordinary shares series “A” and 

“B” and CPOs as a result of the capital increase approved by CEMEX’s 

shareholders at the General Ordinary Shareholders Meeting held on 

April 29, 2010, was of MX$14.2460 per CEMEX CPO.  This amount was 

the weighted average price of all CEMEX CPO transactions on the 

Mexican Stock Exchange (Bolsa Mexicana de Valores, S.A.B. de C.V.) as 

of May 27, 2010.  The shares were subscribed at a price of MX$4.7487 

per share, of which MX$0.00277661 went to our capital stock and 

the remaining amount as premium for the subscription of capital, 

and were fully paid by a capitalization of retained earnings.  CEMEX 

shareholders were not required to pay any consideration in connec-

tion with the issuance of the shares.     

Current CEMEX shareholders received 1 new CEMEX CPO per 25 CE-

MEX CPOs held, or, if applicable, 3 new shares per 75 shares currently 

outstanding, and holders of CEMEX American Depositary Shares 

(“ADS”) received 1 newly issued ADS per 25 ADSs held.  There was no 

cash distribution under any circumstance, not even for fractions from 

which no new shares could be issued.  

The delivery of the new CPOs or shares, as applicable, was made 

starting on June 7, 2010.  Only holders of record of CEMEX CPOs or 

ADSs as of June 1, 2010, received new shares as a result of the capital 

stock increase.  The newly issued ADSs were distributed on or about 

June 8, 2010.  Each ADS represents 10 CPOs.  

As a result of all of the above, the conversion rate of CEMEX’s 4.875% 

convertible subordinated notes due 2015 and CEMEX’s 10% manda-

tory convertible obligations due 2019 was adjusted accordingly.

CEMEX tenders for Certificados Bursátiles 
On June 2, 2010, CEMEX announced the early payment of approxi-

mately MX$2.6 billion (approximately U.S.$202 million) in Certificados 

Bursátiles, following a public cash tender offer in Mexico to redeem 

outstanding Certificados Bursátiles for up to approximately MX$6.1 

billion (approximately U.S.$467 million). The series of Certificados 

Bursátiles included in the offer represent all long term Certificados 

Bursátiles issued by CEMEX with maturities through March 10, 2011. 

The offer period was from May 6, 2010 to June 2, 2010. CEMEX pur-

chased the Certificados Bursátiles with funds obtained from the issu-

ance of the optional convertible subordinated notes in March 2010. 

CEMEX exercises call option for Certificados Bursátiles  

On June 17, 2010, CEMEX announced the exercise of CEMEX’s call 

option with respect to certain Certificados Bursátiles otherwise ma-

turing in March 2011 for an aggregate principal amount of approxi-

mately MX$1.4 billion (U.S.$110 million). CEMEX used proceeds 

from the issuance of the optional convertible subordinated notes 

in March 2010 to pay for the redeemed Certificados Bursátiles on 

June 25, 2010. 

CEMEX completes sale of non-core aggregates and concrete 
block assets in kentucky 
On August 27, 2010, CEMEX announced that it completed the previ-

ously announced sale of seven aggregates quarries, three resale 

aggregates distribution centers, and one concrete block manufactur-

ing facility in Kentucky to Bluegrass Materials Company, LLC.  These 

assets were acquired by CEMEX in 2007 as part of the Rinker Group 

acquisition.  The facilities and properties were deemed non-core 

assets for CEMEX’s integrated cement, concrete, aggregates, and 

building materials operations throughout the United States.

Proceeds from the sale were used by CEMEX to reduce its outstand-

ing debt and/or enhance its liquidity position.   

CEMEX to acquire interests of its joint-venture partner  
ready Mix Usa 
On October 8, 2010, CEMEX announced that, pursuant to the exer-

cise of a put option by Ready Mix USA, CEMEX will acquire our joint 

venture partner’s interests in the two joint ventures between CEMEX 

and Ready Mix USA which have cement, aggregates, ready-mix and 

block assets located in the southeast region of the U.S. The purchase 

price will be determined jointly by CEMEX and Ready Mix USA based 

on a pre-determined methodology. We currently estimate the pur-

chase price for our partner’s interests will be approximately U.S.$360 

million. CEMEX, at closing, which is expected to take place on or 

prior to September 30, 2011, will also consolidate the net debt held 

by one of the joint ventures at such date. 

The two joint ventures, which were created in 2005, are comprised of 

the following assets: 

The joint venture operated by CEMEX owns the Demopolis •	

cement plant in Alabama with an annual installed capacity of 

0.9 million tons, the Clinchfield cement plant in Georgia with 

an annual installed capacity of 0.8 million tons, and 12 cement 

terminals. 

The joint venture operated by Ready Mix USA owns 10 sand •	

and gravel pits, 149 concrete plants and 20 block plants located 

throughout the states of Arkansas, Mississippi, Tennessee, Ala-

bama, Georgia, and the Florida Panhandle. Ready Mix USA will 

continue to manage this joint venture until the closing of the 

transaction. 

Events related to CEMEX’s financing agreement 
 On October 25, 2010, CEMEX’s required creditors under our Financ-

ing Agreement consented to amendments to the Financing Agree-

ment and other related agreements that provide CEMEX, subject to 



meeting certain conditions, with increased flexibility in relation to 

CEMEX’s activities going forward and that CEMEX believes will assist 

CEMEX in refinancing existing financial indebtedness and reducing 

leverage. Also, on December 22, 2010, CEMEX’s required creditors 

under the Financing Agreement consented to allow CEMEX to al-

locate proceeds from certain transactions to a Certificados Bursátiles 

reserve to be used to repay, prepay or early redeem Certificados 

Bursátiles maturing on January 26, 2012.

CEMEX issues Us$1,000 million in senior secured notes 
On January 11, 2011, CEMEX issued U.S.$1,000 million aggregate 

principal amount of 9.00% dollar-denominated notes. These notes will 

mature in 2018 and will pay a coupon of 9.00% annually.  The notes are 

callable commencing on their 4th anniversary.  The notes share in the 

collateral pledged to the lenders under the Financing Agreement and 

other senior secured indebtedness having the benefit of such collat-

eral, and will be guaranteed by certain CEMEX subsidiaries. The notes 

and the guarantees thereof are not and will not be registered under 

the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended , or any state securities 

laws, and they may not be offered or sold in the United States absent 

registration or an applicable exemption from the registration require-

ments of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. 

CEMEX intends to use the proceeds from the offering of these notes 

for general corporate purposes, which may include the repayment of 

indebtedness, including indebtedness under the Financing Agree-

ment, all in accordance with the Financing Agreement, as amended.

Derivative instruments
CEMEX uses derivative financial instruments such as interest-rate 

and currency swaps, currency and equity-forward contracts, options, 

and futures, among others, to change the risk profile associated with 

changes in interest rates and foreign exchange rates of debt agree-

ments; reduce financing costs; and hedge highly probable fore-

casted transactions, net assets in foreign subsidiaries, and CEMEX’s 

stock-option plans.

Under Mexican FRS (Financial Reporting Standards), we recognize 

all derivative financial instruments on the balance sheet as assets or 

liabilities, at their estimated fair market value, with changes in such 

fair market values recorded in the income statement, except when 

transactions are entered into for cash-flow hedging purposes. In 

which case, changes in the fair market value of the related derivative 

instruments are recognized temporarily in equity and subsequently 

reclassified into earnings as the inverse effects of the underlying 

hedged items flow through the income statement. As required in the 

context of our renegotiation with our major lenders prior to entering 

into the Financing Agreement, during the first half of 2009, we closed 

a significant portion of our derivative instruments. Therefore, as of 

December 31, 2010, our remaining derivative financial instruments 

consisted of equity forward contracts, a forward instrument over the 

Total Return Index (TRI) of the Mexican Stock Exchange and an interest 

rate derivative related to energy projects. As of December 31, 2010, 

in connection with the fair market value recognition of its derivatives 

portfolio, CEMEX had recognized increases in assets and liabilities, 

which resulted in a net liability of US$20 million, which according to 

our financial agreements, is presented net of the assets associated with 

the derivative instruments. The notional amounts of derivative instru-

ments substantially match the amounts of underlying assets, liabilities, 

or equity transactions into which the derivatives are being entered.

The following table shows the notional amount for each type of 

derivative instrument and the aggregate fair market value for all of 

CEMEX’s derivative instruments as of December 31, 2010.

Notional amounts (1) 2010
Equity (2) 1,644

Estimated aggregate fair market value (1) (3) (55)

Millions of US dollars as of December 31, 2010

(1) Excludes an interest-rate swap related to our long-term energy contracts.  
As of December 31, 2010, the notional amount of these derivatives was 
US$196 million, with a positive fair market value of approximately US$35 
million.

(2)  Includes a notional amount of US$360 million in connection with a 
guarantee given by CEMEX under a financial transaction of its employees’ 
pension fund trust.  As of December 31, 2010, the fair value of such fi-
nancial guarantee represents a liability of US$95 million net of a collateral 
deposit of US$55 million.

(3)  Net of cash collateral deposited under open positions.  Cash collateral 
was US$160 million as of December 31, 2010.
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The Board of Directors and Stockholders 

CEMEX, S.A.B. de C. V.:

We have audited the accompanying parent company-only and consolidated balance sheets of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. 

and CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related parent 

company-only and consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended  

December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Mexico. Those standards require 

that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of 

material misstatements and are prepared in accordance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards. An audit includes 

examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also 

includes assessing the reporting standards used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 

overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the parent company-only and consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, 

in all material respects, the financial position of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and subsidiaries as of  

December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the results of their operations, changes in their stockholders’ equity and cash flows for 

the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, in conformity with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards.

KPMG CárDEnAS DoSAl, S.C.

/s/  Celin Zorrilla Rizo

Monterrey, N.L., México 

January 27, 2011.
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 DECEMBEr 31, 
 noTE 2010 2009

ASSETS

CUrrEnT ASSETS

Cash and investments 4 $ 8,354 14,104

Trade receivables less allowance for doubtful accounts 5  12,193 13,383

Other accounts receivable 6  16,124 9,340

Inventories, net 7  15,544 17,191

Other current assets 8  2,352 2,752

   Total current assets   54,567 56,770

non-CUrrEnT ASSETS

Investments in associates 9A  8,261 10,895

Other investments and non-current accounts receivable 9B  14,914  21,249

Property, machinery and equipment, net  10  231,458 258,863

Goodwill, intangible assets and deferred charges, net 11  205,897 234,509

   Total non-current assets   460,530 525,516

   ToTAl ASSETS  $ 515,097 582,286

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CUrrEnT lIABIlITIES

Short-term debt including current maturities of long-term debt 12A $ 5,637 7,393

Other financial obligations 12A  115 375

Trade payables   18,686 18,194

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses 13  30,681 23,251

   Total current liabilities   55,119 49,213

non-CUrrEnT lIABIlITIES 

Long-term debt 12A  197,181 203,751

Other financial obligations 12A  1,887 1,715

Employee benefits 14  7,583 7,458

Deferred income taxes 15B  17,147 32,642

Other non-current liabilities 13  22,480 29,937

   Total non-current liabilities   246,278 275,503

   ToTAl lIABIlITIES   301,397 324,716

SToCKHolDErS’ EQUITY 

Controlling interest:

 Common stock and additional paid-in capital 16A  108,722 102,924

 Other equity reserves 16B  22,180 28,484

 Retained earnings 16C  79,790 81,056

 Net (loss) income   (16,516) 1,409

   Total controlling interest   194,176 213,873

 Non-controlling interest and perpetual debentures 16D  19,524 43,697

   ToTAl SToCKHolDErS’ EQUITY   213,700 257,570

   ToTAl lIABIlITIES AnD SToCKHolDErS’ EQUITY  $ 515,097 582,286

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.

consolidated BAlANcE 
ShEETS

CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Millions of Mexican pesos)
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 YEArS EnDED DECEMBEr 31,
 noTE 2010 2009 2008

Net sales  2P $ 178,260 197,801 225,665
Cost of sales 2Q  (128,307) (139,672) (153,965)

 Gross profit   49,953 58,129 71,700

Administrative and selling expenses   (25,871) (28,611) (32,262)
Distribution expenses   (13,239) (13,678) (13,350)
 Total operating expenses 2Q  (39,110) (42,289) (45,612)

 operating income   10,843 15,840 26,088

Other expenses, net 2S  (6,672) (5,529) (21,403)

 operating income after other expenses, net   4,171 10,311 4,685

Comprehensive financing result:
 Financial expense 12  (16,302) (13,513)  (10,199)
 Financial income   439 385 513
 Results from financial instruments 12  (956) (2,127) (15,172)
 Foreign exchange results   926 (266) (3,886)
 Monetary position result 2R  266 415 418
  Comprehensive financing result   (15,627) (15,106) (28,326)

Equity in income of associates   (524) 154 869

 loss before income tax   (11,980) (4,641) (22,772)

Income tax 15  (4,509) 10,566 22,998

 Income (loss) before discontinued operations   (16,489) 5,925 226

Discontinued operations 3B  – (4,276) 2,097

 Consolidated net income (loss)   (16,489) 1,649 2,323
 Non-controlling interest net income   27 240 45
 ConTrollInG InTErEST nET InCoME (loSS)  $ (16,516) 1,409 2,278

BASIC EArnInGS (loSS) PEr SHArE oF ConTInUInG oPErATIonS 18 $ (0.55) 0.21 0.01
Basic earnings (loss) per share of discontinued operations 18 $ – (0.16) 0.08

DIlUTED EArnInGS (loSS) PEr SHArE oF ConTInUInG oPErATIonS 18 $ – 0.21 0.01
Diluted earnings (loss) per share of discontinued operations 18 $ – (0.16) 0.08

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.

consolidated STATEMENTS  
of 0pERATIoNS

CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Millions of Mexican pesos, except for  

earnings (loss) per share)



 YEArS EnDED DECEMBEr 31,
 noTES 2010 2009 2008

oPErATInG ACTIVITIES

Consolidated net income (loss)  $ (16,489) 1,649 2,323
Discontinued operations   – (4,276) 2,097
net income (loss) from continuing operations   (16,489) 5,925 226
Non-cash items:
 Depreciation and amortization of assets 10 and 11  18,474 20,313 19,699
 Impairment losses 2S  1,904 889 21,125
 Equity in income (loss) of associates 9A  524 (154) (869)
 Other expenses (income), net   1,499 9,015 (4,728)
 Comprehensive financing result   15,627 15,106 28,326
 Income taxes 15  4,509 (10,566) (22,998)
 Changes in working capital, excluding income taxes   100 (2,599) 1,299
net cash flows provided by continuing operations before income taxes   26,148 37,929 42,080
Income taxes paid in cash   (4,310) (4,201) (3,625)
 net cash flows provided by continuing operations   21,838 33,728 38,455
 net cash flows provided by discontinued operations   – 1,023 2,817
 net cash flows provided by operating activities   21,838 34,751 41,272

InVESTInG ACTIVITIES

Property, machinery and equipment, net 10  (4,726) (6,655) (20,511)
Disposal of subsidiaries and associates, net 9 and 11  1,172 21,115 10,845
Intangible assets and other deferred charges 11  117 (8,440) (1,975)
Long term assets and others, net   1,575 186 (1,622)
 net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities of  
  continuing operations   (1,862) 6,206 (13,263)
 net cash flows used in investing activities of discontinued 
  operations   – (491) (1,367)
 net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities   (1,862) 5,715 (14,630)

FInAnCInG ACTIVITIES

Issuance of common stock 16A  5 23,953 –
Financial expense paid in cash including coupons  
 on perpetual debentures  16D  (14,968) (14,607) (11,784)
Derivative instruments   69 (8,513) (9,909)
Dividends paid 16A  – – (215)
Repayment of debt, net 12A  (9,615) (35,812) (3,611)
Non-current liabilities, net   122 (2,795) 1,471
 net cash flows used in financing activities of continuing operations   (24,387) (37,774) (24,048)
 net cash flows provided by financing activities  
  of discontinued operations   – 628 359
 net cash flows used in financing activities   (24,387) (37,146) (23,689)
 Increase (decrease) in cash and investments of continuing operations   (4,411) 2,160 1,144
 Increase in cash and investments of discontinued operations   – 1,160 1,809
 Cash conversion effect, net   (1,339) (2,116) 1,277
 Cash and investments at beginning of year   14,104 12,900 8,670
 CASH AnD InVESTMEnTS AT EnD oF YEAr 4 $ 8,354 14,104 12,900

Changes in working capital, excluding income taxes:
 Trade receivables, net  $ 477 3,530 3,897
 Other accounts receivable and other assets   (2,666) 510 825
 Inventories   396 3,911 (630)
 Trade payables   1,599 (2,422) (2,931)
 Other accounts payable and accrued expenses   294 (8,128) 138
  Changes in working capital, excluding income taxes  $ 100 (2,599) 1,299

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated financial statements.

consolidated STATEMENTS  
of cASh FlowS

CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(Millions of Mexican pesos)
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 DECEMBEr 31, 
 noTE 24 2010 2009

ASSETS

CUrrEnT ASSETS

Cash and investments  $ 195 –

Other accounts receivable C  575 2,183

Accounts receivable from related parties I  4,378 2,677

   Total current assets   5,148 4,860

non-CUrrEnT ASSETS

Investment in subsidiaries and associates D  264,551 281,003

Other investments and non-current accounts receivable   1,780 562

Long-term accounts receivable from related parties I  39,139 13,943

Land and buildings, net E  1,977 1,983

Goodwill and deferred charges, net  F  8,121 14,311

   Total non-current assets   315,568 311,802

   ToTAl ASSETS  $ 320,716 316,662

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

CUrrEnT lIABIlITIES

Short-term debt including current maturities of long-term debt H $ 4,681 3,986

Other financial obligations H and N2  113 375

Other accounts payable and accrued expenses G and J  2,792 1,275

Accounts payable to related parties I  3,530 547

   Total current liabilities   11,116 6,183

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Long-term debt H  47,923 53,005

Other financial obligations H and N2  1,881 1,715

Long-term accounts payable to related parties I  54,858 31,776

Other liabilities J  10,762 10,110

   Total non-current liabilities   115,424 96,606

   ToTAl lIABIlITIES   126,540 102,789

SToCKHolDErS’ EQUITY  K

 Common stock and additional paid-in capital   108,722 102,924

 Other equity reserves   22,180 28,484

 Retained earnings   79,790 81,056

 Net income (loss)   (16,516) 1,409

   ToTAl SToCKHolDErS’ EQUITY   194,176 213,873

   ToTAl lIABIlITIES AnD SToCKHolDErS’ EQUITY  $ 320,716 316,662

The accompanying notes are part of these Parent Company-only financial statements.

BAlANcE 
sheets

CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. (PARENT COMPANY-ONLY) 
(Millions of Mexican pesos)



 YEArS EnDED DECEMBEr 31,
 noTE 24 2010 2009 2008

Equity in income (loss) of subsidiaries and associates D $ (7,362) 11,621 4,091
Rental income I  370 272 271
License fees I  814 1,002 1,197
 Total revenues and interest in subsidiaries and associates   (6,178) 12,895 5,559

Administrative expenses   (74) (37) (45)

 operating income (loss)   (6,252) 12,858 5,514

Other expenses, net   (1,154) (1,285) (825)

 operating income (loss) after other expenses, net   (7,406) 11,573 4,689

Comprehensive financing result:
 Financial expense   (7,934) (7,163) (4,993)
 Financial income   2,755 1,197 1,670
 Results from financial instruments   (306) (4,650) (4,792)
 Foreign exchange result   2,296 993 593
  Comprehensive financing result   (3,189) (9,623) (7,522)

 Income (loss) before income tax   (10,595) 1,950 (2,833)

Income tax J  (5,921) (541) 5,111

 nET InCoME (loSS)  $ (16,516) 1,409 2,278

 BASIC EArnInGS (loSS) PEr SHArE M $ (0.55) 0.05 0.09

 DIlUTED EArnInGS PEr SHArE M $ – 0.05 0.09

The accompanying notes are part of these Parent Company-only financial statements.
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CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. (PARENT COMPANY-ONLY) 
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 YEArS EnDED DECEMBEr 31,
 noTE 24 2010 2009 2008

oPErATInG ACTIVITIES

net income (loss)  $ (16,516) 1,409 2,278
Non-cash items:
 Depreciation and amortization of assets E  6 6 6
 Amortization of deferred charges F  699 287 28
 Equity in income of subsidiaries and associates D  7,362 (11,621) (4,091)
 Comprehensive financing result   2,489 9,336 7,494
 Income taxes J  5,921 541 (5,111)
 Changes in working capital, excluding financial expenses  
  and income tax   3,673 (7,076) (16,848)
 net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities  
  before income tax   3,634 (7,118) (16,244)
 Income taxes paid in cash J  (325) – 738
 net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities   3,309 (7,118) (15,506)

InVESTInG ACTIVITIES

Investment derivatives   – – 1,916
Dividends obtained from associates   – – 70
Investment in subsidiaries D  – 4,359 (54)
Deferred charges   (235) (2,678) (14)
Long-term assets, net   33 490 (43)
Others, net   – – 1,679
 net cash flows (used in) provided by investing activities   (202) 2,171 3,554

FInAnCInG ACTIVITIES

Long-term related parties, net I  5,633 14,293 25,788
Financial expenses paid in cash   (5,873) (4,645) (4,844)
Issuance of common stock K  5 23,953 –
Financing derivatives   (141) (7,585) (6,252)
Dividends paid   – – (215)
Repayment of debt, net H  (2,536) (19,373) (2,647)
Long-term liabilities, net   – (1,696) 122
 net cash flows (used in) provided by financing activities   (2,912) 4,947 11,952
 Decrease in cash and investments   195 – –
 Cash and investments at beginning of year   – – –
 CASH AnD InVESTMEnTS AT EnD oF YEAr  $ 195 – –

Changes in working capital:
 Other accounts receivable  $ (283) 2,867 (239)
 Short-term related parties, net I  4,037 (9,484) (16,705)
 Other accounts payable and accrued expenses G  (81) (459) 96
  Changes in working capital, excluding income taxes  $ 3,673 (7,076) (16,848)

The accompanying notes are part of these Parent Company-only financial statements.

statements of  
cASh FlowS 

CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. (PARENT COMPANY-ONLY) 
(Millions of Mexican pesos)



   ADDITIonAl   ToTAl  ToTAl 
  CoMMon PAID-In  oTHEr EQUITY  rETAInED ConTrollInG non-ConTrollInG SToCKHolDErS’ 
 noTE SToCK CAPITAl rESErVES EArnInGS InTErEST InTErEST EQUITY

Balance at December 31, 2007  $ 4,115 63,379 (104,574) 200,248 163,168 40,985 204,153

 Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 16B  – – 30,987 – 30,987 – 30,987

 Hedge derivative financial instruments 12  – – (297) – (297) – (297)

 Deferred income tax recognized directly in equity 15  – – 558 – 558 – 558

 Net income   – – – 2,278 2,278 45 2,323

Comprehensive income for the period   – – 31,248 2,278 33,526 45 33,571

Adoption of new Mexican Financial Reporting Standards   – – 104,640 (107,843) (3,203) – (3,203)

Dividends ($0.29 pesos per share)  16A  – – – (7,009) (7,009) – (7,009)

Issuance of common stock 16A  2 6,792 – – 6,794 – 6,794

Treasury shares owned by subsidiaries 16  – – 12 – 12 – 12

Issuance and effects of perpetual debentures 16D  – – (2,596) – (2,596) 8,025 5,429

Changes in non-controlling interest 16D  – – – – – (2,480) (2,480)

Balance at December 31, 2008   4,117 70,171 28,730 87,674 190,692 46,575 237,267

 Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 16B  – – (904) – (904) – (904)

 Hedge derivative financial instruments 12  – – 450 – 450 – 450

 Deferred income tax recognized directly in equity 15  – – 941 – 941 – 941

 Net income   – – – 1,409 1,409 240 1,649

Comprehensive income for the period   – – 487 1,409 1,896 240 2,136

Adoption of new Mexican Financial Reporting Standards   – – – (2,245) (2,245) – (2,245)

Capitalization of retained earnings  16A  3 4,370 – (4,373) – – –

Issuance of common stock 16A  7 14,633 – – 14,640 – 14,640

Treasury shares owned by subsidiaries 16  – 9,623 – – 9,623 – 9,623

Issuance and effects of convertible securities 16B  – – 1,971 – 1,971 – 1,971

Issuance and effects of perpetual debentures 16D  – – (2,704) – (2,704) (1,636) (4,340)

Changes in non-controlling interest 16D  – – – – – (1,482) (1,482)

Balance at December 31, 2009   4,127 98,797 28,484 82,465 213,873 43,697 257,570

 Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 16B  – – (12,050) – (12,050) – (12,050)

 Deferred income tax recognized directly in equity 15  – – 737 – 737 – 737

 Net loss    – – – (16,516) (16,516) 27 (16,489)

Comprehensive loss for the period   – – (11,313) (16,516) (27,829) 27 (27,802)

Adoption of new Mexican Financial Reporting Standards   – – – 2,806 2,806 – 2,806

Capitalization of retained earnings  16A  5 5,476 – (5,481) – – –

Issuance of common stock 16A  – 317 – – 317 – 317

Issuance and effects of convertible securities 16B  – – 1,232 – 1,232 – 1,232

Issuance and effects of perpetual debentures 16D  – – 3,777 – 3,777 (23,549) (19,772)

Changes in non-controlling interest 16D  – – – – – (651) (651)

Balance at December 31, 2010  $ 4,132 104,590 22,180 63,274 194,176 19,524 213,700

The accompanying notes are part of these consolidated and Parent Company-only financial statements. 
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   ADDITIonAl   ToTAl  ToTAl 
  CoMMon PAID-In  oTHEr EQUITY  rETAInED ConTrollInG non-ConTrollInG SToCKHolDErS’ 
 noTE SToCK CAPITAl rESErVES EArnInGS InTErEST InTErEST EQUITY

Balance at December 31, 2007  $ 4,115 63,379 (104,574) 200,248 163,168 40,985 204,153

 Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 16B  – – 30,987 – 30,987 – 30,987

 Hedge derivative financial instruments 12  – – (297) – (297) – (297)

 Deferred income tax recognized directly in equity 15  – – 558 – 558 – 558

 Net income   – – – 2,278 2,278 45 2,323

Comprehensive income for the period   – – 31,248 2,278 33,526 45 33,571

Adoption of new Mexican Financial Reporting Standards   – – 104,640 (107,843) (3,203) – (3,203)

Dividends ($0.29 pesos per share)  16A  – – – (7,009) (7,009) – (7,009)

Issuance of common stock 16A  2 6,792 – – 6,794 – 6,794

Treasury shares owned by subsidiaries 16  – – 12 – 12 – 12

Issuance and effects of perpetual debentures 16D  – – (2,596) – (2,596) 8,025 5,429

Changes in non-controlling interest 16D  – – – – – (2,480) (2,480)

Balance at December 31, 2008   4,117 70,171 28,730 87,674 190,692 46,575 237,267

 Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 16B  – – (904) – (904) – (904)

 Hedge derivative financial instruments 12  – – 450 – 450 – 450

 Deferred income tax recognized directly in equity 15  – – 941 – 941 – 941

 Net income   – – – 1,409 1,409 240 1,649

Comprehensive income for the period   – – 487 1,409 1,896 240 2,136

Adoption of new Mexican Financial Reporting Standards   – – – (2,245) (2,245) – (2,245)

Capitalization of retained earnings  16A  3 4,370 – (4,373) – – –

Issuance of common stock 16A  7 14,633 – – 14,640 – 14,640

Treasury shares owned by subsidiaries 16  – 9,623 – – 9,623 – 9,623

Issuance and effects of convertible securities 16B  – – 1,971 – 1,971 – 1,971

Issuance and effects of perpetual debentures 16D  – – (2,704) – (2,704) (1,636) (4,340)

Changes in non-controlling interest 16D  – – – – – (1,482) (1,482)

Balance at December 31, 2009   4,127 98,797 28,484 82,465 213,873 43,697 257,570

 Currency translation of foreign subsidiaries 16B  – – (12,050) – (12,050) – (12,050)

 Deferred income tax recognized directly in equity 15  – – 737 – 737 – 737

 Net loss    – – – (16,516) (16,516) 27 (16,489)

Comprehensive loss for the period   – – (11,313) (16,516) (27,829) 27 (27,802)

Adoption of new Mexican Financial Reporting Standards   – – – 2,806 2,806 – 2,806

Capitalization of retained earnings  16A  5 5,476 – (5,481) – – –

Issuance of common stock 16A  – 317 – – 317 – 317

Issuance and effects of convertible securities 16B  – – 1,232 – 1,232 – 1,232

Issuance and effects of perpetual debentures 16D  – – 3,777 – 3,777 (23,549) (19,772)

Changes in non-controlling interest 16D  – – – – – (651) (651)

Balance at December 31, 2010  $ 4,132 104,590 22,180 63,274 194,176 19,524 213,700

CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. (PARENT COMPANY-ONLY) AND 
CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES 

(Millions of Mexican pesos)



1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. is a Mexican corporation, a holding company (parent) of entities whose main activities are oriented to the construction 
industry, through the production, marketing, distribution and sale of cement, ready-mix concrete, aggregates and other construction materials. 
CEMEX is a public stock corporation with variable capital (S.A.B. de C.V.) organized under the laws of the United Mexican States, or Mexico.

CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. was founded in 1906 and was registered with the Mercantile Section of the Public Register of Property and Commerce in 
Monterrey, N.L., Mexico in 1920 for a period of 99 years. In 2002, this period was extended to the year 2100. The shares of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. 
are listed on the Mexican Stock Exchange (“MSE”) as Ordinary Participation Certificates (“CPOs”). Each CPO represents two series “A” shares and 
one series “B” share of common stock of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.  In addition, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange 
(“NYSE”) as American Depositary Shares or “ADSs” under the symbol “CX.” Each ADS represents ten CPOs. 

The terms “CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.” or the “Parent Company” used in these accompanying notes to the financial statements refer to CEMEX, S.A.B. 
de C.V. without its consolidated subsidiaries. The terms the “Company” or “CEMEX” refer to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. together with its consolidated 
subsidiaries. The issuance of Parent Company only and consolidated financial statements was authorized by the Company’s management on 
January 27, 2011, and they will be submitted for approval in the next stockholders’ meeting.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A) BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND DISCLOSURE
The Parent Company-only financial statements and their accompanying notes (note 24), complementary to CEMEX’s consolidated financial 
statements, are presented herein to comply with requirements to which CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. is subject as an independent legal entity.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with Mexican Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”) issued by the Mexican Board for 
Research and Development of Financial Reporting Standards (“CINIF”), which recognized the effects of inflation on the financial information 
until December 31, 2007.

Definition of terms 
When reference is made to pesos or “$,” it means Mexican pesos. Except when specific references are made to “earnings per share” and “prices 
per share,” the amounts in the financial statements and the accompanying notes are stated in millions of pesos. When reference is made to 
“US$” or dollars, it means millions of dollars of the United States of America (“United States”). When reference is made to “£” or pounds, it means 
millions of British pounds sterling. When reference is made to “€” or euros, it means millions of the currency in circulation in a significant number 
of European Union countries.

When it is deemed relevant, certain amounts presented in the notes to the financial statements include between parentheses a translation into 
dollars, into pesos, or both, as applicable. These translations are provided as informative data and should not be construed as representations 
that the amounts in pesos or dollars, as applicable, actually represent that those peso or dollar amounts could be converted into pesos or dollars 
at the rate indicated. The translation procedures used are detailed as follows:

•	 In	2010,	2009	and	2008,	 translations	of	pesos	 into	dollars,	and	dollars	 into	pesos,	were	determined	using	 the	closing	exchange	 rates	of	
$12.36 pesos per dollar, $13.09 pesos per dollar and $13.74 pesos per dollar for balance sheet amounts, respectively, and using the average 
exchange rates of $12.67 pesos per dollar, $13.60 pesos per dollar and $11.21 pesos per dollar for the statements of operations amounts for 
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

•	 When	the	amounts	between	parentheses	are	the	peso	and	the	dollar,	it	means	the	disclosed	amounts	were	originated	in	other	currencies.	
Such amounts were determined by translating the foreign currency figures into dollars using the respective closing exchange rates at year-
end, and then translated into pesos using the closing exchange rates of $12.36 pesos per dollar in 2010, $13.09 pesos per dollar in 2009 and 
$13.74 pesos per dollar in 2008. 

Inflationary accounting
Beginning on January 1, 2008, pursuant to MFRS B-10, “Inflation Effects” (“MFRS B-10”), the financial statements subject to restatement are those 
related to an entity whose functional currency corresponds to a country in which the cumulative inflation rate over the preceding three years 
equals or exceeds 26% (i.e., a high-inflation environment). Designation takes place at the end of each year and inflation restatement is applied 
prospectively. In 2010, CEMEX restated the financial statements of its subsidiaries in Egypt, Nicaragua and Costa Rica; in 2009, the financial 
statements of its subsidiaries in Egypt, Nicaragua, Latvia and Costa Rica; and in 2008, the financial statements of its subsidiaries in Costa Rica and 
Venezuela. 

The amounts in the statements of operations, the statements of cash flows and the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity are presented 
in nominal pesos. The restatement adjustments as of December 31, 2007, the date the inflationary accounting was discontinued, are part of the 
carrying amounts. When moving back from a low-inflation to a high-inflation environment, the initial restatement factor should consider the 
cumulative inflation since the last time in which inflationary accounting was applied.

Upon adoption of MFRS B-10 on January 1, 2008, the accumulated result for holding non-monetary assets as of December 31, 2007 included in 
“Other equity reserves” (note 16B) was reclassified to “Retained earnings,” representing a decrease in this caption on such date of approximately 
$97,722.

NoTES to the consolidated 
financial statements
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Statement of cash flows
The statements of cash flows present cash inflows and outflows in nominal currency, and exclude inflation effects and unrealized foreign 
exchange effects. The statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 consider the classification of CEMEX’s operations 
in Australia as discontinued operations.

The statements of cash flows exclude the following transactions that did not represent sources or uses of cash: a) in 2010, the effects of the 
exchange of a portion of CEMEX’s perpetual debentures into notes maturing in 2020 for US$1,067 and notes maturing in 2017 for €115 (note 
12A), which represented a net increase in debt of $15,437, a reduction in equity’s non-controlling interest of $20,838 and an increase in equity’s 
controlling interest of $5,401, meanwhile, in 2009, the effects of the exchange of promissory notes issued in Mexico (“Certificados Bursátiles” 
or “CBs”) into mandatorily convertible securities (note 12A), which represented a reduction in debt of $4,007, an increase in other financial 
obligations of $2,036 and an increase in stockholders’ equity of $1,971 (net of issuance expenses); b) in 2010, 2009 and 2008, the increase in 
stockholders’ equity associated with the capitalization of retained earnings for $5,481, $4,373 and $6,794, respectively (note 16A); c) in 2010 and 
2009, the increase in stockholders’ equity associated with CPOs issued as part of the executive stock-based compensation for $312 and $163, 
respectively (note 16A); and d) in 2010 and 2009, a decrease of $2,911 and an increase of $2,245, respectively, in taxes payable as a result of the 
Mexican tax reform of 2009, which were recognized against retained earnings (notes 15A and 16B).

Migration to International Financial Reporting Standards
In November 2008, the Mexican National Banking and Securities Commission (“CNBV”) published regulations requiring registrants whose shares 
are traded on the MSE to adopt International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 
(“IASB”) no later than January 1, 2012. Earlier adoption was allowed following certain requirements published by the CNBV.

On August 31, 2010, MFRS Interpretation 19 was issued by CINIF requiring disclosure by companies in process of adoption of IFRS of any 
obligation and/or decision to adopt IFRS, the expected date of adoption of IFRS and the estimated impact of the adoption on the financial 
statements. The interpretation is effective for all financial statements issued on or after September 30, 2010.

CEMEX will adopt IFRS, as issued and interpreted by the IASB, beginning on January 1, 2012. In order to comply with the requirements of the 
CNBV, CEMEX has gathered the necessary resources required in the IFRS conversion effort and is in the process of identifying and measuring 
the necessary adjustments. As of December 31, 2010, the migration process to IFRS is in progress and CEMEX cannot estimate the effects in its 
consolidated financial statements.

B) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated financial statements include those of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and the entities in which the Parent Company holds, directly or 
through subsidiaries, more than 50% of their common stock and/or has control. Control exists when CEMEX has the power, directly or indirectly, 
to govern the administrative, financial and operating policies of an entity in order to obtain benefits from its activities. Balances and operations 
between related parties are eliminated in consolidation.  

Investments in associates are accounted for by the equity method when CEMEX has significant influence, which is generally presumed with 
an equity interest between 10% and 50% in public companies, and between 25% and 50% in non-public companies, unless it is proven in 
each specific case that CEMEX has significant influence with a lower percentage. The equity method reflects, in the financial statements, 
the investment’s original cost and the proportional interest of the holding company in the associate’s equity and earnings after acquisition, 
considering the effects of inflation, if applicable.

Under MFRS B-8, “Consolidated or Combined Financial Statements,” beginning in 2009, the financial statements of joint ventures, which are those 
entities in which CEMEX and other third-party investors have agreed to exercise joint control, are recognized under the equity method. Until 
December 31, 2008, financial statements of such joint ventures were consolidated through the proportional integration method, considering 
CEMEX’s interest in the results of operations, assets and liabilities of such entities, based on International Accounting Standard No. 31, “Interest in 
Joint Ventures.” No significant effects resulted from the adoption of MFRS B-8 in 2009, considering that CEMEX sold its joint venture investments 
in Spain in 2008 (note 11A). 

C) USE OF ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with MFRS requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, as well 
as the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. These assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis using available 
information. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

The main captions subject to estimates and assumptions include, among others, long-lived assets, allowances for doubtful accounts and 
inventories, deferred income tax assets, the measurement of financial instruments at fair value, and the assets and liabilities related to 
employee benefits.

CEMEX, S.A.B. DE C.V. AND SUBSIDIARIES 
As of Decemeber 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 

(Millions of Mexican pesos)



D) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are recorded at the exchange rates prevailing on the dates of their execution. Monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into pesos at the exchange rates prevailing at the balance sheet date, and 
the resulting foreign exchange fluctuations are recognized in earnings, except for exchange fluctuations arising from: 1) foreign currency 
indebtedness directly related to the acquisition of foreign entities; and 2) fluctuations associated with related parties’ balances denominated in 
foreign currency that are of a long-term investment nature. These fluctuations are recorded against stockholders’ equity, as part of the foreign 
currency translation adjustment of foreign subsidiaries (note 16B).

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, which are determined using the functional currency applicable in each country, are translated 
to pesos at the closing exchange rate for balance sheet accounts and at the average exchange rates of each month for income statement 
accounts. The corresponding translation adjustment is included within “Other equity reserves” in the balance sheet. The closing exchange rates 
and the approximate average exchange rates for balance sheet accounts and income statement accounts, respectively, in 2010, 2009 and 2008, 
were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

 CURRENCY CLOSING AvERAGE CLOSING AvERAGE CLOSING AvERAGE

United States Dollar 12.3600 12.6700 13.0900 13.6000 13.7400 11.2100

Euro 16.4822 16.7106 18.7402 18.9186 19.2060 16.4394

British Pound Sterling 19.2854 19.5404 21.1436 21.2442 20.0496 20.4413

Colombian Peso 0.0065 0.0067 0.0064 0.0062 0.0061 0.0056

Egyptian Pound 2.1285 2.2410 2.3823 2.4483 2.4889 2.0578

Philippine Peso 0.2819 0.2813 0.2833 0.2845 0.2891 0.2509

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are initially translated from their functional currencies into dollars and subsequently into pesos. 
Therefore, the foreign exchange rates presented in the table above between the functional currency and the peso represent the exchange 
rates resulting from this methodology. The peso to U.S. dollar exchange rate used by CEMEX is an average of free market rates available to settle 
its foreign currency transactions. No significant differences exist, in any case, between the foreign exchange rates used by CEMEX and those 
exchange rates published by the Mexican Central Bank. 

E) CASH AND INvESTMENTS (note 4)
The balance in this caption is comprised of available amounts of cash and cash equivalents, mainly represented by short-term investments 
of high liquidity, which are easily convertible into cash, and which are not subject to significant risks for changes in their values, including 
overnight investments, which yield fixed returns and have maturities of less than three months from the investment date. Those fixed-income 
investments are recorded at cost plus accrued interest. Other investments which are easily convertible into cash are recorded at market value. 
Gains or losses resulting from changes in market values and accrued interest are included as part of the Comprehensive Financing Result.

Beginning on January 1, 2010, based on new MFRS C-1, “Cash and Cash Equivalents,” restricted amounts of cash and investments, comprised 
by deposits in margin accounts with suppliers and financial institutions that guarantee CEMEX obligations under commercial transactions as 
well as those associated with derivative financial instruments, to the extent that the restriction will be lifted in less than three months at the 
balance sheet date. When the restriction period is grater than three months, such restricted cash and investments are not considered cash 
equivalents and are included within short-term or long-term “Other accounts receivable,” as appropriate. When contracts contain provisions for 
net settlement, these restricted amounts are offset against the liabilities that CEMEX has with its counterparties.

F) INvENTORIES (note 7)
Inventories are valued using the lower of their production cost and market value. Production cost may correspond to the latest purchase price, 
the average price of the last purchases or the last production cost. CEMEX analyzes its inventory balances to determine if, as a result of internal 
events, such as physical damage, or external events, such as technological changes or market conditions, certain portions of such balances 
have become obsolete or impaired. When an impairment situation arises, the inventory balance is adjusted to its net realizable value, whereas, 
if an obsolescence situation occurs, the inventory obsolescence reserve is increased. In both cases, these adjustments are recognized against 
the results of the period.

G) OTHER INvESTMENTS AND NON-CURRENT RECEIvABLES (note 9B)
Other investments and non-current accounts receivable include CEMEX’s collection rights with respect to investments with maturities of more 
than twelve months as of the balance sheet date. Non-current assets resulting from the valuation of derivative financial instruments, as well as 
investments in private funds and other investments which are recognized at their estimated fair value as of the balance sheet date, and their 
changes in valuation are included in the statements of operations as part of the Comprehensive Financing Result.

Beginning on January 1, 2010, in accordance with MFRS C-3 “Accounts Receivable,” long-term accounts receivable are initially recognized at fair 
value. Subsequent changes in valuation are recognized in the Comprehensive Financing Result. The adoption of MFRS C-3 as of January 1, 2010, 
generated a reduction of approximately $146 in long-term accounts receivable, an increase in deferred tax assets of approximately $41 and a 
reduction in retained earnings of approximately $105.
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H) PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT (note 10)
Property, machinery and equipment are recognized at their acquisition or construction cost, as applicable. When inflationary accounting is 
applied during high-inflation periods, such assets should be restated using the factors derived from the general price index of the countries 
where the assets are held. 

Depreciation of fixed assets is recognized within “Cost of sales” and “Administrative and selling expenses,” depending on the utilization of the 
respective assets, and is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, except for mineral reserves, which 
are depleted using the units-of-production method. The maximum average useful lives by category of assets are as follows:

 YEARS

Administrative buildings 35
Industrial buildings 34
Machinery and equipment in plant 21
Ready-mix trucks and motor vehicles 8
Office equipment and other assets 9

During 2010, 2009 and 2008, CEMEX capitalized, as part of the historical cost of fixed assets, the Comprehensive Financing Result, which includes 
interest expense, and, when inflationary accounting is applied during periods of high inflation, the monetary position result, arising from existing 
debt during the construction or installation period of significant fixed assets, considering CEMEX’s corporate average interest rate and the 
average balance of investments in process for the period. 

Costs incurred in respect of operating fixed assets that result in future economic benefits, such as an extension in their useful lives, an increase 
in their production capacity or in safety, as well as those costs incurred to mitigate or prevent environmental damage, are capitalized as part of 
the carrying amount of the related assets. The capitalized costs are depreciated over the remaining useful lives of such fixed assets. Other costs, 
including periodic maintenance on fixed assets, are expensed as incurred.

I)  BUSINESS COMBINATIONS, GOODWILL, OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND DEFERRED CHARGES (note 11)
In accordance with MFRS B-7, “Business Combinations,” CEMEX applies the purchase method as the sole recognition alternative through the 
allocation of the purchase price to all assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values as of the acquisition date. 
Intangible assets acquired are identified and recognized at fair value. Any unallocated portion of the purchase price is recognized as goodwill, 
which is not amortized and is subject to periodic impairment tests (note 2J). If applicable, goodwill is subsequently adjusted for any correction 
to the preliminary assessment given to the assets acquired and/or liabilities assumed, within the twelve-month period after purchase.

CEMEX capitalizes intangible assets acquired, as well as costs incurred in the development of intangible assets, when future economic benefits 
associated with the assets are identified and there is evidence of control over such benefits. Intangible assets are presented at their acquisition 
or development cost, and are restated during high inflation periods to comply with MFRS B-10. Such assets are classified as having a definite 
or indefinite life; the latter are not amortized since the period cannot be accurately established in which the benefits associated with such 
intangibles will terminate. Amortization of intangible assets of definite life is calculated under the straight-line method.

Direct costs incurred in debt issuances or borrowings are capitalized and amortized as part of the effective interest rate of each transaction over 
its maturity. These costs include commissions and professional fees. Direct costs incurred in the development stage of computer software for 
internal use are capitalized and amortized through the operating results over the useful life of the software, which on average is approximately 
5 years.

Startup costs are recognized in the income statement as they are incurred. Costs associated with research and development activities (“R&D”), 
performed by CEMEX to create new products and services, as well as to develop processes, equipment and methods to optimize operational 
efficiency and reduce costs, are recognized in the operating results as incurred. The Technology and Energy departments in CEMEX undertake 
all significant R&D activities as part of their daily activities. In 2010, 2009 and 2008, total combined expenses of these departments were 
approximately $519 (US$41), $408 (US$30) and $348 (US$31), respectively.

J) IMPAIRMENT OF LONG LIvED ASSETS (notes 10 and 11)
Property, machinery and equipment, intangible assets of definite life and other investments
According to MFRS C-15, “Impairment and disposal of long-lived assets” (“MFRS C-15”), property, machinery and equipment, intangible assets 
of definite life and other investments are tested for impairment upon the occurrence of factors such as the occurrence of a significant adverse 
event, changes in the operating environment in which CEMEX operates, changes in projected use or in technology, as well as expectations of 
lower operating results for each cash generating unit, in order to determine whether their carrying amounts may not be recovered, in which 
case an impairment loss is recorded in the income statements for the period when such determination is made within “Other expenses, net.”  The 
impairment loss results from the excess of the carrying amount over the net present value of estimated cash flows related to such assets.

Goodwill and intangible assets of indefinite life 
Goodwill and other intangible assets of indefinite life are tested for impairment when needed and at least once a year, during the last quarter 
of the period, by determining the value in use of the reporting units, which consists in the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows 
to be generated by the reporting units to which those assets relate. CEMEX determines the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows 
over a period of 5 years, unless a longer period is justified in a specific country considering its economic cycle and the situation of the industry. 
A reporting unit refers to a group of one or more cash generating units. An impairment loss is recognized if the value in use is lower than the net 
book value of the reporting unit. 
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The geographic segments reported by CEMEX (note 3A), each integrated by multiple cash generating units, also represent the reporting units 
for purposes of testing goodwill for impairment, considering that: a) the operating components that comprise the reported segment have 
similar economic characteristics; b) the reported segments are the level used by CEMEX to organize and evaluate its activities in its internal 
information system; c) the homogeneous nature of the items produced and traded in each operative component, which are all used by the 
construction industry; d) the vertical integration in the value chain of the products comprising each component; e) the type of clients, which are 
substantially similar in all components; f ) the operative integration among components; and g) the compensation system of a specific country 
is based on the consolidated results of the geographic segment and not on the particular results of the components.

Impairment tests are significantly sensitive, among other factors, to the estimation of future prices of CEMEX’s products, the development of 
operating expenses, local and international economic trends in the construction industry, the long-term growth expectations in the different 
markets, as well as the discount rates and the growth rates in perpetuity applied. CEMEX uses specific after-tax discount rates for each reporting 
unit, which are applied to after-tax cash flows. The amounts of estimated undiscounted future cash flows are significantly sensitive to the growth 
rate in perpetuity applied. Likewise, the amounts of discounted estimated future cash flows are significantly sensitive to the weighted average 
cost of capital (discount rate) applied. The higher the growth rate in perpetuity applied, the higher the amount obtained of undiscounted future 
cash flows by reporting unit. Conversely, the higher the discount rate applied, the lower the amount obtained of discounted estimated future 
cash flows by reporting unit.

K) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND DERIvATIvE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (note 12)
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities such as bank loans and notes payable are recognized at their nominal amount. Interest accrued on financial instruments is 
recognized in the balance sheet within “Other accounts payable and accrued expenses” against financial expense.

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, CEMEX does not have financial liabilities recognized voluntarily at fair value or associated 
to fair value hedge strategies with derivative financial instruments.

Financial instruments with components of both liability and equity
Based on MFRS, when a financial instrument contains components of both liability and equity, such as a note that at maturity is convertible into 
shares of CEMEX, each component is recognized separately in the balance sheet according to the specific characteristics of each transaction. 
In the event of a mandatorily convertible instrument, the liability component represents the net present value of interest payments on the 
principal amount using a market interest rate, without assuming any early conversion, and is recognized within “Other financial obligations,” 
whereas the equity component represents the difference between the principal amount and the liability component, and is recognized within 
“Other equity reserves” net of commissions. In the case of an instrument that is optionally convertible in a fixed number of shares, the liability 
component represents the difference between the principal amount and the fair value of the call option premium, which reflects the equity 
component (note 2O).

Derivative financial instruments
In compliance with the guidelines established by its Risk Management Committee, CEMEX uses derivative financial instruments (“derivative 
instruments”), mainly in order to change the risk profile associated with changes in interest rates, the exchange rates of debt, or both; as 
an alternative source of financing, and as hedges of: (i) highly probable forecasted transactions and (ii) CEMEX’s net investments in foreign 
subsidiaries.

CEMEX recognizes derivative instruments as assets or liabilities in the balance sheet at their estimated fair values, and the changes in such fair 
values are recognized in the statements of operations within “Results from financial instruments” for the period in which they occur, except for 
hedges of cash flows and the net investment in foreign subsidiaries. Some derivative instruments have been designated as cash flow hedges. 
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, CEMEX has not designated any fair value hedges. The accounting rules applied to 
specific derivative instruments are as follows:

a) Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps to exchange floating rates for fixed rates, designated and that are effective as hedges of the 
variability in the cash flows associated with the interest expense of a portion of the debt, are recognized in stockholders’ equity. These effects 
are reclassified to earnings as the interest expense of the related debt is accrued. 

b) Changes in the fair value of foreign currency forwards, designated as hedges of a portion of CEMEX’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries, 
whose functional currency is different from the peso, are recognized in stockholders’ equity as part of the foreign currency translation result 
(notes 2D and 16B), and whose reversal to earnings would take place upon disposal of the foreign investment.

c) Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments based on the price of CEMEX’s own shares are recognized in the statements of operations 
as incurred.

d) Changes in the fair value of forward contracts on the price of raw materials and commodities, such as natural gas, designated and that are 
effective as hedges of the variability in market prices, are first recognized in stockholders’ equity and are subsequently reclassified to earnings 
starting when the underlying products are consumed. 

e) Accrued interest generated by interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps is recognized as financial expense in the relevant period, 
adjusting the effective interest rate of the related debt.

CEMEX reviews its different contracts to identify the existence of embedded derivatives. Identified embedded derivatives are analyzed to 
determine if they need to be separated from the host contract, and recognized in the balance sheet as assets or liabilities, applying the same 
valuation rules used with other derivative instruments.



Derivative instruments are negotiated with institutions with significant financial capacity; therefore, CEMEX believes the risk of non-performance 
of the obligations agreed to by such counterparties to be minimal. The estimated fair value represents the amount at which a financial asset 
could be bought or sold, or a financial liability could be extinguished, between willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Occasionally, there 
is a reference market that provides the estimated fair value; in the absence of such market, such value is determined by the net present value of 
projected cash flows or through mathematical valuation models. The estimated fair values of derivative instruments determined by CEMEX and 
used for valuation, recognition and disclosure purposes in the financial statements and their notes, are supported as well by the confirmations 
of these values received from the financial counterparties, which act as valuation agents in these transactions. 

L) PROvISIONS 
CEMEX recognizes provisions when it has a legal or constructive obligation resulting from past events, whose resolution would imply cash 
outflows or the delivery of other resources owned by the Company.

Restructuring (note 13)
CEMEX recognizes a provision for restructuring costs only when the restructuring plans have been properly finalized and authorized by CEMEX’s 
management, and have been communicated to the third parties involved and/or affected by the restructuring prior to the balance sheet date. 
These provisions may include costs not associated with CEMEX’s ongoing activities.

Asset retirement obligations (note 13)
Unavoidable obligations, legal or constructive, to restore operating sites upon retirement of long-lived assets at the end of their useful lives are 
measured at the net present value of estimated future cash flows to be incurred in the restoration process, and are initially recognized against 
the related assets’ book value. The increase to the assets’ book value is depreciated during its remaining useful life. The increase in the liability 
related to the passage of time is charged to the statements of operations. Adjustments to the liability for changes in estimations are recognized 
against fixed assets, and depreciation is modified prospectively. 

These obligations are related mainly to future costs of demolition, cleaning and reforestation, so that quarries, maritime terminals and other 
production sites are left in acceptable condition at the end of their operation.

Costs related to remediation of the environment (notes 13 and 20)
Provisions associated with environmental damage represent the estimated future cost of remediation. These provisions are recognized at their 
nominal value when the time schedule for the disbursement is not clear, or when the economic effect for the passage of time is not significant; 
otherwise, such provisions are recognized at their discounted values. Reimbursements from insurance companies are recognized as assets only 
when their recovery is practically certain. In that case, such reimbursement assets are not offset against the provision for remediation costs.

Contingencies and commitments (notes 19 and 20)
Obligations or losses related to contingencies are recognized as liabilities in the balance sheet when present obligations exist resulting from 
past events that are expected to result in an outflow of resources and the amount can be measured reliably. Otherwise, a qualitative disclosure is 
included in the notes to the financial statements. The effects of long-term commitments established with third parties, such as supply contracts 
with suppliers or customers, are recognized in the financial statements on the incurred or accrued basis, after taking into consideration the 
substance of the agreements. Relevant commitments are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. The Company does not recognize 
contingent revenues, income or assets.

M) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (note 14)
Employees’ statutory profit sharing
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, current and deferred employees’ statutory profit sharing (“ESPS”) is presented within 
“Other expenses, net.” Deferred ESPS is calculated applying the ESPS rate to the total temporary differences resulting from comparing the book 
values and the taxable values for ESPS purposes of assets and liabilities according to applicable legislation. Until December 31, 2007, deferred 
ESPS was determined considering temporary differences of a non-recurring nature, arising from the reconciliation of net income and the taxable 
income of the period for ESPS purposes. The cumulative initial effect for the adoption of new MFRS D-3, “Employee benefits,” (“MFRS D-3”) as of 
January 1, 2008, represented an expense of approximately $2,283, which was included within “Retained earnings.” 

Defined contribution plans
The costs of defined contribution pension plans are recognized in the operating results as they are incurred. Liabilities arising from such plans 
are settled through cash transfers to the employees’ retirement accounts, without generating future obligations.

Defined benefit plans, other postretirement benefits and termination benefits
CEMEX recognizes the costs associated with employees’ benefits for: a) defined benefit pension plans; b) other postretirement benefits, basically 
comprised of health care benefits, life insurance and seniority premiums, granted pursuant to applicable law or by Company grant; and c) 
termination benefits, not associated with a restructuring event, which mainly represent severance payments by law. These costs are recognized 
in the operating results, as services are rendered, based on actuarial estimations of the benefits’ present value. The actuarial assumptions in a 
low-inflation environment consider the use of real nominal rates. For certain pension plans, irrevocable trust funds have been created to cover 
future benefit payments. These assets are valued at their estimated fair value at the balance sheet date.

The actuarial gains and losses (“actuarial results”), which exceed the greater of 10% of the fair value of the plan assets, and 10% of the present value 
of the plan obligations, the prior service cost and the transition liability, are amortized to the operating results over the employees’ estimated 
active service life. In accordance with the transition rules of new MFRS D-3, beginning January 1, 2008, the actuarial results, prior service costs 
and the transition liability recognized as of December 31, 2007, should be amortized to the income statement in a maximum period of five years. 
The net periodic cost for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 includes a portion of this transition amortization. The excess of 
amortization expense resulting from the transition rule is recognized within “Other expenses, net.”

The net periodic cost recognized in the operating results includes: a) the service cost for additional benefits earned by employees during the 
period; b) the interest cost for the increase in the liability by the passage of time; c) the amortization of the actuarial gains and losses, prior service 
cost and transition liability; and d) the expected return on plan assets for the period. 
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N) INCOME TAXES (note 15) 
According to MFRS D-4, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“MFRS D-4”), the effects reflected in the income statements for income taxes include the 
amounts incurred during the period as well as the amounts of deferred income taxes, in both cases determined according to the income tax 
law applicable to each subsidiary. Consolidated deferred income taxes represent the addition of the amounts determined in each subsidiary 
by applying the enacted statutory income tax rate to the total temporary differences resulting from comparing the book and taxable values of 
assets and liabilities, taking into account and subject to a recoverability analysis, tax loss carryforwards as well as other recoverable taxes and tax 
credits. Deferred income taxes for the period represent the difference between the balances of deferred income at the beginning and the end 
of the period. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities relating to different tax jurisdictions are not offset. According to MFRS, all items charged 
or credited directly in stockholders’ equity are recognized net of their deferred income tax effects. The effect of a change in enacted statutory 
tax rates is recognized in the income statement for the period in which the change is officially enacted.

For the recognition of deferred tax assets derived from net operating losses and their corresponding valuation reserve, CEMEX makes an 
assessment of: a) the aggregate amount of self-determined tax loss carryforwards included in its income tax returns in each country that 
CEMEX believes the tax authorities would not reject based on available evidence; and b) the likelihood of the recoverability of such tax loss 
carryforwards prior to their expiration through an analysis of estimated future taxable income. If CEMEX believes that it is more-likely-than-not 
that the tax authorities would reject a self-determined deferred tax asset, it would decrease its deferred tax assets. Likewise, if CEMEX believes 
that it would not be able to use a deferred tax carryforward asset before its expiration, CEMEX would increase its valuation reserve. Both 
situations would result in additional income tax expense in the income statement for the period in which such determination is made.

In the determination of whether it is more-likely-than-not that deferred tax assets will ultimately be realized, CEMEX takes into consideration all 
available positive and negative evidence, including factors such as market conditions, industry analysis, expansion plans, projected taxable income, 
carryforward periods, current tax structure, potential changes or adjustments in tax structure, tax planning strategies, future reversals of existing 
temporary differences, etc. Likewise, every reporting period, CEMEX analyzes its actual results versus the Company’s estimates, and adjusts, as 
necessary, its tax asset valuations. If actual results vary from CEMEX’s estimates, the deferred tax asset and/or valuations may be affected and necessary 
adjustments will be made based on relevant information. Any adjustments recorded will affect CEMEX’s income statement in such period.

Based on changes in MFRS D-4 effective starting January 1, 2008, CEMEX reclassified the cumulative effect at December 31, 2007 for the initial 
recognition of deferred income taxes based on the assets and liabilities method from “Other equity reserves” to “Retained earnings” (note 16B). 
In addition, it was required to determine deferred income taxes for investments in associates. CEMEX recognized the cumulative initial effect as 
of January 1, 2008 against “Retained earnings.” 

In November 2009 reforms to the income tax law were approved in Mexico which became effective beginning January 1, 2010 (note 15A). These 
reforms include changes to the tax consolidation regime in Mexico pursuant to which entities are required, among other changes, to determine 
income taxes as if the tax consolidation provisions did not exist from 1999 and onward. In connection with this change in tax consolidation law, 
on December 15, 2009, CINIF issued for its immediate application MFRS Interpretation 18, “Effects on income taxes arising from the tax reform 
2009” (“Interpretation 18”). Interpretation 18 establishes that the portion of the liability related to: a) the difference between the sum of the equity 
of the controlled entities for tax purposes and the equity of the consolidated entity for tax purposes; b) dividends from the controlled entities for 
tax purposes to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.; and c) other transactions that represented the transfer of resources between the companies included in the 
tax consolidation, should be recognized against retained earnings. Moreover, Interpretation 18 clarifies that the tax liabilities associated with the 
tax loss carryforwards used in the tax consolidation of the Mexican subsidiaries should not be offset with deferred tax assets in the balance sheet; 
therefore, beginning in 2009, CEMEX recognizes deferred income tax assets and liabilities associated with this concept separately. The realization 
of these tax assets is subject to the generation of future tax earnings in the controlled subsidiaries that generated the tax loss carryforwards in the 
past. In December 2010, by means of miscellaneous rules, the tax authority in Mexico eliminated the taxable amount for the difference between 
the sum of the equity of the controlled entities for tax purposes and the equity of the consolidated entity for tax purposes. Based on Interpretation 
18, the effects from these modifications were recognized in 2010 against “Retained earnings” (notes 15A and 16C).

O) STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Beginning in 2008, stockholders’ equity of the Parent Company would only be restated during high-inflation periods in Mexico.

Common stock and additional paid-in capital (note 16A)
These items represent the value of stockholders’ contributions, restated considering the Mexican inflation until December 31, 2007, including 
those increases related to the recapitalization of retained earnings and executive compensation (note 16).

Other equity reserves (note 16B)
This caption groups the cumulative effects of items and transactions that are, temporarily or permanently, recognized directly to stockholders’ 
equity, and includes the elements of “Comprehensive income (loss) for the period,” which is presented in the statement of changes in 
stockholders’ equity. Comprehensive income includes, in addition to net income (loss), certain changes in stockholders’ equity during a period, 
not resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. 

The balance of “Other equity reserves” includes the result from holding non-monetary assets accrued until December 31, 2007, which referred 
to the difference between the revaluation effect of non-monetary assets (inventories, fixed assets, intangible assets) using specific restatement 
factors, and the effect that would have resulted using inflation-only restatement factors. 

The most significant items within “Other equity reserves” during the reported periods are as follows:

 Items of “Other equity reserves” included within comprehensive income for the period:
•	 Currency	translation	effects	from	the	translation	of	foreign	subsidiaries’	financial	statements,	net	of	changes	in	the	estimated	fair	value	

of foreign currency forward contracts related to net investment in foreign subsidiaries (note 2K), and exchange results from foreign 
currency debt directly related to the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries, as well as from foreign currency related parties balances that are 
of a long-term investment nature (note 2D); 

•	 The	effective	portion	of	the	valuation	and	liquidation	effects	from	derivative	instruments	under	cash	flow	hedging	relationships,	which	
are recorded temporarily in stockholders’ equity (note 2K); and

•	 The	deferred	income	tax	arising	from	items	whose	effects	are	directly	recognized	in	stockholders’	equity.



 Items of “Other equity reserves” not included in comprehensive income for the period:
•	 Effects	related	to	controlling	stockholders’	equity	for	changes	or	transactions	affecting	non-controlling	interest	stockholders	in	CEMEX’s	

consolidated subsidiaries; 

•	 Effects	 attributable	 to	 controlling	 stockholders’	 equity	 for	 financial	 instruments	 issued	 by	 consolidated	 subsidiaries	 that	 qualify	 for	
accounting purposes as equity instruments, such as the interest expense paid on perpetual debentures;

•	 The	 component	 of	 equity	 of	 outstanding	mandatorily	 convertible	 securities	 into	 shares	 of	 the	 Parent	 Company	 (note	 12A).	 Upon	
conversion, this amount will be reclassified to common stock and additional paid-in capital; 

•	 The	component	of	equity	of	the	optional	convertible	subordinated	notes	into	shares	of	the	Parent	Company	(note	12A).	If	the	conversion	
option is exercised, this amount would be reclassified to additional paid-in capital; and 

•	 The	cancellation	of	the	Parent	Company’s	shares	held	by	consolidated	subsidiaries.

Retained earnings (note 16C)
Retained earnings represent the cumulative net results of prior accounting periods, net of dividends declared to stockholders, and net of any 
recapitalizations of retained earnings. Retained earnings also include the effects from the adoption of certain newly issued MFRS as detailed in 
note 16C.

Non-controlling interest and perpetual debentures (note 16D)
This caption includes the share of non-controlling stockholders in the results and equity of consolidated subsidiaries. This caption also includes 
the amount as of the balance sheet date of financial instruments (perpetual notes) issued by consolidated entities that qualify as equity 
instruments because there is: a) no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset; b) no predefined maturity date; and c) an 
unilateral option to defer interest payments or preferred dividends for indeterminate periods.

P) REvENUE RECOGNITION
CEMEX’s consolidated revenues represent the value, before tax on sales, of products and services sold by consolidated subsidiaries as a result of 
ordinary activities, after the elimination of transactions between related parties. Revenues are quantified at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable, decreased by any trade discounts or volume rebates granted to customers.

Revenue from the sale of goods and services is recognized when goods are delivered or services are rendered to customers, when there is no 
condition or uncertainty implying a reversal thereof, and the customers have assumed the risk of loss. Revenues from trading activities, in which 
CEMEX acquires finished goods from a third-party and subsequently sells the goods to another third-party, are recognized on a gross basis, 
considering that CEMEX assumes the total risk of property on the goods purchased, not acting as agent or commissioner.

Revenues and costs associated with construction contracts are recognized in the period in which the work is performed by reference to the stage 
of completion of the contract activity at the end of the period, considering that the following have been defined: a) each party’s enforceable 
rights regarding the asset to be constructed; b) the consideration to be exchanged; c) the manner and terms of settlement; d) actual cost 
incurred and contract costs required to complete the asset are effectively controlled; and e) it is probable that the economic benefits associated 
with the contract will flow to the entity.

Q) COST OF SALES, ADMINISTRATIvE AND SELLING EXPENSES AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES
Cost of sales represents the production cost of inventories at the moment of sale. Such cost of sales includes depreciation, amortization and 
depletion of assets involved in production and expenses related to storage in producing plants. Cost of sales excludes expenses related to 
personnel, equipment and services involved in sale activities and storage of product at points of sales, as well as costs related to warehousing 
of products at the selling points.

Expenses related to freight of raw material in plants, as well as of finished product between plants and points of sale and freight expenses 
between points of sales and customers’ facilities, are all recognized within distribution expenses.

For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, selling expenses amounted to $7,894, $9,310 and $11,079, respectively. Distribution 
expenses refer to freight of finished products between points of sale and the customers’ facilities. 

R) MONETARY POSITION RESULT
Monetary position result represents the gain or loss for holding monetary assets and liabilities in high-inflation environments and is calculated 
applying the inflation rate of the country where the subsidiary operates to its net monetary position (monetary assets less monetary liabilities).

S) OTHER EXPENSES, NET
The caption consists primarily of revenues and expenses not directly related to CEMEX’s main activity, or which are of an unusual or non-recurring 
nature. Other expenses, net in 2010, 2009 and 2008, consisted of the following:

 2010 2009 2008

Impairment losses (notes 8, 9B, 10 and 11) $ (1,904) (889) (21,125)
Restructuring costs (note 13)  (897) (1,100) (3,141)
Charitable contributions  (385) (264) (174)
Current and deferred ESPS (note 2M)  (5) (8) 2,283
Results from the sale of assets and others, net  (3,481) (3,268) 754
 Other expenses, net $ (6,672) (5,529) (21,403)
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T) EXECUTIvE STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (note 17)
Beginning in 2009, CEMEX applies MFRS D-8, “Share-based payments” (“MFRS D-8”), to recognize its executive stock-based compensation 
programs. Until 2008, CEMEX applied International Financial Reporting Standard 2 “Shared-based payments.” There were no effects from the 
adoption of MFRS D-8 in 2009. 

Stock awards based on CEMEX shares granted to executives are defined as equity instruments, when services received from employees are 
settled delivering CEMEX’s shares; or as liability instruments, when CEMEX commits to make cash payments to the executives on the exercise 
date of the awards based on changes in the CEMEX’s own stock (intrinsic value). The cost of equity instruments represents their estimated fair 
value at the date of grant and is recognized in the income statement during the period in which the exercise rights of the employees become 
vested. In respect of liability instruments, these instruments are valued at their estimated fair value at each reporting date, recognizing the 
changes in fair value through the income statement. CEMEX determines the estimated fair value of options using the binomial financial option-
pricing model.

U) EMISSION RIGHTS
In some countries where CEMEX operates, such as in the European Union (“EU”), governments have established mechanisms aimed to reduce 
carbon-dioxide emissions (“CO2”), by means of which, industries releasing CO2 must submit to the environmental authority at the end of a 
compliance period, emission rights for a volume equivalent to the tons of CO2 released. In addition, the United Nations Framework Convention 
on Climate Change (“UNFCCC”) grants Certified Emission Reductions (“CERs”) to qualified CO2 emission reduction projects. CERs may be used 
in specified proportions to settle emission rights obligations in the EU. CEMEX actively participates in the development of projects aimed to 
reduce CO2 emissions. Some of these projects have been awarded with CERs.

In the absence of a MFRS or an IFRS that defines an accounting treatment for these schemes, CEMEX accounts for the effects associated with 
CO2 emission reduction mechanisms as follows: 

•	 Emission	rights	granted	by	governments	are	not	recognized	in	the	balance	sheet	considering	their	cost	is	zero;	

•	 Revenues	from	the	sale	of	any	surplus	of	emission	rights	are	recognized	decreasing	cost	of	sales;	in	the	case	of	forward	sale	transactions,	
revenues are recognized upon physical delivery of the emission certificates; 

•	 Emission	rights	and/or	CERs	acquired	to	hedge	current	CO2 emissions are recognized as intangible assets at cost, and are further amortized 
to cost of sales during the compliance period. In the case of forward purchases, assets are recognized upon physical reception of the 
emission certificates; 

•	 CEMEX	accrues	 a	provision	against	 cost	of	 sales	when	 the	estimated	annual	 emissions	of	CO2 are expected to exceed the number of 
emission rights, net of any benefit obtained through swap transactions of emission rights for CERs;

•	 CERs	 received	 from	 the	UNFCCC	are	 recognized	as	 intangible	 assets	 at	 their	development	 cost,	which	 are	 attributable	mainly	 to	 legal	
expenses incurred with authorities in the process of obtaining such CERs; and

•	 CEMEX	does	not	maintain	emission	rights,	CERs	and/or	forward	transaction	with	trading	purposes.

The combined effect of the use of alternate fuels that help reduce the emission of CO2 and the downturn in produced cement volumes in the 
EU, has generated a surplus of emission rights held over the estimated CO2 emissions. From the consolidated surplus of emission rights, during 
2010, 2009 and 2008, CEMEX sold an aggregate amount of approximately 19.4 million certificates, receiving revenues of approximately $1,417, 
$961 and $3,666, respectively. As of December 31, 2010, there are forward sale commitments for approximately $319 with settlement in March 
2011.  

v) CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT
CEMEX sells its products primarily to distributors in the construction industry, with no specific geographic concentration within the countries 
in which CEMEX operates. As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, no single customer individually accounted for a significant amount of the 
reported amounts of sales or in the balances of trade receivables. In addition, there is no significant concentration of a specific supplier relating 
to the purchase of raw materials.

W) NEWLY ISSUED FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS EFFECTIvE IN 2011 AND 2012
In 2010 and 2009, the CINIF issued the following MFRS, effective beginning January 1, 2011 and 2012, as indicated below:

MFRS B-5, “Financial information by segments” (“MFRS B-5”) 
New MFRS B-5 supersedes Bulletin B-5, “Financial information by segments.” The most significant changes, beginning on January 1, 2011, are 
the following: (i) companies should disclose information by operating segment which is usually used by top management, in addition to the 
current disclosure of information by products or services and geographical segments; (ii) the requirement that companies disclose information 
by primary and secondary segments will be eliminated; (iii) a business in pre-operative stage may be considered as an operating segment; (iv) 
disclosure by segments of financial income and expenses will be required, as well as other components of Comprehensive Financial Result; and 
(v) disclosure of liabilities by operating segment will be required. CEMEX does not anticipate any material impact as a result of the adoption of 
new MFRS B-5 in 2011.

MFRS B-9, “Interim Financial Reporting” (“MFRS B-9”) 
New MFRS B-9 supersedes Bulletin B-9, “Interim Financial Reporting.” The most significant changes, beginning on January 1, 2011, are the 
following: (i) MFRS B-9 requires the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity and the statement of cash flows in addition to the balance 
sheet and the income statements; and (ii) requires for all financial statements that information presented for interim periods be compared to 
the equivalent interim period for the immediate previous year, and in the case of the balance sheet also to be compared to the balance sheet as 
of the end of the immediate prior year. CEMEX does not anticipate any material impact as a result of the adoption of new MFRS B-9 in 2011.



MFRS C-4, “Inventories” (“MFRS C-4”) 
In November 2010, CINIF issued MFRS C-4. The main aspects of MFRS C-4 beginning on January 1, 2011, are as follows: (i) MFRS C-4 formally 
prohibits the use of the direct cost method for inventory valuation, which exclude fixed production costs; (ii) the inventory allocation to the cost 
of sales at the moment of a sale transaction based on last inputs first outputs, or LIFO, has been eliminated. CEMEX does not use either of the two 
options eliminated; therefore, the Company does not anticipate any material impact as a result of the adoption of new MFRS C-4 in 2011.

MFRS C-5, “Advanced Payments” (“MFRS C-5”) 
In November 2010, CINIF also issued MFRS C-5. Beginning on January 1, 2011, MFRS C-5 requires that advanced payments for the purchase of 
inventory or fixed assets be recognized within short-term or long-term assets, as appropriate, but outside the items of inventory and/or fixed 
assets, as it was the previous practice; and that advance payments should be subject to impairment losses when the carrying amount exceeds 
the expected benefits. CEMEX does not anticipate any material impact as a result of the adoption of new MFRS C-5 in 2011.

MFRS C-6, “Properties, Plant and Equipment” (“MFRS C-6”) 
In December 2010, CINIF issued MFRS C-6, which supersedes Bulletin C-6, “Real Estate, Machinery and Equipment.” The main changes beginning 
from MFRS C-6 on January 1, 2011, are the following: (i) specifically covers plant and equipment associated with biological assets and mining 
industries; (ii) establishes guidelines for the recognition at fair value of exchanges of non-monetary assets when the transaction has commercial 
substance, with gains and losses upon initial recognition being recognized through the income statement for the period; (iii) incorporates the 
basis to determine the residual value for components of fixed assets; (iv) defines that assets received for no consideration have an acquisition 
cost equal to zero instead of being recognized at fair value in equity surplus; and (v) requires that idle components should continue to be 
depreciated unless depreciation method is based on the component’s activity. In addition, beginning January 1, 2012, MFRS C-6 establishes 
the requirement to depreciate the main components of fixed assets which have clearly different useful lives based on such specific useful lives 
instead of as a single major asset. CEMEX does not anticipate any material impact to its financial statements as a result of the adoption of new 
MFRS C-6 in 2011 and 2012.

MFRS C-18, “Asset Retirement Obligations” (“MFRS C-18”) 
In December 2010, CINIF issued MFRS C-18, which beginning on January 1, 2011, establishes guidelines for measurement and recognition 
of obligations associated with the retirement of property, plant and equipment, as well as obligations in connection with environmental 
remediation upon retirement of a component of fixed assets. Retirement activities comprise permanent elimination, dismantling, demolition, 
sale, abandonment and recycling, among others. Under MFRS C-18, such obligations should be measured by the net present value of expected 
cash flows required to meet the obligation and should be initially recognized against the acquisition cost of the related asset. Changes in the 
estimation as a result to modifications in discount rates are recognized through the financing cost, while changes in cash flow estimations 
are recognized against the corresponding asset. Before MFRS C-18, as a general matter, other MFRS provided for the same recognition of the 
obligation against the related asset, and measurement techniques were obtained from international financial reporting standards, very similar 
to the actual guidelines of MFRS C-18. Consequently, CEMEX does not anticipate any material impact to its financial statements as a result of the 
adoption of MFRS C-18 in 2011.

Improvements to MFRS 2011 
In December 2010, CINIF also issued several improvements to certain existing MFRS. The most significant changes in respect to existing guidelines 
beginning on January 1, 2011 are as follows: 

•	 Bulletin	C-3,	“Accounts	receivable.”	Changes	require	that	interest	income	should	be	accrued	to	the	extent	the	amount	could	be	reasonably	
quantified and the recoverability is probable. In addition, doubtful accounts should not generate interest income.

•	 MFRS	C-10,	“Derivative	financial	instruments	and	hedging	activities.”	Changes	clarify	that:	(i)	certain	effects	can	be	excluded	from	effectiveness	
tests; (ii) allows the designation as a hedge of an intercompany forecasted transaction when functional currencies are different; and (iii) 
requires the gross presentation of margin accounts.

•	 Bulletin	D-5,	“Leases.”	Changes	 incorporate	guidance	to	determine:	 (i)	 the	discount	rate	to	measure	a	capital	 lease;	 (ii)	 requires	additional	
disclosures for such capital leases; and (iii) modifies the moment when a gain or loss for a sale and lease back transaction should be 
recognized.

Except for the reclassification of margin accounts associated with derivative instruments (note 2E), which are currently offset against the liabilities 
that CEMEX has with its counterparties, CEMEX does not anticipate any material impact to its financial statements as a result of the adoption of 
these MFRS improvements in 2011.  

3. SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHIC OPERATING SEGMENT AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
3A) GEOGRAPHIC OPERATING SEGMENTS
Operating segments are defined as the components of an entity oriented to the production and sale of goods and services, which are subject 
to risks and benefits different from those associated with other business segments. CEMEX operates principally in the construction industry 
segment through the production, distribution, marketing and sale of cement, ready-mix concrete and aggregates.

CEMEX operates geographically on a regional basis. Each regional manager supervises and is responsible for all the business activities in the 
countries comprising the region. These activities refer to the production, distribution, marketing and sale of cement, ready-mix concrete and 
aggregates. The country manager, who is one level below the regional manager in the organizational structure, reports his business unit operating 
results, including all the operating sectors, to the regional manager. CEMEX’s management internally evaluates the results and performance 
of each country and region for decision-making purposes, following a vertical integration approach. According to this approach, in the daily 
operations, management allocates economic resources on a country basis rather than on an operating component basis.
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The main indicator used by CEMEX’s management to evaluate the performance of each country is operating EBITDA, which CEMEX defines as 
operating income plus depreciation and amortization. This indicator, which is presented in the selected financial information by geographic 
operating segment, is consistent with the information used by CEMEX’s management for decision-making purposes. The accounting policies 
applied to determine the financial information by geographic operating segment are consistent with those described in note 2. CEMEX 
recognizes sales and other transactions between related parties based on market values.

Selected statements of operation information by geographic operating segment for the year ended December 31, 2008 has been modified 
as a result of the presentation of discontinued operations in connection with the sale of CEMEX’s operations in Australia (notes 3B and 11A). 
Information for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was as follows:

  NET SALES   OPERATING OPERATING 
   (INCLUDING  RELATED CONSOLIDATED INCOME DEPRECIATION OPERATING 
 2010 RELATED PARTIES) PARTIES NET SALES  (LOSS) AND AMORTIzATION EBITDA

north America
Mexico $ 42,907 (744) 42,163 12,380 1,940 14,320
United States  31,575 (70) 31,505 (8,990) 7,978 (1,012)
Europe 
Spain    8,013 (110) 7,903 984 777 1,761
United Kingdom  14,320 – 14,320 (780) 1,153 373
Germany  13,524 (864) 12,660 26 589 615
France   12,179 – 12,179 221 897 1,118
Rest of Europe 1  13,682 (632) 13,050 399 746 1,145
Central and South America and the Caribbean 
Colombia  6,964 (8) 6,956 2,226 262 2,488
Rest of Central and South America and  
 the Caribbean 2  12,380 (1,588) 10,792 2,222 1,079 3,301
Africa and Middle East 
Egypt   8,608 (174) 8,434 4,146 274 4,420
Rest of Africa and Middle East 3  5,248 – 5,248 228 233 461
Asia 
Philippines  4,014 – 4,014 909 322 1,231
Rest of Asia 4  2,512 – 2,512 73 124 197
others 5  8,215 (1,691) 6,524 (3,201) 2,100 (1,101)
Total  $ 184,141 (5,881) 178,260 10,843 18,474 29,317

  NET SALES   OPERATING OPERATING 
   (INCLUDING  RELATED CONSOLIDATED INCOME DEPRECIATION OPERATING 
 2009 RELATED PARTIES) PARTIES NET SALES  (LOSS) AND AMORTIzATION EBITDA

north America
Mexico $ 42,339 (730) 41,609 13,965 1,878 15,843
United States  38,472 (58) 38,414 (7,290) 8,630 1,340
Europe 
Spain    11,308 (127) 11,181 1,667 912 2,579
United Kingdom  16,126 – 16,126 (859) 1,438 579
Germany  16,492 (1,068) 15,424 658 745 1,403
France   13,866 – 13,866 786 770 1,556
Rest of Europe 1  16,174 (387) 15,787 976 983 1,959
Central and South America and the Caribbean 
Colombia  6,766 (2) 6,764 2,672 406 3,078
Rest of Central and South America  
 and the Caribbean 2  13,857 (1,776) 12,081 2,784 1,147 3,931
Africa and Middle East 
Egypt   8,372 – 8,372 3,465 289 3,754
Rest of Africa and Middle East 3  6,425 – 6,425 830 206 1,036
Asia 
Philippines  3,867 (68) 3,799 996 327 1,323
Rest of Asia 4  2,566 – 2,566 102 137 239
others 5  9,709 (4,322) 5,387 (4,912) 2,445 (2,467)
Total  $ 206,339 (8,538) 197,801 15,840 20,313 36,153



Selected statements of operations information by geographic operating segment – continued.

  NET SALES   OPERATING OPERATING 
   (INCLUDING  RELATED CONSOLIDATED INCOME DEPRECIATION OPERATING 
 2008 RELATED PARTIES) PARTIES NET SALES  (LOSS) AND AMORTIzATION EBITDA

north America
Mexico $ 42,857 (1,221) 41,636 14,254 1,880 16,134
United States  52,040 (23) 52,017 (461) 7,932 7,471
Europe 
Spain    17,493 (306) 17,187 4,325 854 5,179
United Kingdom  19,225 – 19,225 (1,411) 1,671 260
Germany  15,883 (909) 14,974 434 719 1,153
France   14,266 – 14,266 505 1,218 1,723
Rest of Europe 1  19,343 (422) 18,921 2,009 1,058 3,067
Central and South America and the Caribbean 
Venezuela  4,443 (157) 4,286 958 392 1,350
Colombia  6,667 (3) 6,664 2,116 735 2,851
Rest of Central and South America  
 and the Caribbean 2  13,035 (1,570) 11,465 2,481 908 3,389
Africa and Middle East 
Egypt   5,218 – 5,218 2,176 244 2,420
Rest of Africa and Middle East 3  6,850 – 6,850 558 206 764
Asia 
Philippines  2,928 (88) 2,840 528 283 811
Rest of Asia 4  2,313 252 2,565 57 100 157
others 5  13,368 (5,817) 7,551 (2,441) 1,499 (942)
Total  $ 235,929 (10,264) 225,665 26,088 19,699 45,787

All significant balances and transactions between related parties have been eliminated in the preparation of the selected balance sheet 
information by operating geographic segments. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the information was as follows:

   OTHER 
  INvESTMENTS SEGMENT TOTAL TOTAL NET ASSETS CAPITAL 
 DECEMBER 31, 2010 IN ASSOCIATES ASSETS ASSETS LIABILITIES BY SEGMENT EXPENDITURES

north America
Mexico $ 803 62,079 62,882 11,222 51,660 1,089 
United States  193 219,506 219,699 18,535 201,164 945 
Europe 
Spain   155 49,668 49,823 26,171 23,652 581 
United Kingdom  227 30,424 30,651 12,503 18,148 657 
Germany  72 10,804 10,876 6,186 4,690 593 
France   633 14,933 15,566 7,076 8,490 294 
Rest of Europe 1  105 22,080 22,185 4,970 17,215  688 
Central and South America and the Caribbean 
Colombia  – 10,422 10,422 4,533 5,889 241 
Rest of Central and South America  
 and the Caribbean 2  22 20,003 20,025 3,951 16,074 794 
Africa and Middle East 
Egypt   – 7,780 7,780 3,116 4,664 315 
Rest of Africa and Middle East 3  1 6,837 6,838 2,366 4,472 102 
Asia 
Philippines  – 8,371 8,371 1,783 6,588 181 
Rest of Asia 4  – 1,647 1,647 624 1,023 53 
Corporate 5  4,374 13,190 17,564 196,609 (179,045) –
others 5  1,676 29,092 30,768 1,752 29,016 430 
Total  $ 8,261 506,836 515,097 301,397 213,700 6,963 
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Selecter balance sheet information by geographic operating segment – continued.

   OTHER 
  INvESTMENTS SEGMENT TOTAL TOTAL NET ASSETS CAPITAL 
 DECEMBER 31, 2009 IN ASSOCIATES ASSETS ASSETS LIABILITIES BY SEGMENT EXPENDITURES

north America
Mexico $ 790 63,141 63,931 13,983 49,948 1,157 
United States  2,329 241,691 244,020 24,430 219,590 817 
Europe 
Spain   212 64,555 64,767 36,214 28,553 1,015 
United Kingdom  257 34,531 34,788 17,324 17,464 781 
Germany  90 12,265 12,355 7,337 5,018 426 
France   738 17,350 18,088 8,369 9,719 202 
Rest of Europe 1  116 25,732 25,848 5,982 19,866 1,818 
Central and South America and the Caribbean 
Colombia  – 10,305 10,305 4,530 5,775 66 
Rest of Central and South America  
 and the Caribbean 2  25 21,573 21,598 4,634 16,964 1,354 
Africa and Middle East
Egypt   – 8,992 8,992 3,988 5,004 324 
Rest of Africa and Middle East 3  – 7,656 7,656 2,401 5,255 69 
Asia
Philippines  – 8,651 8,651 1,846 6,805 85 
Rest of Asia 4  – 2,516 2,516 592 1,924 28 
Corporate 5  4,492 19,535 24,027 189,478 (165,451) –
others 5  1,846 32,898 34,744 3,608 31,136 512 
Total  $ 10,895 571,391 582,286 324,716 257,570 8,654

Total consolidated liabilities in 2010 and 2009 include debt of $202,818 and $211,144, respectively. Of such balances, 26% and 27% was is in the 
Parent Company, 42% and 40% in Spain, 13% and 14% in Dutch finance subsidiaries, 17% and 15% in a finance subsidiary in the United States, 
and 2% and 4% in other countries, in 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Net sales by product and geographic segment for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

 2010 CEMENT CONCRETE AGGREGATES OTHERS ELIMINATIONS NET SALES

north America
Mexico $ 27,911 11,233 1,622 10,723 (9,326) 42,163
United States  12,232 10,708 7,091 9,274 (7,800) 31,505
Europe 
Spain    6,107 2,057 757 1,089 (2,107) 7,903
United Kingdom  3,055 5,107 4,870 6,092 (4,804) 14,320
Germany  4,313 5,770 3,494 3,126 (4,043) 12,660
France   – 10,051 3,371 368 (1,611) 12,179
Rest of Europe 1  6,799 5,596 1,927 1,089 (2,361) 13,050
Central and South America and the Caribbean 
Colombia  5,612 2,021 283 626 (1,586) 6,956
Rest of Central and South America  
 and the Caribbean 2  10,139 2,732 337 469 (2,885) 10,792
Africa and Middle East 
Egypt   7,050 702 41 413 228 8,434
Rest of Africa and Middle East 3  387 3,988 1,017 686 (830) 5,248
Asia 
Philippines  3,976 – – 38 – 4,014
Rest of Asia 4  779 1,497 190 146 (100) 2,512
others 5  – – – 8,215 (1,691) 6,524
Total  $ 88,360 61,462 25,000 42,354 (38,916) 178,260



Net sales by product and geographic segment – continued.

 2009 CEMENT CONCRETE AGGREGATES OTHERS ELIMINATIONS NET SALES

north America
Mexico $ 27,992 11,344 1,471 8,929 (8,127) 41,609
United States  13,746 13,788 8,402 11,434 (8,956) 38,414
Europe
Spain    8,447 3,205 985 1,647 (3,103) 11,181
United Kingdom  3,421 5,886 5,674 6,691 (5,546) 16,126
Germany  5,225 7,428 4,176 3,731 (5,136) 15,424
France   – 11,397 3,835 394 (1,760) 13,866
Rest of Europe 1  7,246 6,961 2,627 1,445 (2,492) 15,787
Central and South America and the Caribbean 
Colombia  5,314 2,032 303 551 (1,436) 6,764
Rest of Central and South America  
 and the Caribbean 2  11,460 3,198 317 509 (3,403) 12,081
Africa and Middle East
Egypt   7,129 706 46 84 407 8,372
Rest of Africa and Middle East 3  940 4,970 920 707 (1,112) 6,425
Asia
Philippines  3,850 – – 17 (68) 3,799
Rest of Asia 4  738 1,533 169  226 (100) 2,566
others 5  – – – 9,712 (4,325) 5,387
Total  $ 95,508 72,448 28,925 46,077 (45,157) 197,801
 

 2008 CEMENT CONCRETE AGGREGATES OTHERS ELIMINATIONS NET SALES

north America
Mexico $ 28,666 13,017 1,355 7,597 (8,999) 41,636
United States  17,429 19,601 11,379 17,258 (13,650) 52,017
Europe 
Spain    11,900 5,267 1,224 3,526 (4,730) 17,187
United Kingdom  3,773 7,427 6,574 8,208 (6,757) 19,225
Germany  5,275 6,783   3,525  4,089  (4,698) 14,974 
France   – 11,632  3,588   815  (1,769) 14,266
Rest of Europe 1  8,947  8,709  2,702  1,579   (3,016) 18,921 
Central and South America and the Caribbean 
Venezuela  3,046 1,398 204 106 (468) 4,286
Colombia  4,656 2,340 450 1,159 (1,941) 6,664
Rest of Central and South America  
 and the Caribbean 2  10,518 3,234 249 810 (3,346) 11,465
Africa and Middle East 
Egypt   4,728 485 39 80 (114) 5,218
Rest of Africa and Middle East 3  – 5,449 799 1,263 (661) 6,850
Asia 
Philippines  2,919 – – 9 (88) 2,840
Rest of Asia 4  791 1,533 166 229 (154) 2,565
others 5  – – – 12,356 (4,805) 7,551
Total  $ 102,648 86,875 32,254 59,084 (55,196) 225,665

Footnotes to the geographic segment tables presented above:
1 For the reported periods, the segment “Rest of Europe” refers primarily to operations in Ireland, the Czech Republic, Austria, Poland, Croatia, Hungary and Latvia. 

2 For the reported periods, the segment “Rest of Central and South America and the Caribbean” includes CEMEX’s operations in Costa Rica, Panama, Puerto 
Rico, the Dominican Republic, Nicaragua, other countries in the Caribbean, Guatemala, and small ready-mix concrete operations in Jamaica and Argentina. As 
mentioned in note 11A, in August 2008, the Government of Venezuela nationalized CEMEX’s operations in that country, therefore, operations reported in 2008 
refer to the seven-month period ended July 31, 2008.

3 The segment “Rest of Africa and Middle East” includes the operations in the United Arab Emirates and Israel. 

4 For the reported periods, the segment “Rest of Asia” includes the operations in Thailand, Bangladesh, China and Malaysia. 

5 This segment refers to: 1) cement trade maritime operations, 2) the subsidiary involved in the development of information technology solutions (Neoris, N.V.), 3) 
the Parent Company and other corporate entities, and 4) other minor subsidiaries with different lines of business.
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3B) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On October 1, 2009, CEMEX completed the sale of its Australian operations to a subsidiary of Holcim Ltd. for approximately 2,020 million Australian 
dollars (approximately US$1,700). The assets divested consisted of 249 ready-mix concrete plants, 83 aggregate quarries and 16 concrete pipe 
plants. The sale also included CEMEX’s 25% interest in Cement Australia, whose assets include four cement plants, one grinding mill and several 
works under construction, with an aggregate cement production capacity of 5.1 million tons.  As a result of this significant divestiture, the 
Australian operations included in the statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, were reclassified to the single 
line item of “Discontinued operations,” which includes, in 2009, a loss on sale, net of income tax, and the reclassification of foreign currency 
translation effects accrued in equity for an aggregate amount of approximately $5,901 (US$446). The 2009 loss on the sale of CEMEX’s Australian 
assets includes an expense of approximately $1,310 (US$99) resulting from the reclassification to the statement of operations of foreign currency 
translation effects accrued in equity until the moment of sale, as well as an income tax benefit of approximately $2,528 (US$191).

Selected condensed balance sheet information of discontinued operations of CEMEX in Australia as of September 30, 2009 was as follows: 

 (UNAUDITED) 
 SEPTEMBER 30,  
 2009

Current assets $ 6,027
Investment in associates  2,870
Property, machinery and equipment, net  13,343
Goodwill  8,657
Intangible assets, net  3,885
Other non-current assets  850
 Total assets from discontinued operations  35,632
Short-term debt  1,634
Other current liabilities  2,634
Long-term debt  140
Other non-current liabilities  2,324
 Total liabilities from discontinued operations  6,732
 Net assets from discontinued operations $ 28,900

The following table presents condensed income statement information of the discontinued operations of CEMEX Australia for the nine-month 
period ended September 30, 2009 and the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2008, respectively:

 SEPTEMBER 30,  DECEMBER 31,  
 2009 2008

Sales  $ 13,015 17,536
Cost of sales and operating expenses  (11,817) (15,740)
operating income  1,198 1,796
Other expenses, net  (87) (92)
Comprehensive financial result  (179) (399)
Equity in income of associates  208 229
Income before income tax  1,140 1,534
Income tax  512 563
net income $ 1,652 2,097

Depreciation $ 631 856 
Amortization $ 256 309
Capital expenditures $ 128 737



4. CASH AND INVESTMENTS
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated cash and investments consisted of:

 2010 2009

Cash and bank accounts $ 3,659 11,295
Fixed-income securities  4,683 2,783
Investments in marketable securities  12 26
   $ 8,354 14,104

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the balance of cash and investments excludes amounts deposited in margin accounts that guarantee several 
obligations of CEMEX for approximately $2,918 and $3,962, respectively, of which approximately $1,972 in 2010 and $2,553 in 2009, related to 
derivative financial instruments, were offset against the liabilities of CEMEX with its counterparties. In 2010, fixed-income securities include 
approximately $195 for the CBs reserve (note 12A).

5. TRADE ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated trade accounts receivable consisted of:

 2010 2009

Trade accounts receivable $ 14,439 15,954 
Allowances for doubtful accounts  (2,246) (2,571)
   $ 12,193 13,383

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, trade receivables exclude receivables of $9,968 (US$807) and $9,624 (US$735), respectively, that were sold 
to financial institutions under securitization programs for the sale of trade receivables, established in Mexico, the United States, Spain and 
France. Under these programs, CEMEX effectively surrenders control associated with the trade receivables sold and there is no guarantee or 
obligation to reacquire the assets; therefore, the amount of receivables sold is removed from the balance sheet at the moment of sale, except 
for the amounts owed by the counterparties, which are reclassified to other short-term accounts receivable. Trade receivables qualifying for sale 
exclude amounts over certain days past due or concentrations over certain limits to any one customer, according to the terms of the programs. 
The discount granted to the acquirers of the trade receivables is recorded as financial expense and amounted to approximately $368 (US$29) in 
2010, $645 (US$47) in 2009 and $656 (US$58) in 2008.

CEMEX’s securitization programs are negotiated for specific periods and should be renewed at their maturity, normally for periods of one or two 
years. Programs outstanding in Mexico, the United States, Spain and France mature in December 2011, May 2011, May 2011 and September 
2011, respectively.   

Allowances for doubtful accounts are established according to the credit history and risk profile of each customer. Changes in the valuation 
allowance for doubtful accounts in 2010, 2009 and 2008, were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Allowances for doubtful accounts at beginning of period $ 2,571 2,261 1,991
 Charged to selling expenses  353 777 602
 Deductions  (609) (454)  (523)
 Business combinations  2 – 63
 Foreign currency translation and inflation  (71) (13) 128
Allowances for doubtful accounts at end of period $ 2,246 2,571 2,261

6. OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated other accounts receivable consisted of:

 2010 2009

Non-trade accounts receivable $ 4,262 3,650
Current portion of valuation of derivative instruments  7,448 1,259
Interest and notes receivable  3,412 3,700
Loans to employees and others  264 375
Refundable taxes  738 356
   $ 16,124 9,340

Non-trade accounts receivable are mainly attributable to the sale of assets. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the caption “Interests and notes 
receivable” include $3,306 and $3,083, respectively, arising from uncollected trade receivables sold under securitization programs (note 5), and 
$221 in 2010 and $235 in 2009 arising from the settlement of derivative instruments related to perpetual debentures issued by CEMEX (notes 
12C and 16D).
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7. INVENTORIES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated balances of inventories are summarized as follows:

 2010 2009

Finished goods $ 5,434 5,168
Work-in-process  2,710 3,207
Raw materials  2,783 3,005
Materials and spare parts  4,383 5,729
Advances to suppliers  446 331
Inventory in transit  301 233
Allowance for obsolescence  (513) (482)
   $ 15,544 17,191

During December 2010, as a result of analyses performed during the year, main components of plant and equipment that were held as part 
of materials and spare parts in inventory for approximately $724 (US$59) were reclassified to fixed assets (note 10). CEMEX recognized in the 
statements of operations, inventory impairment losses of approximately $17 in 2010, $91 in 2009 and $81 in 2008. 

8. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated other current assets consisted of:

 2010 2009

Advance payments $ 1,387 1,497
Assets held for sale  965 1,255
   $ 2,352 2,752

Assets held for sale are stated at their estimated realizable value and include real state properties received in payment of trade receivables. During 
2010 and 2009, CEMEX recognized within “Other expenses, net” impairment losses in connection with assets held for sale for approximately 
$420 and $253, respectively.

9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND OTHER INVESTMENTS AND NON-CURRENT ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 
9A) INvESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated investments in shares of associates are summarized as follows:

 2010 2009

Book value at acquisition date $ 3,257 4,961
Changes in stockholders’ equity since acquisition  5,004 5,934
   $ 8,261 10,895

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, investments in shares of associates were as follows:

 ACTIvITY COUNTRY %  2010 2009

Control Administrativo Mexicano, S.A. de C.V. Cement Mexico 49.0 $ 4,366 4,491 
Ready Mix USA, LLC Concrete United States 49.9  66 2,194
Trinidad Cement Ltd Cement Trinidad 20.0  560 591
Cancem, S.A. de C.V. Cement Mexico 10.3  465 478
Société Méridionale de Carrières Aggregates France 33.3  264 331
Société d’Exploitation de Carrières Aggregates France 50.0  188 227
ABC Capital S.A. de C.V.S.F.O.M. Financing Mexico 49.0  333 301
Société des Ciments Antillais Cement French Antilles 26.0  124 173
Huttig Building Products Inc. Materials United States 25.2  48 98
Lehigh White Cement Company Cement United States 24.5  155 214
Other companies – – –  1,692 1,797
      $ 8,261 10,895



As of December 31, 2010, CEMEX’s joint ventures with Ready Mix USA have the following prospective changes:

•	 The	two	joint	ventures,	which	were	created	in	2005,	are	comprised	of	the	following	assets:	a)	CEMEX	Southeast,	LLC,	the	joint	venture	owned	
at 50.01% and consolidated by CEMEX, owns the Demopolis cement plant in Alabama with an annual installed capacity of 0.9 million tons, 
the Clinchfield cement plant in Georgia with an annual installed capacity of 0.8 million tons, and 12 cement terminals; and b) Ready Mix USA 
LLC, the joint venture owned at 50.01% and consolidated by Ready Mix USA, owns 10 sand and gravel pits, 149 concrete plants and 20 block 
plants located throughout the states of Arkansas, Mississippi, Tennessee, Alabama, Georgia, and the Florida Panhandle. Starting on June 30 
2008, Ready Mix USA had the right, but not the obligation, to sell its interest in both entities to CEMEX. 

•	 On	September	30,	2010,	Ready	Mix	USA	exercised	its	put	option.	As	a	result,	upon	closing	of	the	transaction,	which	will	take	place	upon	
performance of the obligations by both parties under the put option agreement and that is expected in or before September 2011, CEMEX 
will acquire its venture partner’s interests in the two joint ventures. CEMEX’s purchase price for its partner’s interests including a non-compete 
agreement will be approximately US$355. Ready Mix USA will continue to manage the joint venture in which it has a majority interest (Ready 
Mix USA LLC) until the closing of the transaction. As of December 31, 2010, CEMEX has not recognized a liability as the fair value of the net 
assets exceeds the estimated purchase price. Had the purchase price exceeded the fair value of the net assets to be acquired, a loss would 
have been recognized. As of December 31, 2010, Ready Mix USA, LLC had approximately US$27 (unaudited) in net debt (debt minus cash 
and cash equivalents), which will be consolidated upon closing of the transaction.

•	 On	February	22,	 2010,	Ready	Mix	USA,	 LLC	 sold	12	quarries	 located	 in	Georgia,	Tennessee	and	Virginia	 and	certain	other	 assets	 to	SPO	
Partners & Co. for US$420. The assets were deemed non strategic by CEMEX and Ready Mix USA. The proceeds from the sale were partly 
used to reduce debt held by Ready Mix USA LLC, and to effect a cash distribution of approximately US$100 to each joint venture partner. 
Furthermore, in January 2008, as part of the joint venture agreements, CEMEX contributed and sold certain assets located also in Georgia, 
Tennessee and Virginia to Ready Mix USA, LLC for approximately US$380 of which US$120 represented the sale of assets and was received 
in cash. The difference between the US$380 and the fair value of the assets of approximately US$437 was included within investment in 
associates. 

On April 2010, CEMEX agreed to participate as a minority investor and invest up to US$100 into the share capital of Blue Rock Cement Holdings 
(“Blue Rock”) to develop a cement plant in Peru, and is evaluating if it will assist, by agreement with the majority shareholders, in the development, 
building, and operation of the plant. The plant is designed to have an initial annual production capacity of 1 million tons and is expected to be 
completed in 2013 with a total investment of around US$230. The construction industry in Peru operates in an attractive market that has seen 
sustained annual growth of over 10% in the past years. This investment falls under permitted terms under CEMEX’s debt financing agreements 
(note 12A). As of December 31, 2010, the project is still in its documentary stage and CEMEX has not made any investment.

In June 2009, CEMEX sold its 49% interest in an aggregates sector joint venture located in Wyoming to Martin Marietta Materials, Inc., as well as 
three quarries located in Nebraska, Wyoming and Utah in the United States, for approximately US$65 and recognized a loss related to the sale 
of these assets of approximately US$64.

In March 2008, CEMEX sold 119 million of CPOs of AXTEL, S.A.B. de C.V. (“AXTEL”), which represented 9.5% of the equity capital of AXTEL for 
approximately $2,738, recognizing a net gain of approximately $1,463 in 2008 within “Other expenses, net.” The sale represented nearly 90% of 
CEMEX’s position in AXTEL, which had been part of CEMEX’s investments in associates.

9B) OTHER INvESTMENTS AND NON-CURRENT ACCOUNTS RECEIvABLE
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, other investments and non-current accounts receivable are summarized as follows:

 2010 2009

Non-current portion of valuation of derivative financial instruments $ 1,615 6,512
Non-current accounts receivable and other assets  12,842 14,205
Investments in private funds  457 532
   $ 14,914 21,249

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, “Non-current accounts receivable and other assets” include $6,203 and $6,147, respectively, related to 
CEMEX’s net investment in its expropriated assets in Venezuela (note 11A), $94 in 2010 and $156 in 2009 of an investment in AXTEL’s CPOs, 
$1,144 in 2010 and $916 in 2009 of an investment restricted for acquisitions in cement, concrete and/or aggregates businesses, as well as $726 
in 2010 and $1,011 in 2009 resulting from the settlement of derivative instruments associated with the perpetual debentures, which are used 
to pay coupons under such instruments (notes 12C and 16D). In 2010, CEMEX recognized impairment losses within “Other expenses, net” for 
approximately $129 related to other assets in the United States. 

In 2010, no contributions were made to private funds. In 2009, contributions to private funds were approximately US$5 ($65). 
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10. PROPERTY, MACHINERY AND EQUIPMENT
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated property, machinery and equipment consisted of:

 2010 2009

Land and mineral reserves $ 76,146 83,568
Buildings  63,391 65,285
Machinery and equipment  240,283 253,797
Construction in progress  12,745 18,433
Accumulated depreciation and depletion  (161,107) (162,220)
   $ 231,458 258,863

Changes in property, machinery and equipment in 2010, 2009 and 2008, excluding the discontinued operations in Australia (note 3B), were as 
follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Cost of property, machinery and equipment at beginning of period $ 421,083 427,529 403,967 
Accumulated depreciation and depletion at beginning of period  (162,220)  (157,248)  (153,953)
net book value at beginning of period  258,863 270,281 250,014
 Capital expenditures  6,963 8,307 22,554
 Capitalization of comprehensive financing result  – 347 609
  Total additions   6,963 8,654 23,163
 Disposals 1  (2,978) (4,040) (5,084)
 Reclassifications 2  724 3,603 (11,656)
 Contribution and sale to associates 3  – – (4,588)
 Additions through business combinations  38 733 98
 Depreciation and depletion for the period  (14,442) (15,963) (15,611)
 Impairment losses  (1,161) (503) (1,045)
 Foreign currency translation effects 4  (16,549) (3,902) 34,990
 Cost of property, machinery and equipment at end of period  392,565 421,083 427,529
 Accumulated depreciation and depletion at end of period  (161,107) (162,220) (157,248) 
net book value at end of period $ 231,458 258,863 270,281

1 In 2010, includes sales of non-strategic fixed assets in the Unites States and Mexico for $1,140 and $749, respectively. In 2009, includes sales in the United States, 
France and Mexico for $2,196, $747 and $293, respectively. In 2008, includes sales for $4,200 in Italy and Spain (note 11A).

2 In 2010, includes the reclassification of main components of plant and equipment for approximately $724 (US$59) from the inventories of materials and 
spare parts (note 7). In 2008, includes the reclassification of CEMEX’s Venezuelan fixed assets as a result of the nationalization of assets for $8,053 and the 
reclassification of fixed assets of Austria and Hungary as assets held for sale for $3,603. Fixed assets from Austria and Hungary were reinstated to this caption in 
2009 for $3,603.

3 Refers to the contribution and sale of assets to Ready Mix USA, LLC in 2008 detailed in note 9A.

4 The effects presented in this caption refer to fluctuations in exchange rates for the period between the functional currency of the reporting unit and the peso.

During 2010, 2009 and 2008, in connection with impairment tests conducted considering certain triggering events, such as the closing and/or 
reduction of operations of cement and ready-mix plants resulting from adjusting the supply to current demand conditions and the transferring 
of installed capacity to more efficient plants, among other factors, CEMEX recognized within “Other expenses, net” impairment losses in 
machinery and equipment in the following countries:

 2010 2009 2008

United States $ 500 154 511
Mexico  138 – –
Germany  103 – –
Thailand  74 – –
Puerto Rico  – 282 –
Poland  92 – 322
Other countries  254 67 212
   $ 1,161 503 1,045

The related assets were adjusted to their estimated realizable value.



11. GOODWILL, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND DEFERRED CHARGES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated goodwill, intangible assets and deferred charges are summarized as follows:

 2010 2009
  ACCUMULATED CARRYING  ACCUMULATED CARRYING 
 COST AMORTIzATION AMOUNT COST AMORTIzATION AMOUNT

Intangible assets of indefinite useful life:
Goodwill $ 142,094 – 142,094 $ 150,827 – 150,827
Intangible assets of definite useful life:
Extraction rights  27,051 (2,738) 24,313  28,986 (2,286) 26,700
Cost of internally developed software  7,664 (6,537) 1,127  7,807 (5,075) 2,732
Industrial property and trademarks  3,476 (2,209) 1,267  3,317 (1,908) 1,409
Customer relationships  4,587 (1,596) 2,991  4,936 (1,224) 3,712
Mining projects  1,969 (600) 1,369  2,161 (431) 1,730
Others intangible assets  7,239 (4,564) 2,675  7,635  (4,665) 2,970
Deferred charges and others:
Deferred income taxes (notes 15A and 15B) 1  24,504 – 24,504  36,751 – 36,751
Deferred financing costs  7,743 (2,186) 5,557  9,333 (1,655) 7,678
   $ 226,327 (20,430) 205,897 $ 251,753 (17,244) 234,509

1 The balance of deferred taxes includes $2 and $3 of deferred ESPS as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

The amortization of intangible assets of definite useful life was approximately $4,032 in 2010, $4,350 in 2009 and $4,088 in 2008, and was 
recognized within operation costs and expenses.  

During 2009, CEMEX capitalized financing costs associated with its debt Financing Agreement (note 12A) for approximately $8,378 (US$616). 
Under MFRS in 2009, CEMEX’s debt Financing Agreement qualified as the issuance of new debt and the extinguishment of the old facilities. 
Consequently, approximately $608 (US$45) in 2009 of deferred financing costs associated with the extinguished debt were recognized 
immediately in the statement of operations.

Goodwill
Goodwill balances by reporting unit as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, are the following:

 2010 2009

north America
United States $ 109,765 116,784
Mexico  6,354 6,354
Europe
Spain   8,750 9,217
United Kingdom  4,254 4,569
France   3,302 3,635
Rest of Europe 1  545 587
Central and South America and the Caribbean
Colombia  5,031 5,109
Dominican Republic  195 226
Rest of Central and South America and the Caribbean 2  714 951
Africa and Middle East
United Arab Emirates  1,275 1,373
Egypt   229 231
Asia
Philippines  1,339 1,425
others
Other reporting units 3  341 366
   $ 142,094 150,827

1 This segment includes reporting units in the Czech Republic and Latvia.

2 This segment includes reporting units in Costa Rica and Panama.

3 This segment is primarily associated with CEMEX’s subsidiary in the information technology and software development business.
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Changes in goodwill in 2010, 2009 and 2008, excluding effects from the discontinued Australian assets (note 3B), were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of period $ 150,827 157,541 142,344
 Increase for business acquisitions  81 504 1,289
 Disposals  (448) (414) (187)
 Impairment losses (note 11B)  (189) – (18,314)
 Foreign currency translation effects 1  (8,177) (6,804) 32,409
Balance at end of period $ 142,094 150,827 157,541

1 The amounts presented in this line item refer to the effects on goodwill from foreign exchange fluctuations during the period between the reporting units’ 
currencies and the Mexican peso.

As mentioned in note 11B, during 2010 and 2008, based on impairment tests made during the last quarter of such years, CEMEX recognized 
within “Other expenses, net” goodwill impairment losses in connection with the reporting units in Puerto Rico for approximately $189 (US$15) 
in 2010, and with the reporting units located in the United States, Ireland and Thailand for approximately $17,476 (US$1,272) in 2008. In addition, 
considering that the investment in CEMEX Venezuela expected to be recovered through means different from use, in 2008, CEMEX recognized 
an impairment loss of approximately $838 (US$61) associated with the goodwill of this investment. Based on impairment tests made during the 
last quarter of the year, no goodwill impairment losses were determined in 2009.

Intangible assets of definite life 
Changes in balances of intangible assets of definite life in 2010, 2009 and 2008, excluding effects from the discontinued Australian assets (note 
3B), were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of period $ 39,253 45,303 40,577 
 Increase for business acquisitions  48 5 404
 Additions (disposals), net 1  (287) 47 1,445
 Amortization  (4,032) (4,350) (4,088)
 Impairment losses 2  (5) (42) (1,598)
 Foreign currency translation effects  (1,235) (1,710) 8,563
Balance at end of period $ 33,742 39,253 45,303

1 CEMEX capitalized the costs incurred in the development stage of internal-use software for $30 in 2010, $161 in 2009 and $1,236 in 2008, related to the 
replacement of the technological platform in which CEMEX executes the most important processes of its business model. The items capitalized refer to direct 
costs incurred in the development phase of the software and relate mainly to professional fees, direct labor and related travel expenses.

2 Considering impairment indicators, during the last quarter of 2008, CEMEX tested intangible assets of definite life for impairment in the United States, and 
determined that the carrying amount of names and commercial trademarks exceeded their value in use, resulting in an impairment loss of approximately 
$1,598. 

11A) MAIN ACQUISITIONS AND DIvESTITURES IN 2010, 2009 AND 2008
Sale of assets in Australia
During 2009, CEMEX sold its Australian operations (note 3B).

Nationalization of CEMEX venezuela
In August 18, 2008, as a result of a nationalization decree aimed to convert the cement industry in a sector controlled by the State, the 
Government of Venezuela expropriated all businesses, assets and shares of CEMEX in such country and took control of its facilities. CEMEX 
controlled and operated CEMEX Venezuela until August 17, 2008. In August 2008, CEMEX decided not to accept a compensation proposal for 
US$650 from the Government of Venezuela, by considering that it significantly undervalued its business in Venezuela, and in proportion to price 
per ton of installed capacity and operating cash flow multiples, was lower than those proposals offered to the other foreign companies for their 
assets in Venezuela. In October 2008, CEMEX submitted a request to the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (“ICSID”), 
seeking international arbitration for the violations of the Venezuelan Government through its confiscation of assets without compensation, 
and deprivation of rights and legal guarantees in the process. The ICSID Tribunal was constituted on July 6, 2009. On July 27, 2010, the arbitral 
tribunal heard arguments on the jurisdictional objections argued by the Republic of Venezuela and issued its decision in favor of jurisdiction on 
December 30, 2010. The proceedings are now expected to proceed to the merits phase of the arbitration. 

At December 31, 2010 and 2009, except for the impairment loss associated to the investment recognized in 2008, CEMEX has not adjusted its 
investment in Venezuela for impairment remaining confident that it will eventually reach an agreement and obtain fair compensation. CEMEX 
carefully evaluates the evolution of the arbitration process with the ICSID and other negotiations to determine if the carrying amount requires 
an impairment adjustment. 



CEMEX’s consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2008 includes the results of CEMEX Venezuela for the seven-
month period ended July 31, 2008. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the investment in Venezuela was presented within “Other investments 
and non current accounts receivable” (note 9B) and amounted to approximately $6,203 and $6,147, respectively, corresponding to CEMEX’s 
equity interest of approximately 75.7%.

For the year 2008, including the Australian discontinued operations, CEMEX measured the materiality of CEMEX Venezuela considering a threshold 
of 5% of consolidated net sales, operating income, net income and total assets as not significant. CEMEX concluded that the nationalized 
Venezuelan operations did not reach the materiality thresholds to be classified as discontinued operations. The quantitative test for the seven-
month period ended July 31, 2008 (unaudited) was as follows:

 JULY 31, 2008 

net sales  3.2%
 CEMEX consolidated from continuing operations $ 134,836
 CEMEX Venezuela  4,286
operating income  4.8%
 CEMEX consolidated from continuing operations $ 16,003
 CEMEX Venezuela 1  775
net income  0.1%
 CEMEX consolidated from continuing operations $ 10,557
 CEMEX Venezuela  11
Total assets  2.1%
 CEMEX consolidated $ 525,756
 CEMEX Venezuela  11,010

1 Changes in the net investment between July 31, 2008 and December 31, 2010 and 2009 are attributable to foreign currency fluctuations.

The following table presents condensed selected income statement information for CEMEX’s operations in Venezuela for the seven-month 
period ended July 31, 2008 (unaudited):

 JULY 31, 2008 

Net sales $ 4,286
Operating income   775
Net income $ 11

Sale of operations in Canary Islands 
On December 26, 2008, through its subsidiary in Spain, CEMEX sold assets in the cement and concrete sectors in the Canary Islands, including its 
50% interest in Cementos Especiales de Las Islas, S.A. (“CEISA”) for approximately €162 (US$227 or $3,113) to a subsidiary of Cimpor Cimentos de 
Portugal SGPS SA. Until the sale, CEMEX controlled CEISA together with another stockholder (Grupo Tudela Beguin) and the financial statements 
were consolidated through the proportional integration method (note 2B). CEMEX’s 2008 consolidated statement of operations includes the 
results of operations of the assets sold, calculated through the proportional integration method for assets related to CEISA, for the twelve-month 
period ended on December 31, 2008. Sale of the CEISA interest and other assets generated a net gain in 2008 of approximately $920, including 
the cancellation of the related goodwill for approximately $18, which was recognized within “Other expenses, net.” 

Selected condensed combined information of income statement of the assets sold and the CEISA interest in 2008 is as follows:

 2008

Net sales $ 2,317
Operating income  283
Net income $ 371

Sale of operations in Italy
In several transactions during 2008, CEMEX sold its cement mill operations in Italy for approximately €148 (US$210 or $2,447), generating a gain 
on the sale of approximately €8 (US$12 or $119), which was recognized within “Other expenses, net.”
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11B) ANALYSIS OF GOODWILL IMPAIRMENT
Goodwill amounts are allocated to the multiple cash generating units, which together constitute a geographic operating segment commonly 
comprising all of the operations in each country. CEMEX’s geographic segments represent its reporting units for purposes of impairment 
testing. An impairment loss would be recognized for the amount that the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the respective fair 
value, represented by the value in use (discounted cash flows) attributable to such reporting unit. Cash flow projection models include long-
term economic variables. CEMEX believes that its discounted cash flow projections and the discount rates used reasonably reflect current 
economic conditions at the time of the calculations, considering that: a) the starting point of the future cash flow models is the operating cash 
flow for the previous period; b) the cost of capital reflects current risks and volatility in the markets; and c) the cost of debt represents CEMEX’s 
specific interest rates observed in recent transactions. 

Impairment tests are significantly sensitive to, among other factors, the estimation of future prices of CEMEX’s products, the development 
of operating expenses, local and international economic trends in the construction industry, long-term growth expectations in the different 
markets, as well as the discount rates and the rates of growth in perpetuity used. CEMEX uses after-tax discount rates, which are applied to 
after-tax cash flows for each reporting unit. Undiscounted cash flows are significantly sensitive to the growth rates in perpetuity used. Likewise, 
discounted cash flows are significantly sensitive to the discount rate used. The higher the growth rate in perpetuity applied, the higher the 
amount obtained of undiscounted future cash flows by reporting unit. Conversely, the higher the discount rate applied, the lower the amount 
obtained of discounted estimated future cash flows by reporting unit.

During the last quarter of 2010, 2009 and 2008, CEMEX performed its annual goodwill impairment test. Based on these analyses, in 2010, CEMEX 
determined an impairment loss of goodwill for approximately $189 (US$15) associated with the reporting unit in Puerto Rico, whereas, in 2008, 
CEMEX determined impairment losses of goodwill for a total of approximately $18,314 (US$1,333), associated with CEMEX’s reporting units 
in the United States, Ireland and Thailand for approximately $16,790 (US$1,222), $233 (US$17) and $453 (US$33), respectively. The estimated 
impairment loss in the United States in 2008 was mainly attributable to the acquisition of the Australian producer Rinker Materials Group 
finalized in 2007, and overall such losses were attributable to the economic environment described in the paragraph below. In addition, 
considering that CEMEX’s investment in Venezuela is expected to be recovered through different means other than use, CEMEX recognized 
in 2008 an impairment loss of approximately $838 (US$61) associated with the goodwill of this investment. For the year 2009, based on its 
goodwill impairment tests, CEMEX did not determined impairment losses of goodwill.

Beginning in the last quarter of 2008, the global economic environment was negatively affected by the intensification of the turmoil in several 
major financial institutions, which caused a liquidity shortage for companies in almost all productive sectors and resulted in a significant 
decrease in overall economic activity and a worldwide downturn in the main stock markets. These situations generated a reduction of growth 
expectations in the countries in which CEMEX operates, motivated by the cancellation or deferral of several investment projects, affecting 
the construction industry. Although in 2009 and 2010 most global macroeconomic variables have stabilized, the construction industry has 
remained depressed in certain countries mainly as a result of the high level of inventories existing at the beginning of the financial crisis, and the 
lack of investment projects considering the reaction of investors to the liquidity problems in countries like Greece, Spain, Ireland and Portugal, 
among others.  

In 2010 and 2009, discount rates and growth rates in perpetuity used to determine the discounted cash flows in the reporting units with the 
main goodwill balances are as follows:

 DISCOUNT RATES GROWTH RATES

 REPORTING UNITS 2010 2009 2010 2009

United States 8.7% 8.5% 2.5% 2.9%
Spain 10.2% 9.4% 2.5% 2.5%
Mexico 10.0% 10.0% 2.5% 2.5%
Colombia 10.0% 10.2% 2.5% 2.5%
France 9.6% 9.6% 2.5% 2.5%
United Arab Emirates 11.5% 11.4% 2.5% 2.5%
United Kingdom 9.7% 9.4% 2.5% 2.5%
Egypt 11.1% 10.0% 2.5% 2.5%
Range of rates in other countries 10.3% – 13.9% 9.6% – 14.6% 2.5% 2.5%



12. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
12A) SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated debt according to the interest rates, the currencies and the type of instrument in which it was 
negotiated is summarized as follows:

 CARRYING AMOUNTS EFFECTIvE RATE 1

 2010 2009 2010 2009

Short-term
Floating rate $ 4,806 7,373 5.2% 5.1%
Fixed rate  831 20 7.8% 5.7%
  5,637 7,393

long-term
Floating rate  120,581 150,273 5.0% 5.0%
Fixed rate  76,600 53,478 7.5% 7.8%
  197,181 203,751
 $ 202,818 211,144

 2010 2009

 CURRENCY SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM TOTAL EFFECTIvE RATE 1 SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM TOTAL EFFECTIvE RATE 1

Dollars $ 176 137,249 137,425 6.5% $ 950 125,441 126,391 5.7%
Euros  600 47,159 47,759 5.5%  431 57,261 57,692 5.6%
Pesos   4,705 12,636 17,341 6.8%  4,379 20,877 25,256 6.5%
Other currencies  156 137 293 5.4%  1,633 172 1,805 5.3%
 $ 5,637 197,181 202,818  $ 7,393 203,751 211,144

1 Represents the weighted average effective interest rate.

 2010 SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM 2009 SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM

Bank loans Bank loans
Loans in Mexico, 2011 to 2014 $ – 2,217 Loans in Mexico, 2010 to 2014  $ – 3,348
Loans in foreign countries,     Loans in foreign countries,  
 2011 to 2018  499 27,985       2010 to 2018  2,275 33,842
Syndicated loans, 2011 to 2014  – 83,741 Syndicated loans, 2010 to 2014  – 100,593
    499 113,943   2,275 137,783

notes payable notes payable
Notes payable in Mexico, 2011 to 2017  – 13,224 Notes payable in Mexico, 2010 to 2017  – 19,041
Medium-term notes, 2011 to 2020  – 72,471 Medium-term notes, 2010 to 2017  – 48,221
Other notes payable, 2011 to 2025  574 2,107 Other notes payable, 2010 to 2025  1,177 2,647
    574 87,802   1,177 69,909
Total bank loans and notes payable  1,073 201,745 Total bank loans and notes payable  3,452 207,692
Current maturities  4,564 (4,564) Current maturities  3,941 (3,941)
   $ 5,637 197,181  $ 7,393 203,751

Relevant transactions during 2010 and 2009
As detailed elsewhere in note 12A, on August 14, 2009, CEMEX entered into the Financing Agreement with its major creditors. The Financing 
Agreement extended the maturity of approximately US$14,961 ($195,839) in syndicated and bilateral loans, private placement obligations and 
other obligations. On October 25, 2010, CEMEX and its lenders under the Financing Agreement agreed to amendments which prospectively 
modify the requirements of certain financial ratios and tests.

On December 15, 2010, CEMEX prepaid US$100 toward maturities due in June 2012 under the Financing Agreement, reducing the June 2012 
amortization amount to US$47. CEMEX intends to achieve its milestones of debt reduction negotiated under the Financing Agreement in order 
to maintain the current applicable margin until at least December 2011.

In June 2010, CEMEX concluded an early cash payment of $4,077 (US$330) in long-term CBs (“Certificados Bursátiles de Largo Plazo”) following 
a public tender offer and the exercise of a call option. For the early payment of CBs, CEMEX used proceeds from the optional convertible 
subordinated notes (the “Optional Convertible Notes”) issued in March 2010 (see following page). As of December 31, 2010, the balance of CBs 
outstanding under this program amounted to $198 (US$16). These CBs mature in March 2011. 



66
—
67

In May 2010, CEMEX exchanged at a discount, part of each series of its perpetual debentures (note 16D) into new senior secured notes as follows: 
(1) US$1,067 senior secured notes denominated in dollars maturing in May 2020, with an annual coupon of 9.25% and callable commencing on 
the fifth anniversary of their issuance; and (2) €115 (US$153) senior secured notes denominated in euros maturing in May 2017, with an annual 
coupon of 8.875% and callable commencing on the fourth anniversary of their issuance. The senior secured notes, which were issued by our 
subsidiary CEMEX España, S.A., acting through its Luxembourg branch, are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., CEMEX 
México S.A. de C.V. and New Sunward Holding B.V., and have a pari passu over the collateral and all proceeds of the collateral granted to the 
financial institutions under CEMEX’s Financing Agreement and other secured lenders. As a result of the exchange, CEMEX generated a gain of 
approximately $5,401 (US$437), representing the difference between the amount of perpetual debentures reacquired and the amount of new 
secured notes issued, which was recorded in “Other equity reserves.”

On March 30, 2010, CEMEX issued US$715 aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Optional Convertible Subordinated Notes due 2015, including 
the full exercise of the US$65 over-allotment option granted to the initial purchasers of the notes. The notes are subordinated to all the Parent 
Company’s liabilities and commitments. The holders of the notes have the option to convert their notes for CEMEX’s ADSs at a conversion price 
per ADS 30% higher than the ADS price at the pricing of the transaction. In connection with the offering, CEMEX entered into a capped call 
transaction expected to generally reduce the potential dilution cost to CEMEX upon future conversion of the notes (note 12C). Based on MFRS, 
the optional convertible notes contain a liability component and an equity component (note 2K). The equity component, which represents 
the premium of the noteholders’ call option, amounted to $1,232 and was recognized upon issuance within “Other equity reserves.” As of 
December 31, 2010, the liability component amounted to approximately $7,690 (US$622). After antidilution adjustments, the conversion rate 
as of December 31, 2010 was 76.4818 ADS per each 1 thousand dollars principal amount of such notes.

On January 13, 2010, through a reopening of the offering of its 9.5% notes due in 2016, which are described in the paragraph below, CEMEX 
issued notes for an additional amount of US$500. The additional notes were issued at a price of US$105.25 per US$100 principal amount plus 
accrued interest from December 14, 2009 with a yield to maturity of 8.477%. CEMEX used approximately US$411 of the net proceeds to prepay 
principal due in 2011 under CEMEX’s Financing Agreement and the difference was used for general corporate purposes. The original and 
additional notes are guaranteed by several CEMEX’s operating subsidiaries.

In December 2009, CEMEX issued U.S. dollar-denominated notes for US$1,250, maturing in 7 years with annual coupon of 9.5%, as well as euro-
denominated notes for €350 (US$501), maturing in 8 years with an annual coupon of 9.625%. The proceeds obtained from the offerings were 
mainly used to prepay principal outstanding maturing in 2011 under the Financing Agreement. 

In December 2009, CEMEX completed its offer to exchange CBs issued in Mexico with maturities between 2010 and 2012, into mandatorily 
convertible securities for approximately $4,126 (US$315). Reflecting antidilution adjustments, at their scheduled conversion in ten years or 
earlier if the price of the CPO reaches approximately $34.50, the securities will be mandatorily convertible into approximately 179.4 million CPOs 
at a conversion price of approximately $23.00 per CPO. During their tenure, the securities yield a 10% interest payable quarterly. Holders have an 
option to voluntarily convert their securities, after the first anniversary of their issuance, on any interest payment date into CPOs. Based on MFRS, 
the convertible securities represent a compound instrument which has a liability component and an equity component. At December 31, 2010 
and 2009, the liability component, which represents the net present value of interest payments on the principal amount, without assuming any 
early conversion, amounted to $1,994 and $2,090, respectively, and was recognized within “Other financial obligations.” The equity component, 
which represents the difference between the principal amount and the liability component at the beginning of the transaction for $1,971, was 
recognized within “Other equity reserves.”

The most representative exchange rates for the financial debt are as follows:

 JANUARY 27, 2011 2010 2009

Mexican pesos per dollar 12.04 12.36 13.09
Euros per dollar 0.7302 0.7499 0.6985

Changes in consolidated debt as of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Debt at beginning of year $ 211,144 258,074 216,895
 Proceeds from new debt instruments  20,026 40,223 59,568
 Debt repayments  (29,641) (76,035) (63,179)
 Issuance of debt in exchange for perpetual notes   15,437 – –
 Exchange of debt into convertible securities  – (4,126) –
 Decrease from business combinations  – – (776)
 Foreign currency translation and inflation effects  (14,148) (6,992) 45,566
Debt at end of year $ 202,818 211,144 258,074



The maturities of consolidated long-term debt as of December 31, 2010, which reflect the amortization of debt under the Financing Agreement, 
are as follows:

 2010

2012 $ 14,377
2013  29,831
2014  99,955
2015  7,795
2016 and thereafter  45,223
 $ 197,181

As of December 31, 2010, CEMEX has the following lines of credit, the majority of which are subject to the banks’ availability, at annual interest 
rates ranging between 1.39% and 11.35%, depending on the negotiated currency:

 LINES OF CREDIT AvAILABLE

Other lines of credit in foreign subsidiaries $ 6,722 4,055
Other lines of credit from banks  365 290
   $ 7,087 4,345

Financing Agreement
On October 25, 2010, as described in the “Covenants” section within this note, CEMEX and its lenders under the Financing Agreement agreed 
to amendments which prospectively modify certain financial ratios and other financial tests. In addition, CEMEX’s creditors under the Financing 
Agreement consented to the following amendments: a) allowing CEMEX to use the proceeds from a permitted fundraising to be applied to 
repay short-term promissory notes (“Certificados Bursátiles” or “CBs”) issued in Mexico; b) allowing CEMEX to replenish its CBs reserve with cash 
on hand or disposal proceeds following a voluntary prepayment of debt under the Financing Agreement made using amounts from the CBs 
reserve; c) assuming that specified debt reductions are met, allowing CEMEX to apply the proceeds from equity or equity-linked securities 
to the CBs reserve in the same way as it was permitted for proceeds from debt and convertible securities; d) the modification of solvency 
tests applying to certain intermediate holding companies to permit the elimination of subordinated intercompany liabilities; e) assuming that 
specified debt reductions are met, allowing the Parent Company to provide guarantees in connection with the refinancing of certain debt held 
by subsidiaries in Holland and Spain; f ) permitting CEMEX to enter into a greater variety of derivative transactions for hedging exposures under 
voluntary convertible/exchangeable obligations, and permitting CEMEX to enter into such transactions with respect to mandatorily convertible 
securities; g) if by September 30, 2011, CEMEX has not issued equity or equity-linked securities for at least US$1,000, the interest rate on its debt 
under the Financing Agreement will increase until such amount of equity or equity-linked securities has been issued, and CEMEX will have the 
obligation, by an additional securities demand of its Financing Agreement creditors, to issue such securities prior to 6 months after the date of 
the additional securities demand. The interest rate increase will apply until that amount of equity or equity-linked securities is issued. To obtain 
the amendments package, CEMEX paid a fee to its creditors under the Financing Agreement. Unless CEMEX is able to repay approximately 
US$1,500 by December 31, 2011, of the debt outstanding under the Financing Agreement, CEMEX will be required to pay an additional fee in 
January 2012. CEMEX believes that the aforementioned amendments will increase its flexibility to refinance and/or repay existing debt.

On August 14, 2009, CEMEX entered into the Financing Agreement with its major creditors, by means of which the maturities of approximately 
US$14,961 ($195,839) in syndicated and bilateral loans, private placements and other obligations were extended, providing for a semi-annual 
amortization schedule. The Financing Agreement is guaranteed by several CEMEX’s operating subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2010, after the 
application in 2010 of the proceeds obtained in the reopening of its 9.5% notes and the issuance of its 4.875% optional convertible subordinated 
notes, mainly, and in 2009, the application of the net proceeds obtained from the sale of assets in Australia, the equity offering (note 16A) 
and the issuance of dollar and euro-denominated notes described above, the remaining debt balance under the Financing Agreement is of 
approximately US$9,566 ($118,235), with payments due for approximately US$47 in June 2012, US$391 in December 2012, US$1,179 in June 
2013, US$1,179 in December 2013 and US$6,770 in February 2014. In addition, if CEMEX is able to further prepay approximately US$2,301 by 
December 31, 2011, CEMEX will avoid an increase in the interest rate of debt under the Financing Agreement between 0.5% and 1.0% per 
annum, depending on the amount of prepayments made.

Under the Financing Agreement, in addition to complying with certain financial ratios and restrictions, and subject in each case to the permitted 
negotiated amounts and other exceptions, CEMEX is limited in its ability to incur new debt, grant guarantees, engage in acquisitions and/or joint 
ventures, declare and pay cash dividends and make other cash distributions to stockholders. Furthermore, the Financing Agreement requires, in 
addition to the scheduled debt amortization, the application of cash on hand for any period for which it is being calculated in excess of US$650 
to prepay debt (other than as may be held in the CBs reserve pursuant to the terms of the Financing Agreement), and that aggregate capital 
expenditures should not exceed US$800 for 2011 and each year thereafter until debt under the Financing Agreement has been repaid in full.
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Covenants
Most debt contracts of CEMEX require the compliance with financial ratios calculated on a consolidated basis, which mainly include: a) the ratio 
of net debt to operating EBITDA (“leverage ratio”); and b) the ratio of operating EBITDA to financial expense (“coverage ratio”). Financial ratios 
are calculated according to formulas established in the debt contracts and require in most cases pro forma adjustments, using definitions that 
differ from terms defined under MFRS.

As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, taking into account the Financing Agreement and its amendment thereto, the modifications to the 
credit contracts and the waivers obtained, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. and its subsidiaries were in compliance with the restrictive covenants imposed 
by its debt contracts. The main consolidated financial ratios were as follows:

 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL RATIOS 1 2010 2009 2008

Leverage ratio 2, 3 Limit =< 7.75 N/A =< 4.5
  Calculation 7.43 N/A 4.04
Coverage ratio 4 Limit > 1.75 N/A > 2.5
  Calculation 1.95 N/A 4.82

1 Beginning on August 14, 2009, even though the financial ratios under the Financing Agreement use similar terminology, they are calculated differently as 
compared to the financial ratios effective until December 31, 2008 and before the completion of the Financing Agreement.

2 The leverage ratio is calculated in pesos by dividing “funded debt” by pro forma operating income plus depreciation and amortization (“operating EBITDA”) for 
the last twelve months as of the calculation date. Funded debt equals debt, as reported in the balance sheet excluding finance leases, plus perpetual debentures 
and guarantees, minus convertible securities, plus or minus the fair value of derivative financial instruments, as corresponds, among other adjustments. In 
2008, the leverage ratio was calculated in U.S. dollars using net debt by pro forma operating EBITDA for the last twelve months as of the calculation date. Net 
debt included debt, as reported in the balance sheet, plus the negative fair value or minus the positive fair value of cross currency swap derivative financial 
instruments associated with debt, minus cash and temporary investments.

3 For purposes of calculating the leverage ratio, the pro forma operating EBITDA represents, all calculated in pesos, operating EBITDA for the last twelve months 
as of the calculation date, plus the portion of operating EBITDA referring to such twelve-month period of any significant acquisition made in the period before 
its consolidation in CEMEX, minus operating EBITDA referring to such twelve-month period of any significant disposal that had already been liquidated. In 2008, 
pro forma operating EBITDA was determined also in pesos, but considering a different conversion methodology, and included financial income. 

4 The coverage ratio is calculated in pesos using the amounts arising from the financial statements, by dividing the pro forma operating EBITDA by the financial 
expense for the last twelve months as of the calculation date. Financial expense includes interest accrued on the perpetual debentures. In 2008, the coverage 
ratio was calculated also in pesos but considering a different conversion methodology. Operating EBITDA included financial income, while financial expense 
did not include interest accrued on the perpetual debentures.

On October 25, 2010, amendments were made to the Financing Agreement financial ratios and tests, including a coverage ratio of not less 
than (i) 1.75 times for each semi-annual period beginning on June 30, 2010 through December 31, 2012; and (ii) 2.0 times for the remaining 
semi-annual periods to December 31, 2013. In addition, the maximum leverage ratio must not exceed 7.75 times for each semi-annual period 
beginning on June 30, 2010 through the period ending June 30, 2011, decreasing to 7.0 times for the period ending December 31, 2011, and 
decreasing gradually for subsequent semi-annual periods to 4.25 times for the period ending December 31, 2013.

Upon completion of the Financing Agreement in August 2009 and before the amendments described above, the consolidated ratio of operating 
EBITDA to financial expense was of not less than: (i) 1.75 times for each semi-annual period beginning on June 30, 2010 through the period 
ending on June 30, 2011; (ii) 2.0 times for each semi-annual period through December 31, 2012; and (iii) 2.25 times for the subsequent semi-
annual periods until December 31, 2013. In addition, the maximum leverage ratio was of 7.75 times for each semi-annual period beginning on 
June 30, 2010, decreasing gradually in subsequent semi-annual periods until reaching 3.50 times for the period ending December 31, 2013. For 
the year ended December 31, 2009, no such financial ratios under the Financing Agreement were applicable. 

CEMEX will classify all of its outstanding debt as current debt in the CEMEX’s balance sheet if: 1) as of any relevant measurement date on which 
CEMEX fails to comply with the financial ratios agreed upon pursuant to the Financing Agreement; or 2) as of any date prior to a subsequent 
measurement date on which CEMEX expects not to be in compliance with its financial ratios agreed upon under the Financing Agreement, in 
the absence of: a) amendments and/or waivers covering the next succeeding 12 months; b) high probability that the violation will be cured 
during any agreed upon remediation period and be sustained for the next succeeding 12 months; and/or c) a signed refinancing agreement 
to refinance the relevant debt on a long-term basis. The aforementioned classification of debt in the short-term could have a material adverse 
effect on CEMEX’s liquidity and financial position.



12B) FAIR vALUE OF ASSETS, FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND DERIvATIvE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial assets and liabilities
CEMEX’s carrying amounts of cash, trade accounts receivable, other accounts receivable, trade accounts payable, other accounts payable 
and accrued expenses, as well as short-term debt, approximate their corresponding estimated fair values due to the short-term maturity and 
revolving nature of these financial assets and liabilities. Temporary investments (cash equivalents), long-term accounts receivable and long-term 
investments are recognized at fair value, considering quoted market prices for the same or similar instruments to the extent available.

The estimated fair value of long-term debt is either based on estimated market prices for such or similar instruments, considering interest rates 
currently available for CEMEX to negotiate debt with the same maturities, or determined by discounting future cash flows using interest rates 
currently available to CEMEX. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the carrying amounts of long-term debt (including current maturities) and 
their respective fair values were as follows:

 2010 2009
 CARRYING  CARRYING 
 AMOUNT FAIR vALUE AMOUNT FAIR vALUE

Bank loans $ 113,943 113,943 137,783 137,783
Notes payable  87,802 87,146 69,909 68,503

12C) DERIvATIvE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
CEMEX has negotiated interest rate swaps, cross currency swaps, forward contracts and other foreign exchange derivatives, as well as forward 
contracts and other derivative instruments on CEMEX’s own shares and third parties’ shares, with the objective, depending in each case of:  
a) changing the profile of the interest rates and/or the interest rates and currencies originally negotiated in a portion of the debt; b) changing 
the mix of currencies of the debt; c) hedging certain net investments in foreign subsidiaries; d) changing the risk profile associated with the price 
of raw materials and other energy projects; and e) other corporate purposes.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the notional amounts and fair values of CEMEX’s derivative instruments were as follows: 

 2010 2009
  NOTIONAL FAIR NOTIONAL FAIR 
 (U.S. DOLLARS MILLIONS) AMOUNT vALUE  AMOUNT vALUE 

I. Interest rate swaps US$ 196 35 202 27
II. Equity forwards on third party shares  53 15 54 54
III. Forward instruments over indexes  16 1 55 1
IV. Options on CEMEX’s own shares  1,575 (71) 860 (79)
   US$ 1,840 (20) 1,171 3

The caption “Results from financial instruments” included gains and losses related to the recognition of changes in fair values of the derivative 
instruments portfolio during the applicable period and that represented net losses of approximately $849 (US$67) in 2010, $2,160 (US$141) in 
2009 and $15,253 (US$1,229) in 2008. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, pursuant to net balance settlement agreements, cash deposits in 
margin accounts that guarantee obligations through derivative financial instruments, were offset with the fair value of the derivative instruments 
for approximately US$160 ($1,978) and US$195 ($2,553), respectively. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the main exposure of CEMEX is related to changes in the prices of its CPO and third party shares. A significant 
decrease in the market price of CEMEX’s CPOs and third party shares would negatively affect CEMEX’s liquidity and financial position. 

During October 2008, many companies experienced a period of greater volatility in the global securities and exchange markets, as part of 
the further worsening financial institutions’ crisis. The crisis affected the availability of financing and companies’ perceived risks, resulting from 
expectations of entering into an extended economic recession. Particularly in Mexico, during the period from October 1 to 16, 2008, the peso 
depreciated against the dollar by approximately 19%, representing two thirds of the total depreciation of the peso against the dollar during 
2008 of approximately 26%. Meanwhile, the price of CEMEX’s CPO decreased 58% in that same period. These factors had a significant negative 
effect on the valuation of CEMEX’s derivative instruments portfolio, particularly the valuation of foreign exchange forward contracts that hedged 
CEMEX’s net investment in foreign subsidiaries and cross currency swaps related to debt, as well as forward contracts in CEMEX’s CPOs, among 
others.  In the aforementioned period, changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments portfolio represented losses of approximately 
US$976 ($13,410), which affected the availability of CEMEX’s lines of credit and triggered the need to make significant deposits in margin 
accounts with the counterparties, negatively affecting CEMEX’s liquidity. In light of an uncertain economic outlook and the expectation of 
further worsening of the economic variables, CEMEX elected to neutralize its derivative instruments positions that were sensitive to fluctuations 
of the exchange rate of the peso vis-à-vis foreign currencies and the price of its CPOs. 

In order to neutralize those positions and considering contractual limitations to settle the contracts before their maturity date, in October 
2008, CEMEX entered into new derivative instruments with the same counterparties, which represented the opposite position to the exposure 
resulting from fluctuations of the economic variables included in the original derivative instruments. As a result, from the date of the negotiation 
of the new opposite positions, any changes in the fair value of the original instruments has been effectively offset by an equivalent inverse 
amount generated by the new positions. The derivative instruments still exposed to changes in fair value were designated as “Active derivative 
financial instruments.” In addition, CEMEX designated the portfolio of original and opposite derivative positions as “Inactive derivative financial 
instruments.”
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During April 2009, following negotiations with its creditors, CEMEX completed the settlement of a significant portion of its active and inactive 
derivative financial instruments held at the beginning of the year in order to reduce the risk of further margin calls. By means of this settlement, 
CEMEX recognized in 2009 an aggregate loss of approximately US$1,093, which after netting US$624 of cash margin deposits already posted 
in favor of CEMEX’s counterparties and cash payments of approximately US$48, was documented through promissory notes for approximately 
US$421, which increased CEMEX’s outstanding debt. Previously, in February 2009, CEMEX and its counterparties agreed the settlement of a 
portion of the obligations incurred through derivative instruments. The counterparties permanently withdrew part of the amounts deposited 
in such margin accounts at the beginning of the year for an amount of approximately US$392, of which approximately US$102 referred to active 
positions and approximately US$290 referred to inactive positions. 

As mentioned above, all Cross Currency Swaps (“CCS”) outstanding at the beginning of 2009 were settled in April 2009. In 2009 and 2008, 
changes in the fair value of CCS generated losses of approximately US$61 ($830) and US$216 ($2,421), respectively.

As previously mentioned, all outstanding foreign exchange forward contracts at the beginning of 2009 were settled in April 2009. Until October 
2008, in order to hedge financial risks associated with fluctuations in foreign exchange rates of certain net investments in foreign countries 
denominated in euros and dollars to the peso, and consequently, reducing volatility in the value of stockholders’ equity in CEMEX’s reporting 
currency, CEMEX negotiated foreign exchange forward contracts with different maturities until 2010. Changes in the estimated fair value of 
these instruments were recorded in stockholders’ equity as part of the foreign currency translation effect. The designation of the original 
positions as hedges of CEMEX’s net exposure on investments in foreign subsidiaries in stockholders’ equity terminated with the negotiation 
of the opposite derivative positions in October 2008. Therefore, changes in fair value of original positions and opposite derivative positions 
were recognized prospectively in the statement of operations. Valuation effects were recognized within stockholders’ equity until the hedge 
designation was revoked, adjusting the cumulative effect for translation of foreign subsidiaries. 

On July 15, 2009, in connection with the derivative financial instruments associated with CEMEX’s perpetual debentures (note 16D), by means 
of which the Company changed the risk profile of the interest rates and the currencies of the debentures from the U.S. dollar and the euro 
to the yen; and in order to eliminate CEMEX’s exposure to the yen and the yen interest rate, CEMEX concluded the settlement of its yen cross 
currency swap derivatives, as well as the forward contracts for US$196 as of December 2008, negotiated to eliminate the variability of cash 
flows in yen to be incurred through the CCS until 2010, in which CEMEX received cash flows in yen and paid U.S. dollars. As a result, a total 
amount of approximately US$94 was invested with trustees for the benefit of the debenture holders. This amount is being used to pay CEMEX’s 
coupons on the perpetual debentures. As a result of this settlement, during 2009, CEMEX recognized a loss from changes in the fair value of the 
instruments of approximately US$162 ($2,203). As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the balance of the investment placed in the trusts amounted 
to approximately $902 and $1,011, respectively. 

The estimated fair value of derivative instruments fluctuates over time and is determined by measuring the effect of future relevant economic 
variables according to the yield curves shown in the market as of the reporting date. These values should be analyzed in relation to the fair 
values of the underlying transactions and as part of CEMEX’s overall exposure attributable to fluctuations in interest rates and foreign exchange 
rates. The notional amounts of derivative instruments do not represent amounts exchanged by the parties, and consequently, there is no direct 
measure of CEMEX’s exposure to the use of these derivatives. The amounts exchanged are determined based on the basis of the notional 
amounts and other terms included in the derivative instruments.

I. Interest rate swap contracts
As mentioned above, all outstanding interest rate swaps related to debt at the beginning of 2009 were settled in April 2009. Changes in fair 
value of interest rate swaps, including the swap described in the following paragraph, generated a gain of approximately US$9 ($114) in 2010, 
and losses of approximately US$2 ($27) in 2009 and US$170 ($1,906) in 2008.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, CEMEX had an interest rate swap maturing in September 2022 with notional amounts of US$196 and 
US$202, respectively, negotiated to exchange floating for fixed rates in connection with agreements entered into by CEMEX for the acquisition 
of electric energy in Mexico (note 19C). As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value of the swap represented gains of approximately US$35 
and US$27, respectively. Pursuant to this instrument, during the tenure of the swap and based on its notional amount, CEMEX will receive a 
fixed rate of 5.4% and will pay a LIBO rate, which is the international reference for debt denominated in U.S. dollars. As of December 31, 2010 
and 2009, LIBOR was 0.46% and 0.43%, respectively. Changes in the fair value of this instrument generated a gain of approximately US$9 ($114) 
in 2010, a loss of approximately US$27 ($367) in 2009 and a gain of approximately US$36 ($404) in 2008.

II. Equity forwards in third party shares
In connection with the sale of CPOs of AXTEL (note 9A) and in order to maintain the exposure to changes in the price of such entity, in March 
2008, CEMEX entered into a forward contract to be settled in cash over the price of 119 million CPOs of AXTEL (59.5 million CPOs with each 
counterparty) which originally was set to mature in April 2011. During 2009, in order to reset the exercise price included in the contract, 
CEMEX instructed the counterparties to definitively dispose of the deposits in margin accounts for approximately $207 and the counterparties 
exercised an option to maintain the contract over 59.5 million CPOs of AXTEL each until October 2011. During 2010, one of the counterparties 
further extended the maturity of 50% of the notional amount of this forward contract to April 2012. Changes in the fair value of this instrument 
generated a loss of approximately US$43 ($545) in 2010, a gain of approximately US$32 ($435) in 2009 and a loss of approximately US$196 
($2,197) in 2008. 

III. Forward instruments over indexes
During 2008, CEMEX negotiated forward derivative instruments over the TRI (Total Return Index) of the Mexican Stock Exchange, maturing in 
October 2009, through which CEMEX maintained exposure to increases or decreases of such index. TRI expresses the market return on stocks 
based on market capitalization of the issuers comprising the index. At their maturity in 2009, these derivative instruments were renegotiated 
until October 2010 and subsequently were further extended until October 2011. Changes in the fair value of these instruments generated gains 
of approximately US$5 ($63) in 2010 and US$18 ($245) in 2009 and a loss of approximately US$32 ($359) in 2008.



Iv. Options on CEMEX’s own shares
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, there are options based on the price of CEMEX’s ADS for a notional amount of US$500 in both years maturing 
in August 2011, structured within a debt transaction of US$500 ($6,870) issued in June 2008, pursuant to which if the ADS price exceeds 
approximately US$30.4, as adjusted as of December 31, 2010, the net interest rate of this debt would be zero. This rate increases as the price 
of the ADS decreases, with a maximum rate of 12% when the price per ADS is below approximately US$20.5, as adjusted as of December 31, 
2010. CEMEX values the options based on the price of its ADS at fair value, recognizing gains and losses in the statements of operations. As of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value represented liabilities of approximately US$71 ($878) and US$77 ($952), respectively, which included 
deposits in margin accounts of approximately US$105 ($1,298) in 2010 and US$54 ($707) in 2009. Changes in the fair value were recognized in 
the statements of operations within “Results from financial instruments,” representing losses of approximately US$21 ($266) in 2010, a gain of 
approximately US$2 ($25) in 2009 and a loss of approximately US$150 ($1,681) in 2008.

On March 30, 2010, in connection with the offering of the Optional Convertible Notes and with the intention to effectively increase the conversion 
price for CEMEX’s CPOs under such notes, CEMEX entered into a capped call transaction over approximately 52.6 million ADSs maturing in March 
2015, by means of which, at maturity of the notes, if the price per ADS is above US$13.60 CEMEX will receive in cash the difference between the 
market price of the ADS and US$13.60, with a maximum appreciation per ADS of US$5.23. CEMEX paid a premium of approximately US$105. 
As of December 31, 2010, the fair value of such contract represented an asset of approximately US$95 ($1,174). During 2010, changes in the fair 
value of this instrument generated a loss of approximately US$11 ($139), which was recognized in the statements of operations.

In April 2008, Citibank entered into put option transactions on CEMEX’s CPOs with a Mexican trust that CEMEX established on behalf of its 
Mexican pension fund and certain of CEMEX’s directors and current and former employees, as described in note 19C. CEMEX granted a guarantee 
over this transaction for a notional amount of approximately US$360. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the fair value of such guarantee, net of 
deposits in margin accounts, represented liabilities of approximately US$95 ($1,174) and US$2 ($26), respectively. Changes in the fair value were 
recognized in the statements of operations within “Results from financial instruments,” representing a loss of approximately US$6 ($76) in 2010, 
a gain of approximately US$51 ($694) in 2009 and a loss of approximately US$190 ($2,130) in 2008. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, cash 
deposits in margin accounts were approximately US$55 ($680) and US$141 ($1,846), respectively. 

In addition, in October 2008, through the early settlement of forward contracts over approximately 81 million CPOs, CEMEX realized a loss of 
approximately US$153 ($2,102), which was recognized in the 2008 results. 

13. OTHER CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated other current accounts payable and accrued expenses were as follows:

 2010 2009

Provisions $ 9,372 8,581
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses  2,967 2,942
Taxes payable  6,911 7,537
Advances from customers  1,564 2,408
Interest payable  1,697 1,752
Current liabilities for valuation of derivative instruments  8,140 – 
Dividends payable  30 31
   $ 30,681 23,251

Current provisions primarily consist of employee benefits accrued at the balance sheet date, insurance payments, and accruals related to legal 
and environmental assessments expected to be settled in the short-term (note 20). These amounts are revolving in nature and are expected to 
be settled and replaced by similar amounts within the next 12 months.

Other non-current liabilities include the best estimate of cash flows with respect to diverse issues where CEMEX is determined to be responsible 
and which are expected to be settled over a period greater than 12 months. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated other non-current 
liabilities were as follows:

 2010 2009

Asset retirement obligations 1 $ 5,658 5,322
Environmental liabilities 2  849 754
Accruals for legal assessments and other responsibilities 3  2,665 1,169
Non-current liabilities for valuation of derivative instruments  1,207 7,923
Other non-current liabilities and provisions 4  12,101 14,769
   $ 22,480 29,937

1 Provisions for asset retirement include future estimated costs for demolition, cleaning and reforestation of production sites at the end of their operation, which 
are initially recognized against the related assets and are depreciated over their estimated useful life.

2 Environmental liabilities include future estimated costs arising from legal or constructive obligations, related to cleaning, reforestation and other remedial actions 
to remediate damage caused to the environment. The expected average period to settle these obligations is greater than 15 years.

3 Provisions for legal claims and other responsibilities include items related to tax contingencies.

4 As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, includes approximately $9,578 and $10,073, respectively, of taxes payable recognized during 2009 as a result of changes to 
the tax consolidation regime in Mexico (note 15A).
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As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, some significant proceedings that gave rise to a portion of the carrying amount of CEMEX’s other non-
current liabilities and provisions are detailed in note 20.

Changes in consolidated other non-current liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, excluding changes in liabilities 
related to 2009 sale of assets in Australia, are the following:
 2010 2009 2008

Balance at beginning of period $ 29,937 22,710 15,492
 Current period additions due to new obligations or increase in estimates  3,438 16,003 9,522
 Current period releases due to payments or decrease in estimates  (916) (9,153) (2,276)
 Additions due to business combinations  5 48 64
 Reclassification from current to non-current liabilities, net  (8,654) 1,186 (236)
 Foreign currency translation and inflation effects  (1,330) (857) 144 
Balance at end of period $ 22,480 29,937 22,710

14. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Defined contribution plans
The costs of defined contribution plans for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were approximately $550, $479 and $708, 
respectively.

Defined benefit plans 
For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the net periodic cost for pension plans, other postretirement benefits and termination 
benefits are summarized as follows:
 PENSIONS OTHER BENEFITS 1 TOTAL

nET PErIoD CoST: 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008 2010 2009 2008

Service cost $ 273 295 399 107 115 124 380 410 523
Interest cost  1,825 1,834 1,706 125 134 117 1,950 1,968 1,823
Actuarial return on plan assets  (1,310) (1,382) (1,614) (2) (1) (2) (1,312) (1,383) (1,616)
Amortization of prior service cost,  
 transition liability and actuarial results  443 327 138 74 156 121 517 483 259
Loss (gain) for settlements and curtailments  (7) 68 33 (52) (38) (15) (59) 30 18
   $ 1,224 1,142 662 252 366 345 1,476 1,508 1,007

1 Includes the net periodic cost of termination benefits.

The reconciliations of the actuarial benefits obligations, pension plan assets, and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009 are presented as follows:

 PENSIONS OTHER BENEFITS TOTAL

 2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

Change in benefits obligation:
Projected benefit obligation at  
 beginning of year $ 33,334 28,709 1,946 1,834 35,280 30,543
Service cost  273 295 107 115 380 410
Interest cost  1,825 1,834 125 134 1,950 1,968
Actuarial results  1,602 3,685 120 227 1,722 3,912
Employee contributions  58 73 – – 58 73
Changes for acquisitions (disposals)  7 250 1 (6) 8 244
Foreign currency translation and  
 inflation effects  (2,652) 520 (78) (11) (2,730) 509
Settlements and curtailments  (10) (295) (27) (65) (37) (360)
Benefits paid  (1,885) (1,737) (166) (282) (2,051) (2,019)
Projected benefit obligation at end of year  32,552 33,334 2,028 1,946 34,580 35,280
Change in plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year  21,659 19,760 22 19 21,681 19,779
Return on plan assets  1,716 2,550 1 3 1,717 2,553
Foreign currency translation and  
 inflation effects  (1,723) 451 – – (1,723) 451
Additions through business combinations  (19) 202 – – (19) 202
Employer contributions  583 659 166 306 749 965
Employee contributions  58 73 – – 58 73
Settlements and curtailments  (1) (295) – (25) (1) (320)
Benefits paid  (1,885) (1,741) (166) (281) (2,051) (2,022)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year  20,388 21,659 23 22 20,411 21,681
Amounts recognized in the balance sheets:
Funded status  12,164 11,675 2,005 1,924 14,169 13,599
Transition liability   (40) (46) (77) (149) (117) (195)
Prior service cost and actuarial results  (6,471) (6,090) 2 144 (6,469) (5,946)
Net projected liability recognized $ 5,653 5,539 1,930 1,919 7,583 7,458



As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the projected benefit obligation is derived from the following types of plans and benefits:

 2010 2009

Plans and benefits totally unfunded $ 2,772 2,611
Plans and benefits partially or totally funded  31,808 32,669
Projected benefit obligation at end of the period $ 34,580 35,280

Based on MFRS D-3, prior services and actuarial results related to pension plans and other postretirement benefits are amortized during the 
estimated remaining years of service of the employees subject to these benefits. As of December 31, 2010, the approximate average years of 
service for pension plans is 10.8 years and 15.5 years for other postretirement benefits. As mentioned in note 2M, MFRS D-3 requires amortizing 
the transition liability, prior services and actuarial results accumulated as of December 31, 2007 under the previous MFRS D-3 related to pensions, 
other postretirement benefits and termination benefits, over a maximum period of five years. MFRS D-3 establishes that termination benefits 
generated after its adoption are recognized in the results of the period in which they are generated. The net periodic cost in 2010, 2009 and 2008 
included the transition amortization established by MFRS D-3. 

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, plan assets were measured at their estimated fair value at year end and consisted of:

 2010 2009

Fixed-income securities
Cash  $ 708 1,286
Investments in corporate bonds  8,481 5,632
Investments in government bonds  2,916 6,685
    12,105 13,603

Variable-income securities 
Investment in marketable securities  5,026 5,731
Other investments and private funds  3,280 2,347
    8,306 8,078
   $ 20,411 21,681

As of December 31, 2010, estimated future benefit payments for pensions and other postretirement benefits during the next ten years were as 
follows:
 2010

2011 $ 1,908
2012  1,912
2013  1,868
2014  1,895
2015  1,896
2016 – 2020  10,046

The most significant assumptions used in the determination of the net periodic cost were as follows:

 2010 2009
  UNITED UNITED OTHER  UNITED UNITED OTHER 
 MEXICO STATES KINGDOM COUNTRIES 1 MEXICO STATES KINGDOM COUNTRIES 1

Discount rates 8.5% 5.5% 5.7% 4.0% - 8.9% 9.0% 6.2% 6.0% 4.7% - 9.0%
Rate of return on plan assets 9.0% 7.5% 6.5% 3.8% - 9.0% 9.0% 8.0% 6.7% 3.0% - 9.0%
Rate of salary increases 4.5% 3.0% 3.6% 2.0% - 6.0% 5.5% 3.5% 3.0% 2.3% - 5.5%

1 Range of rates.
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As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the aggregate projected benefit obligation for pension plans and other benefits and the plan assets by 
country were as follows:
 2010 2009
 PROJECTED   PROJECTED 
 BENEFIT   BENEFIT 
 OBLIGATION ASSETS DEFICIT  OBLIGATION ASSETS DEFICIT 

Mexico $ 3,725 710 3,015 $ 3,228 904 2,324
United States  4,665 3,475 1,190  4,612 3,873 739
United Kingdom  19,928 14,404 5,524  20,800 14,820 5,980
Other countries  6,262 1,822 4,440  6,640 2,084 4,556
   $ 34,580 20,411 14,169 $ 35,280 21,681 13,599

Other information related to employees’ benefits at retirement
During 2010, 2009 and 2008, CEMEX reduced its workforce, subject to defined pension and medical benefits in the United States, and during 
2008, CEMEX reduced its workforce, subject to defined pension benefits in several countries including the United Kingdom, and froze the 
defined benefit pension plan in Puerto Rico. These actions generated events of settlement and curtailment of obligations in the respective 
pension plans pursuant to MFRS D-3. As a result, changes in the plan liabilities and proportional parts of prior services and actuarial results 
pending to be amortized were recognized in the statements of operations for the periods, which represented a gain of approximately $7 in 
2010 and losses of approximately $68 and $33 in 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

The defined benefit plan in the United Kingdom has been closed to new participants since January 2004. Regulation in the United Kingdom 
requires entities to maintain plan assets at a level similar to that of the obligations. Consequently, it is expected that CEMEX will make significant 
contributions to the United Kingdom’s pension plans in the following years. As of December 31, 2010, the deficit in the funded status of these plans 
after reducing the deficit related to other postretirement benefits, which are financed through daily operations, was approximately $5,116. 

Information related to termination benefits 
In some countries, CEMEX pays benefits to personnel pursuant to legal requirements upon termination of their working relationships based 
on the years of service and the last salary received. The projected benefits obligation of these benefits as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 was 
approximately $509 and $568, respectively.

Information related to other postretirement benefits
In some countries, CEMEX has established health care benefits for retired personnel limited to a certain number of years after retirement. As of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, the projected benefit obligation related to these benefits was approximately $1,268 and $1,247, respectively. The 
medical inflation rate used in 2010 to determine the projected benefits obligation of these benefits was 7.0% in Mexico, 4.7% in Puerto Rico and 
in the United States and 7.4% in the United Kingdom. 

Other employee benefits
In addition, in some countries, CEMEX has self-insured health care benefits plans for its active employees, which are managed on cost plus fee 
arrangements with major insurance companies or provided through health maintenance organizations. As of December 31, 2010, in certain 
plans, CEMEX has established stop-loss limits for continued medical assistance derived from a specific cause (e.g., an automobile accident, illness, 
etc.) ranging from 23 thousand dollars to 400 thousand dollars. In other plans, CEMEX has established stop-loss limits per employee regardless 
of the number of events ranging from 350 thousand dollars to 2 million dollars. If all employees qualifying for health care benefits required 
medical services simultaneously, the contingency for CEMEX would be significantly larger. However, this scenario, while possible, is remote. The 
amount expensed for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 through self-insured health care benefits was approximately US$81 
($1,026), US$106 ($1,442) and US$100 ($1,126), respectively.

15. INCOME TAXES
A) INCOME TAXES FOR THE PERIOD
The amounts for income taxes included in the statements of operations in 2010, 2009 and 2008 are summarized as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Current income taxes
 From Mexican operations $ (3,119) (3,804) (2,793)
 From foreign operations  (4,914) (4,885) (5,180)
    (8,033) (8,689) (7,973)

Deferred income taxes
 From Mexican operations  786 2,181 5,990 
 From foreign operations  2,738 17,074 24,981 
    3,524 19,255 30,971
   $ (4,509) 10,566 22,998



As of December 31, 2010, consolidated tax loss and tax credits carryforwards expire as follows:

 AMOUNT OF  
 CARRYFORWARDS

2011 $ 6,470
2012  6,657
2013  5,910
2014  825
2015 and thereafter  271,495
 $ 291,357

As of December 31, 2009, in connection with changes to the tax consolidation regime in Mexico (note 2N) and based on Interpretation 18, 
CEMEX recognized a liability for $10,461 against “Other non-current assets” for $8,216 in connection with the net liability recognized before the 
new tax law, and $2,245 against “Retained earnings,” for the portion, according to the new law, related to: a) the difference between the sum of 
the equity of the controlled entities for tax purposes and the equity of the consolidated entity for tax purposes; b) dividends from the controlled 
entities for tax purposes to the Parent Company; and c) other transactions that represented the transfer of resources between the companies 
included in the tax consolidation. In December 2010, pursuant to miscellaneous rules, the tax authority in Mexico granted the option to defer 
the calculation and payment of the income tax, until the subsidiary is disposed of or CEMEX eliminates the tax consolidation, over the difference 
between the sum of the equity of the controlled entities for tax purposes and the equity of the consolidated entity for tax purposes. As a 
result, CEMEX reduced its estimated tax payable by approximately $2,911 against a credit to “Retained earnings.” In addition, considering during 
2010: |a) cash payments of $325; b) income tax from subsidiaries paid to the Parent Company for $2,496; and c) other adjustments of $358, the 
estimated tax payable for tax consolidation in Mexico as of December 31, 2010 amounted to $10,079. 

B) DEFERRED INCOME TAXES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the income tax effects of the main temporary differences that generated the consolidated deferred income 
tax assets and liabilities are presented below:

 2010 2009

Deferred tax assets:
Tax loss carryforwards and other tax credits $ 73,843 77,602
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  8,206 8,487
Intangible assets and deferred charges, net  13,096 2,352
Others  1,032 1,161
 Total deferred tax assets  96,177 89,602
Less – Valuation allowance  (40,137) (32,079)
 Net deferred tax assets  56,040 57,523
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property, machinery and equipment  (42,284) (47,605)
Investments and other assets  (3,205) (4,826)
Others  (3,194) (983)
 Total deferred tax liabilities  (48,683) (53,414)
 Net deferred tax asset $ 7,357 4,109

Changes to the consolidated valuation allowance of deferred tax assets in 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Balance at the beginning of the period $ (32,079) (27,194) (21,093)
 Increases  (14,780) (18,638) (5,652)
 Decreases 1  3,436 13,547 1,571
 Translation effects  3,286 206 (2,020)
Balance at the end of the period $ (40,137) (32,079) (27,194)

The changes in consolidated deferred income taxes during 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Deferred income tax charged to the statements of operations $ 3,524 19,255  30,971
Deferred income tax in stockholders’ equity 2  778 941 (362)
Reclassification to other captions in the balance sheet   (1,054) 1,060 – 
 Change in deferred income tax for the period $ 3,248 21,256 30,609

1 Includes in 2009 the reclassification of the liability related to the income tax law reforms in Mexico. 

2 The change in stockholders’ equity in 2010 and 2009, includes an expense of $338 and an income of $585, respectively, related to the effect generated for the 
future tax deduction of the debt components of both the voluntary and mandatorily convertible securities (note 12). In 2008, this includes a debit of $920 related 
to the initial effect of deferred tax liabilities on investment in associates, recognized within “Retained earnings,” and a credit of $558 related to the deferred tax 
asset on items directly recognized in stockholders’ equity.
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CEMEX believes that sufficient taxable income will be generated as to realize the tax benefits associated with the deferred income tax assets 
and tax loss carryforwards, prior to their expiration. Nevertheless, a valuation allowance is recorded for the deferred tax assets on tax loss 
carryforwards that are estimated and may not be recoverable in the future. In the event that present conditions change, and it is determined 
that future operations would not generate sufficient taxable income, the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets would be increased against 
the results of the period.

CEMEX, S.A.B de C.V. has not provided for any deferred tax liability for the undistributed earnings generated by its subsidiaries, recognized 
under the equity method, considering that such undistributed earnings are expected to be reinvested and not generating income tax in the 
foreseeable future. Likewise, CEMEX does not recognize a deferred income tax liability related to its investments in subsidiaries and interests in 
joint ventures, considering that CEMEX controls the reversal of the temporary differences arising from these investments.

C) EFFECTIvE TAX RATE
Differences between the financial reporting and the corresponding tax basis of assets and liabilities and the different income tax rates and laws 
applicable to CEMEX, among other factors, give rise to permanent differences between the statutory tax rate applicable in Mexico, and the 
effective tax rate presented in the consolidated statements of operations, which in 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

 % % %

Consolidated statutory tax rate  (30.0) (28.0) (28.0)
Non-taxable dividend income  –  (7.4) (15.6)
Other non-taxable income 1  (14.7) (179.9) (32.6)
Expenses and other non-deductible items  (3.1) 30.8 25.3
Non-taxable sale of marketable securities and fixed assets  21.0 (86.9) (7.4)
Difference between book and tax inflation  11.7 27.1 8.0
Other tax non-accounting benefits  46.3 (0.5) (8.6)
Foreign exchange fluctuations 2  3.2 12.8 (37.8)
Others  3.2 4.3 (4.3)
Effective consolidated tax rate  37.6 (227.7) (101.0)

1 Includes the effects of the different income tax rates in the countries where CEMEX operates.

2 Includes the effects of foreign exchange fluctuations recognized as translation effects (note 16B).

16. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
The carrying amounts of consolidated stockholders’ equity exclude investments in shares of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. held by subsidiaries, which 
implied a reduction to controlling interest stockholders’ equity of $220 (16,668,156 CPOs) in 2010, $187 (16,107,081 CPOs) in 2009 and $6,354 
(589,238,041 CPOs) in 2008. This reduction is included within “Other equity reserves.”  The increase in CPOs held by subsidiaries during 2010 
refers to CPOs received by subsidiaries as a result of the recapitalization of retained earnings as described in this note. 

A) COMMON STOCK AND ADDITIONAL PAID-IN CAPITAL 
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the breakdown of common stock and additional paid-in capital was as follows:

 2010 2009

Common stock $ 4,132 4,127
Additional paid-in capital  104,590 98,797
   $ 108,722 102,924

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the common stock of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. was represented as follows:

 2010 2009

 SHArES 1 SErIES A 2 SErIES B 3 SErIES A 2 SErIES B 3

Subscribed and paid shares 20,043,602,184 10,021,801,092 19,224,300,330 9,612,150,165
Unissued shares authorized for stock compensation programs 345,164,180 172,582,090 395,227,442 197,613,721
Shares that guarantee the issuance of convertible securities 4 1,896,584,924 948,292,462 344,960,064 172,480,032
Shares authorized for the issuance of stock or  
 convertible securities 5  3,415,076 1,707,538 1,055,039,936 527,519,968
   22,288,766,364 11,144,383,182 21,019,527,772 10,509,763,886

1 13,068,000,000 shares in both years correspond to the fixed portion and 20,365,149,546 as of December 31, 2010 and 18,461,291,658 as of December 31, 2009 
correspond to the variable portion.

2 Series “A” or Mexican shares must represent at least 64% of CEMEX’s capital stock. 

3 Series “B” or free subscription shares must represent at most 36% of CEMEX’s capital stock.

4 Shares that guarantee the conversion of both the voluntary and mandatorily convertible securities (note 12). 

5 Shares authorized for the issuance of stock through a public offer or through the issuance of convertible securities.



On April 29, 2010, stockholders at the annual ordinary stockholders’ meeting approved resolutions: (i) to increase the variable common stock 
through the capitalization of retained earnings, issuing up to 1,153.8 million shares (384.6 million CPOs) based on a price of $14.24 per CPO. 
Stockholders received 3 new shares for each 75 shares held (1 new CPO for each 25 CPOs held), through the capitalization of retained earnings. 
As a result, shares equivalent to approximately 384.6 million CPOs were issued, representing an increase in common stock of approximately $3, 
considering a nominal value of $0.00833 per CPO, and additional paid-in capital of $5,476, and (ii) to increase the variable common stock by up 
to 750 million shares (250 million CPOs) issuable as a result of antidilution adjustments upon conversion of CEMEX’s convertible securities, which 
generated an increase in common stock for approximately $2 against retained earnings. There was no cash distribution and no entitlement to 
fractional shares.

On September 28, 2009, through a global offering, CEMEX completed the sale of a total of 1,495 million CPOs (directly or in the form of ADSs), 
including CPOs sold through the exercise in full of the over-allotment option granted to the underwriters, of which approximately 373.8 million 
CPOs were sold in Mexico, and approximately 1,121.2 million CPOs were sold in the United States and elsewhere outside Mexico. The CPOs 
were offered to the public at a price of $16.65 per CPO and US$12.50 per ADS. The net aggregate proceeds from the global offering were 
approximately $23,948, increasing stockholders’ equity by $7 considering a nominal value of $0.00833 per CPO, and additional paid-in capital 
of $23,941. Of the 1,495 million CPOs sold, approximately 595 million CPOs were sold by subsidiaries. CEMEX used the net proceeds from the 
global offering to pay down debt.

On September 4, 2009, stockholders at the extraordinary stockholders’ meeting approved resolutions to: (i) increase the variable common stock 
by up to 4,800 million shares (1,600 million CPOs) through additional subscription, of which said subscription and payment could be done 
indistinctively through the issuance of stock in a public offer or through the issuance of convertible securities; and (ii) finalize any public offer 
and/or issuance of convertible securities within the following 24 months.

On April 23, 2009, stockholders at the annual ordinary stockholders’ meeting approved resolutions to increase the variable common stock through 
the capitalization of retained earnings, issuing up to 1,004 million shares (335 million CPOs) based on a price of $13.07 per CPO. Stockholders 
received 3 new shares for each 75 shares held (1 new CPO for each 25 CPOs held), through the capitalization of retained earnings. As a result, 
shares equivalent to approximately 334 million CPOs were issued, representing an increase in common stock of approximately $3, considering 
a nominal value of $0.00833 per CPO, and additional paid-in capital of approximately $4,370. In addition, stockholders approved resolutions to 
cancel the corresponding shares held in CEMEX’s treasury. There was no cash distribution and no entitlement to fractional shares.

On April 24, 2008, stockholders at the annual ordinary stockholders’ meeting approved resolutions to: (i) create a reserve for share repurchases 
of up to $6,000; and (ii) increase the variable common stock through the capitalization of retained earnings of up to $7,500, issuing up to 1,500 
million shares (500 million CPOs), based on a price of $23.92 pesos per CPO or instead, stockholders could have chosen to receive a cash dividend 
of US$0.0835 per CPO (approximately $0.8677 pesos for each CPO considering the exchange rate of $10.3925 per dollar). As a result, shares 
equivalent to approximately 284 millions of CPOs were issued, representing an increase in common stock of approximately $2, considering 
a nominal value of $0.00833 per CPO, and additional paid-in capital of approximately $6,792, while a cash dividend payment was made for 
approximately $214. In addition, stockholders approved the cancellation of the corresponding shares held in CEMEX’s treasury.

The CPOs issued pursuant to the exercise of options under the “Fixed program” (note 17A) generated additional paid-in capital of approximately 
$5 in 2010, $5 in 2009 and $4 in 2008, and increased the number of shares outstanding. Likewise, in connection with the long-term compensation 
program (note 17) in 2010 and 2009, CEMEX issued approximately 25.7 and 13.7 million CPOs, generating an additional paid-in capital of 
approximately $312 and $163, respectively, associated with the fair value of the compensation received by executives.

B) OTHER EQUITY RESERvES 
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the balance of other equity reserves is summarized as follows:

 2010 2009

Cumulative translation effect, net of effects from perpetual debentures and deferred  
 income taxes recognized directly in equity (notes 15B and 16D) 1 $ 19,197 26,700
Issuance of convertible securities 2  3,203 1,971
Treasury shares held by subsidiaries  (220) (187)
   $ 22,180 28,484

1 In 2010, includes a gain of approximately $5,401, resulting from the exchange of perpetual debentures (note 12A).

2 Represents the equity components associated with the issuances of convertible securities into shares of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. described in note 12A. Upon 
mandatory or voluntary conversion of these securities, these balances will be reclassified to common stock and/or additional paid-in capital, as corresponds.
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For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the translation effects of foreign subsidiaries included in the statement of changes in 
stockholders’ equity were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

Foreign currency translation adjustment 1 $ 6,123 (17,716) 106,190
Foreign exchange fluctuations from debt 2  1,886 2,158 (9,407)
Foreign exchange fluctuations from intercompany balances 3  (20,059) 14,654 (65,796)
   $ (12,050) (904) 30,987

1 These effects refer to the result from the translation of the financial statements of foreign subsidiaries.

2 Generated by foreign exchange fluctuations over a notional amount of debt in CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. associated with the acquisition of foreign subsidiaries and 
designated as hedge of the net investment in foreign subsidiaries. The average amount of such debt was approximately US$2,829 in 2010, US$3,200 in 2009 
and US$3,656 in 2008.  

3 Refers to foreign exchange fluctuations arising from balances with related parties in foreign currencies that are of a long-term investment nature considering 
that their liquidation is not anticipated in the foreseeable future, of which a loss of $4,857 in 2008 was recognized in CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.

C) RETAINED EARNINGS
In 2009, a charge for a portion of the liability resulting from changes in the Mexican tax consolidation rules of approximately $2,245 (note 15A) 
was included. Nonetheless, in 2010, due to recent modifications to the income tax law in Mexico, in accordance to Interpretation 18, CEMEX 
reduced its estimated tax payable by approximately $2,911 against a credit to “Retained earnings.” In addition, in connection with the initial 
adoption of MFRS C-3 in 2010, CEMEX reduced its retained earnings by approximately $105 (note 2G). In 2008, the caption includes the effects 
associated with the adoption of several MFRS: a) the reclassification of the accumulated results from holding non-monetary assets (note 2A); 
b) the reclassification of the cumulative initial deferred income tax effect (note 2N); c) the cumulative initial deferred income tax recognition in 
investments in associates; and d) the cumulative initial deferred income tax recognition based on the assets and liabilities method (note 2M), 
which decreased retained earnings by $97,722, $6,918, $920 and $2,283, respectively. 

Net income for the year is subject to a 5% allocation toward a legal reserve until such reserve equals one fifth of the common stock. As of 
December 31, 2010, the legal reserve amounted to $1,804.

D) NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST AND PERPETUAL DEBENTURES
Non-controlling interest
Non-controlling interest represents the share of non-controlling stockholders in the results and equity of consolidated subsidiaries. As of 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, non-controlling interest in equity amounted to approximately $3,214 and $3,838, respectively.

Perpetual debentures
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, consolidated balance sheets included approximately US$1,320 ($16,310) and US$3,045 ($39,859), 
respectively, representing the notional amount of perpetual debentures. On May 12, 2010, as mentioned in note 12A, following an exchange 
offer with the note holders, CEMEX exchanged amounts in excess of a majority of the then outstanding principal amount of each series of 
perpetual debentures for new secured notes.

Interest expense on the perpetual debentures, which is accrued based on the principal amount, was included within “Other equity reserves” 
and represented expenses of approximately $1,624 in 2010, $2,704 in 2009 and $2,596 in 2008.

These debentures have no fixed maturity date and do not represent a contractual payment obligation for CEMEX. As a result, these debentures, 
issued entirely by Special Purpose Vehicles (“SPVs”), qualify as equity instruments and are classified within non-controlling interest, as they 
were issued by consolidated entities. In addition, CEMEX has the unilateral right to defer the payment of interest due on the debentures 
indefinitely. The definition of the debentures as equity instruments was made under applicable IFRS, which were applied to these transactions 
in compliance with the supplementary application of IFRS in Mexico. The different SPVs were established solely for purposes of issuing the 
perpetual debentures and were included in CEMEX’s consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, CEMEX’s perpetual debentures were as follows:

   2010 2009 
 ISSUER ISSUANCE DATE NOMINAL AMOUNT NOMINAL AMOUNT REPURCHASE OPTION INTEREST RATE

C10-EUR Capital (SPV) Ltd. May 2007 € 266 € 730 Tenth anniversary 6.3%
C8 Capital (SPV) Ltd. February 2007 US$369 US$750 Eighth anniversary 6.6%
C5 Capital (SPV) Ltd. 1 December 2006 US$147 US$350 Fifth anniversary 6.2%
C10 Capital (SPV) Ltd. December 2006 US$449 US$900 Tenth anniversary 6.7%

1 If CEMEX does not exercise its repurchase option by December 31, 2011, the annual interest rate of this series will change to 3-month LIBOR plus 4.277%, which 
will be reset quarterly. Interest payments on this series will be made quarterly instead of semi-annually. CEMEX is not permitted to call these debentures under 
the Financing Agreement. As of December 31, 2010, 3-month LIBOR was approximately 0.30%.

As mentioned in note 12C, as of December 31, 2008, there were derivative instruments associated with the perpetual debentures, through 
which CEMEX changed the risk profile associated with interest rates and foreign exchange rates in respect of the debentures from the U.S. dollar 
and euro to the Japanese yen. These derivative instruments were settled during 2009.



17. EXECUTIVE STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
CEMEX has a long-term compensation program providing for the grant of CEMEX’s CPOs to a group of executives. Beginning in 2009, CEMEX 
issues new CPOs under each annual program over a 4 year period. By agreement with the executives, the CPOs of the annual grant, which is 
equivalent to 25% of the CPOs related to each plan, are placed in a trust established for the benefit of the executives (the “executives’ trust”) to 
comply with a 1 year restriction on sale. Under these plans, CEMEX granted approximately 25.7 million CPOs in 2010 and 13.7 million CPOs in 
2009 that were subscribed and pending for payment in CEMEX’s treasury, corresponding in 2010 to the first 25% of the 2010 program and the 
second 25% of the 2009 program, and in 2009 to the first 25% of the 2009 program. The remaining shares will be issued during the following 
years representing approximately 50.7 million CPOs. During 2008, under this program, the eligible executives received cash bonuses, which were 
used by the executives to simultaneously acquire CPOs in the market through the executives’ trust. Such CPOs were placed in the executives’ 
trust to comply with a restriction on sale period of 4 years, which vests up to 25% at the end of each year. The compensation expense related to 
the grants in 2010 and 2009 represented the fair value of CPOs as of the grant date considering a weighted average price per CPO of $12.54 and 
$11.86, respectively. In 2008, the fair value of CPOs at acquisition date equaled the cash bonuses. The expense recognized in the statements of 
operations in connection with these programs during 2010, 2009 and 2008 amounted to $536, $606 and $725, respectively.

Until 2005, CEMEX granted stock options to executives based on CEMEX’s CPO. Options outstanding under CEMEX’s programs represent liability 
instruments, except for those of its “Fixed program,” which was designated as equity instruments (note 2T). The information related to options 
granted in respect of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. shares is as follows:

  FIXED PROGRAM vARIABLE PROGRAM RESTRICTED PROGRAM SPECIAL PROGRAM 
 OPTIONS (A)  (B)  (C) (D)

Options outstanding at the beginning of 2008 898,470 1,376,347 15,022,272 845,424
Changes in 2008:
Options cancelled and adjustments  (63,352) – – –
Options exercised  (87,873) (17,427) – (99,425)
Options outstanding at the end of 2008  747,245 1,358,920 15,022,272 745,999
Changes in 2009:
Options exercised  (133,606) – – (23,381)
Options outstanding at the end of 2009  613,639 1,358,920 15,022,272 722,618
Changes in 2010:
Options cancelled and adjustments  (57,933) – – –
Options exercised  (106,963) – – (8,000)
Options outstanding at the end of 2010  448,743 1,358,920 15,022,272 714,618
Underlying CPOs 1  2,760,842 7,119,529 70,481,496 14,292,360
Exercise prices:
Options outstanding at the beginning of 2010 1, 2 $6.49 US$1.43 US$2.00 US$1.36
Options exercised in the year 1, 2  $7.53 – – US$0.97
Options outstanding at the end of 2010 1, 2 $5.85 US$1.52 US$2.00 US$1.36

Average life of options: 0.5 years 1.3 years 1.5 years 2.8 years

number of options per exercise price: 266,385 – $4.5 886,170 – US$1.6 15,022,272 – US$2.0 81,826 – US$1.1
 182,358 – $7.8 141,679 – US$1.7 – 125,345 – US$1.4
 – 67,295 – US$1.4 – 135,751 – US$1.0
 – 205,034 – US$1.2 – 257,291 – US$1.4
 – 58,742 – US$1.5 – 114,405 – US$1.9

Percent of options fully vested: 100% 100% 100% 100%

1 Exercise prices and the number of underlying CPOs are technically adjusted for the dilutive effect of stock dividends and recapitalization of retained earnings.

2 Weighted average exercise prices per CPO.

A) Fixed program
From June 1995 through June 2001, CEMEX granted stock options with a fixed exercise price in pesos, equivalent to the market price of the CPO 
at the grant date and with tenure of 10 years. The employees’ option rights vested up to 25% annually during the first 4 years after having been 
granted. 

B) variable program
This program started in November 2001, through an exchange of fixed program options, with exercise prices denominated in dollars increasing 
annually at a 7% rate.

C) Restricted program
This program started in February 2004 through a voluntary exchange of options mainly from the variable program. These options have an 
exercise price denominated in dollars which, depending on the program, increase annually at a 5.5% rate or at a 7% rate. Executives’ gains under 
these options are settled in the form of CPOs, which are restricted for sale for an approximate period of 4 years from the exercise date.
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D) Special program
From June 2001 through June 2005, CEMEX’s subsidiary in the United States granted, to a group of its employees, a stock option program to 
purchase CEMEX ADSs. The options granted have a fixed exercise price denominated in dollars and tenure of 10 years. The employees’ option 
rights vested up to 25% annually after having been granted. The option exercises are hedged using ADSs currently owned by subsidiaries, 
which increases stockholders’ equity and the number of shares outstanding. The amounts of these ADS programs are presented in terms of 
equivalent CPOs (ten CPOs represent one ADS).

Other programs
CEMEX’s subsidiary in Ireland has an outstanding stock option program in its own shares. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, this subsidiary 
had outstanding options over 307,748 and 347,748 of its shares, respectively, with an average exercise price per share of approximately €1.18 
in 2010 and €1.23 in 2009. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the market price per share of CEMEX’s subsidiary in Ireland was €0.21 and €0.18, 
respectively. 

valuation of options at fair value and accounting recognition
All options of programs that qualify as liability instruments are valued at their estimated fair value as of the date of the financial statements, 
recognizing changes in valuations in the statements of operations. Changes in the provision for executive stock option programs for the years 
ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:
 RESTRICTED vARIABLE SPECIAL 
 PROGRAM PROGRAM PROGRAM TOTAL

Provision as of December 31, 2007 $ 927 120 283 1,330
 Net revenue in current period results  (1,055) (129) (353) (1,537)
 Estimated decrease from exercises of options  – 1 29 30
 Foreign currency translation effect  239 31 73 343
Provision as of December 31, 2008  111 23 32 166
 Net expense in current period results  8 2 18 28
 Estimated decrease from exercises of options  – – 5 5
 Foreign currency translation effect  (5) (1) (1) (7)
Provision as of December 31, 2009  114  24  54  192 
 Net revenue in current period results  (92) (15) (40) (147)
 Estimated decrease from exercises of options  – – 2 2
 Foreign currency translation effect  (7) (1) (3) (11)
Provision as of December 31, 2010 $ 15 8 13 36

The options’ fair values were determined through the binomial option-pricing model. As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the most 
significant assumptions used in the valuations were as follows:

 ASSUMPTIONS 2010 2009 2008

Expected dividend yield  4.0% 7.9% 10.4%
Volatility  35% 35% 35%
Interest rate  2.6% 2.6% 1.8%
Weighted average remaining tenure  1.3 years 4.8 years 5.3 years



18. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The amounts considered for calculations of earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) 2010, 2009 and 2008 were as follows:

 2010 2009 2008

 DEnoMInATor (THoUSAnDS oF SHArES)

Weighted average number of shares outstanding – basic  29,974,524 26,796,205 25,142,051
 Effect of dilutive instruments – stock-based compensation (note 17)  – 39,963 10,337
 Effect of dilutive instruments – convertible securities (note 12A)  – 517,440 –
 Potentially dilutive shares  – 557,403 10,337
Weighted average number of shares outstanding – diluted  – 27,353,608 25,152,388

 nUMErATorS

Controlling interest income (loss) before discontinued operations $ (16,489) 5,925 226
Less: non-controlling interest net income  27 240 45
 Controlling interest income (loss) before discontinued operations – basic  (16,516) 5,685 181
Plus: interest expense on convertible securities  – 16 –
 Controlling interest income before discontinued operations – diluted $ – 5,701 181

 Income (loss) from discontinued operations $ – (4,276) 2,097

 BASIC EArnInGS (loSS) PEr SHArE

Controlling interest basic EPS from continuing operations $ (0.55) 0.21 0.01 
Basic EPS from discontinued operations  – (0.16) 0.08 
 DIlUTED EArnInGS (loSS) PEr SHArE

Controlling interest diluted EPS from continuing operations $ – 0.21 0.01 
Diluted EPS from discontinued operations  – (0.16) 0.08 

Diluted earnings per share reflect the effects of any transactions which have a potentially dilutive effect on the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding. The dilutive effect of the number of shares resulting from the executives’ stock option programs is determined 
under the inverse treasury method. In connection with the restricted CPO grants under the long-term compensation program initiated in 2009, 
as well as the convertible securities, the total amount of CPOs committed for issuance in the future is computed from the beginning of the 
reporting period. Based on MFRS B-14 “Earnings per Share,” (“MFRS B14”), the weighted average number of shares outstanding in 2009 and 2008 
includes the shares issued as a result of the capitalization of retained earnings declared in April 2010 and 2009 (note 16A). 

According to MFRS B-14, diluted earnings per share shall not be disclosed when the result from continuing operations is a loss.

19. COMMITMENTS
A) GUARANTEES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. had guaranteed loans of certain subsidiaries for approximately US$13,028 and US$12,570, 
respectively.

B) PLEDGED ASSETS
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, CEMEX had liabilities amounting to US$186 and US$292, respectively, secured by property, machinery and 
equipment. 

In addition, in connection with the Financing Agreement (note 12A), CEMEX transferred the shares of several of its main subsidiaries, including 
CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. and CEMEX España, S.A., to a trust for the benefit of the bank lenders, note holders and other creditors having the 
benefit of negative pledge clauses, in order to guarantee payment obligations under the Financing Agreement and other financial transactions. 
These shares secure several other financings entered into subsequent to the date of the Financing Agreement.

C) COMMITMENTS
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, CEMEX had commitments for the purchase of raw materials for an approximate amount of US$288 and 
US$172, respectively.

In 2006, in order to take advantage of the high wind potential in the “Tehuantepec Isthmus,” CEMEX and the Spanish company ACCIONA formed 
an alliance to develop a wind farm project for the generation of 250 Megawatts (MW) in the Mexican state of Oaxaca. CEMEX acted as promoter 
of the project, which was named EURUS. ACCIONA provided the required financing, constructed the facility and currently operates the wind 
farm. The installation of 167 wind turbines in the farm was finished on November 15, 2009. The agreements between CEMEX and ACCIONA 
established that CEMEX’s plants in Mexico should acquire a portion of the energy generated by the wind farm for a period of at least 20 years, 
which began in February 2010, when EURUS reached the committed limit capacity. 
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In 1999, CEMEX entered into agreements with an international partnership, which built and operated an electrical energy generating plant 
in Mexico called Termoeléctrica del Golfo (“TEG”). In 2007, another international company replaced the original operator. The agreements 
established that CEMEX would purchase the energy generated for a term of not less than 20 years, which started in April 2004. Likewise, CEMEX 
committed to supply TEG all fuel necessary for its operations, a commitment that has been hedged through a 20-year agreement entered with 
Petróleos Mexicanos, which terminates in 2024. With the change of the operator, in 2007, CEMEX extended the term of its agreement with TEG 
until 2027. Consequently, for the last 3 years of the TEG fuel supply contract, CEMEX intends to purchase the required fuel in the market. CEMEX 
is not required to make any capital expenditure in the project. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, TEG supplied (unaudited) 
72.8%, 73.7% and 60.4%, respectively, of CEMEX’s 15 plants’ electricity needs in Mexico during such year.

In 2007, CEMEX Ostzement GmbH (“COZ”), CEMEX’s subsidiary in Germany, entered into a long-term energy supply contract with Vattenfall 
Europe New Energy Ecopower (“VENEE”), pursuant to which VENEE has been committed to supply energy to CEMEX’s Rüdersdorf plant for a 
period of 15 years starting on January 1, 2008. Based on the contract, each year COZ has the option to fix in advance the volume of energy that it 
will acquire from VENEE, with the option to adjust the purchase amount once on a monthly and quarterly basis. According to the contract, COZ 
acquired 28 MW in 2008 and 2009, 27 MW in 2010 and will acquire 27 MW per year from 2011 to 2014. COZ expects to acquire between 26 and 
28 MW per year starting in 2015 and thereafter. The contract, which establishes a price mechanism for the energy acquired, based on the price 
of energy future contracts quoted on the European Energy Exchange, does not require initial investments and was expected to be performed 
at a future date. Based on its terms, this contract qualified as a financial instrument under MFRS. However, as the contract is for CEMEX’s own 
use and CEMEX sells any energy surplus as soon as actual energy requirements are known, regardless of changes in prices and thereby avoiding 
any intention of trading in energy, such contract is not recognized at its fair value. 

In April 2008, Citibank entered into put option transactions on CEMEX’s CPOs with a Mexican trust that CEMEX established on behalf of its 
Mexican pension fund and certain of CEMEX’s directors and current and former employees (the “participating individuals”). The transaction 
was structured with two main components. Under the first component, the trust sold, for the benefit of CEMEX’s Mexican pension fund, put 
options to Citibank in exchange for a premium of approximately US$38. The premium was deposited into the trust and was used to purchase, 
on a prepaid forward basis, securities that track the performance of the Mexican Stock Exchange. Under the second component, the trust sold, 
on behalf of the participating individuals, additional put options to Citibank in exchange for a premium of approximately US$38, which was 
used to purchase prepaid forward CPOs. These prepaid forward CPOs, together with additional CPOs representing an equal amount in U.S. 
dollars, were deposited into the trust by the participating individuals as security for their obligations, and represent the maximum exposure 
of the participating individuals under this transaction. The put options gave Citibank the right to require the trust to purchase, in April 2013, 
approximately 126 million CPOs at a price of US$2.8660 per CPO (120% of initial CPO price in dollars), as adjusted as of December 31, 2010. If 
the value of the assets held in the trust (32.1 million CPOs and the securities that track the performance of the Mexican Stock Exchange) were 
insufficient to cover the obligations of the trust, a guarantee would be triggered and CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. would be required to purchase in 
April 2013 the total CPOs at a price per CPO equal to the difference between US$2.8660 and the market value of the assets of the trust. The 
purchase price per CPO in dollars and the corresponding number of CPOs under this transaction are subject to dividend adjustments. CEMEX 
recognizes a liability for the fair value of the guarantee, and changes in valuation were recorded in the statements of operations (note 12C).

D) CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, CEMEX had the following contractual obligations:

 (U.S. DOLLARS MILLIONS) 2010 2009
  LESS THAN 1-3 3-5 MORE THAN 
 OBLIGATIONS 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS TOTAL TOTAL

Long-term debt US$ 407 1,160 10,500 4,289 16,356 15,851
Capital lease obligations  2 2 1 1 6 15
 Total debt 1  409 1,162 10,501 4,290 16,362 15,866
Operating leases 2  199 297 124 111 731 920
Interest payments on debt 3  964 2,131 1,068 454 4,617 5,144
Pension plans and other benefits 4  154 306 306 813 1,579 1,670
 Total contractual obligations 5 US$ 1,726 3,896 11,999 5,668 23,289 23,600
        $ 21,333 48,155 148,308 70,056 287,852 308,924

1 The scheduling of debt payments, which includes current maturities, does not consider the effect of any refinancing of debt that may occur during the 
following years. In the past, CEMEX has replaced its long-term obligations for others of similar nature.

2 The amounts of operating leases have been determined on the basis of nominal cash flows. CEMEX has operating leases, primarily for operating facilities, 
cement storage and distribution facilities and certain transportation and other equipment, under which annual rental payments are required plus the payment 
of certain operating expenses. Rental expense was US$199 ($2,521), US$243 ($3,305) and US$198 ($2,239) in 2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

3 For the determination of the future estimated interest payments on floating rate denominated debt, CEMEX used the interest rates in effect as of December 31, 
2010 and 2009.

4 Represents estimated annual payments under these benefits for the next 10 years (note 14). Future payments include the estimate of new retirees during such 
future years.

5 Excludes the contractual obligation to purchase, from Ready Mix USA, its venture interests in the two joint ventures between Ready Mix USA and CEMEX 
pursuant to the exercise of the put option (note 9A).



20. CONTINGENCIES
A) CONTINGENT LIABILITIES RESULTING FROM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
As of December 31, 2010, CEMEX was involved in various significant legal proceedings, the resolutions of which would imply cash outflows or 
the delivery of other resources owned by CEMEX. As a result, certain provisions have been recognized in the financial statements. Such provisions 
represent the best estimate of the contingent amounts payable in respect of these legal proceedings. As a result, CEMEX believes that it will not 
incur significant expenditure in excess of the amounts previously recorded. The details of the most significant events are as follows:  

•	 On	January	2,	2007,	the	Polish	Competition	and	Consumers	Protection	Office	(the	“Protection	Office”)	notified	CEMEX	Polska,	a	subsidiary	in	
Poland, about the initiation of an antitrust proceeding against all cement producers in the country, including CEMEX Polska and another of 
CEMEX’s indirect subsidiaries in Poland. The Protection Office alleged that there was an agreement between all cement producers in Poland 
regarding prices, market quotas and other sales conditions of cement, and that the producers exchanged confidential information, all of 
which limited competition in the Polish market of cement. In January 2007, CEMEX Polska filed its response to the notification, denying that it 
had committed the practices listed by the Protection Office. In addition, CEMEX Polska submitted formal comments and objections gathered 
during the proceeding, as well as facts supporting its position that its activities were in line with Polish competition law. In December 2009, 
the Protection Office issued a resolution imposing fines on a number of Polish cement producers, including CEMEX Polska. The fine imposed 
on CEMEX Polska amounted to 115 million Polish zlotys (US$39 or $479), which represents 10% of CEMEX Polska’s total revenue for the 
calendar year preceding the imposition of the fine. CEMEX Polska initiated an appeal before the Polish Court of Competition and Consumer 
Protection. The resolution will not be enforced until two appeals are exhausted. As of December 31, 2010, CEMEX recognized a provision 
of approximately 72 million Polish zlotys (US$24 or $300), representing the best estimate on such date of the expected cash outflow in 
connection with this resolution. 

•	 In	2005,	through	the	acquisition	of	RMC	Group	plc	(“RMC”),	CEMEX	assumed	environmental	remediation	liabilities	in	the	United	Kingdom,	
pertaining to closed and current landfill sites for the confinement of waste. As of December 31, 2010, CEMEX had generated a provision for 
the net present value of such obligation of approximately £130 (US$203 or $2,507). Expenditure was assessed and quantified over the period 
in which the sites have the potential to cause environmental harm, which was accepted by the regulator as being up to 60 years from the 
date of closure. The assessed expenditure included the costs of monitoring the sites and the installation, repair and renewal of environmental 
infrastructure.

•	 In	August	2005,	Cartel	Damages	Claims,	S.A.	(“CDC”),	filed	a	lawsuit	in	the	District	Court	in	Düsseldorf,	Germany	against	CEMEX	Deutschland,	AG,	
CEMEX’s subsidiary in Germany, and other German cement companies, originally seeking approximately €102 (US$136 or $1,681) in respect 
of damage claims by 28 entities relating to alleged price and quota fixing by German cement companies between 1993 and 2002. In the 
meantime, CDC has acquired new claims by assignment and the claim has increased to €131 (US$175 or $2,159). CDC is a Belgian company 
established in the aftermath of the German cement cartel investigation that took place from July 2002 to April 2003 by Germany’s Federal 
Cartel Office, with the purpose of purchasing potential damage claims from cement consumers and pursuing those claims against the cartel 
participants. In February 2007, the District Court in Düsseldorf allowed this lawsuit to proceed without going into the merits of this case by 
issuing an interlocutory judgment. All defendants appealed the resolution but the appeal was dismissed in May 2008 and the lawsuit will 
proceed at the level of court of first instance. As of December 31, 2010, CEMEX Deutschland, AG had accrued liabilities regarding this matter 
for approximately €20 (US$27 or $330). The District Court in Düsseldorf has called for a hearing on the merits of this case, scheduled for  
May 26, 2011.

•	 As	of	December	31,	2010,	CEMEX’s	subsidiaries	in	the	United	States	have	accrued	liabilities	specifically	relating	to	environmental	matters	in	
the aggregate amount of approximately US$29 ($358). The environmental matters relate to: a) the disposal of various materials, in accordance 
with past industry practice, which might be currently categorized as hazardous substances or wastes, and b) the cleanup of sites used or 
operated by CEMEX, including discontinued operations, regarding the disposal of hazardous substances or waste, either individually or 
jointly with other parties. Most of the proceedings are in the preliminary stages, and a final resolution might take several years. For purposes 
of recording the provision, CEMEX’s subsidiaries believe that it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability is 
reasonably estimable, whether or not claims have been asserted, and without giving effect to any possible future recoveries. Based on the 
information developed to date, CEMEX’s subsidiaries do not believe that they will be required to spend significant sums on these matters in 
excess of the amounts previously recorded. The ultimate cost that may be incurred to resolve these environmental issues cannot be assured 
until all environmental studies, investigations, remediation work and negotiations with or litigation against potential sources of recovery have 
been completed.
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B) OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
CEMEX is involved in various legal proceedings, which have not required the recognition of accruals as CEMEX believes that the probability of 
loss is reasonably remote after considering all the elements of such proceedings. As of December 31, 2010, the details of the most significant 
events with a quantification of the potential loss, when it is determinable, were as follows:

•	 In	September	2009,	officers	from	the	European	Commission	(“EC”),	in	conjunction	with	local	officials	of	the	Spanish	National	Competition	
Enforcement Authority (Comisión Nacional de la Competencia or ”CNC”), conducted an unannounced inspection at CEMEX‘s offices in 
Spain. The EC alleges that CEMEX may have participated in anti-competitive agreements and/or concerted practices. This investigation 
is related to unannounced previous inspections carried out by the EC in the United Kingdom and Germany in November 2008. Since the 
inspections, CEMEX has received requests for information from the EC in September 2009, October 2010 and December 2010. CEMEX has 
fully cooperated by providing the relevant information on time. 

•	 On	December	8,	2010,	the	EC	informed	CEMEX	that	it	has	decided	to	initiate	formal	proceedings	in	respect	of	possible	anticompetitive	
practices in Austria, Belgium, the Czech Republic, France, Germany, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Spain, and the United Kingdom. 
These proceedings may lead to an infringement decision, or if the objections raised by the EC are not substantiated, the case might be 
closed. If the allegations are substantiated, the EC may impose a maximum fine of up to 10% of the total turnover of the relevant companies 
for the last year preceding the imposition of the fine for which the financial statements have been approved. CEMEX intends to defend its 
position vigorously in this proceeding and is fully cooperating and will continue to cooperate with the EC in connection with this matter.

•	 On	November	10,	 2010,	 the	Colombian	Tax	Authority	 (Dirección de Impuestos) notified CEMEX Colombia of a proceeding in which the 
Colombian Tax Authority rejected certain tax losses taken by CEMEX Colombia in its 2008 year-end tax return. In addition, the Colombian 
Tax Authority assessed an increase in taxes to be paid by CEMEX Colombia in the amount of approximately 43 billion Colombian pesos 
(US$22 or $272) and imposed a penalty in the amount of approximately 69 billion Colombian pesos (US$36 or $445), both amounts as of 
December 31, 2010. The Colombian Tax Authority argues that CEMEX Colombia is limited in its use of prior year tax losses to 25% of such 
losses per subsequent year. CEMEX believes that the tax provision that limits the use of prior year tax losses does not apply in the case of 
CEMEX Colombia because the applicable tax law was repealed in 2006. Furthermore, CEMEX believes that the Colombian Tax Authority is 
no longer able to review the 2008 tax return because the time to review such returns has already expired pursuant to Colombian law. At this 
stage, CEMEX is not able to assess the likelihood of an adverse result or potential damages which could be borne by CEMEX Colombia.

•	 In	September	2009,	the	CNC,	applying	exclusively	national	antitrust	law,	separately	conducted	its	own	inspection	in	the	context	of	possible	
anticompetitive practices in the production and distribution of mortar, ready-mix and aggregates within the Chartered Community of 
Navarre (“Navarre”). In December 2009, the CNC started a procedure against CEMEX España for alleged practices prohibited under the 
Spanish competition law. In November 2010, the CNC provided CEMEX España with a Statement of Facts that included some allegations 
that could be construed as a possible infringement by CEMEX España of Spanish competition law in Navarre. The Statement of Facts was 
addressed to CEMEX España, but also indicated that its parent company, New Sunward Holding B.V., could be jointly and severally liable 
for the investigated behavior. On December 10, 2010, the CNC Investigative Department notified CEMEX of its proposed decision, which 
declared an existence of infringement, and will submit the proposed decision to the CNC Council. The notification of the proposed decision 
marked the end of the investigation phase. On December 29, 2010, CEMEX submitted its opposition to the proposed decision denying all 
charges formulated by the CNC. The CNC must issue a final decision within 18 months from the formal start of the procedure, which began 
on December 15, 2009. The maximum fine that the CNC could impose would be 10% of the total revenues of CEMEX España’s ready-mix 
production activities within Navarre for the calendar year preceding the imposition of the fine.

•	 In	 June	2009,	 the	Texas	General	Land	Office	 (“GLO”)	alleged	 that	CEMEX	Construction	Materials	South,	LLC	 failed	 to	pay	approximately	
US$550 in royalties related to mining by CEMEX and its predecessors since the 1940s on lands that, when transferred originally by the 
State of Texas, contained reservation of mineral rights. The petition filed by the GLO also states that the State is seeking injunctive relief. On 
December 17, 2009, the Texas court handling this matter granted CEMEX’s motion for summary judgment finding that the GLO’s claims had 
no merit. The GLO filed an appeal on March 25, 2010 and its appellate brief on May 28, 2010. The GLO has also requested that the Texas Court 
of Appeals hear oral arguments in this matter. CEMEX has filed its response brief but no hearing date has been set. CEMEX will continue to 
vigorously defend the claim.

•	 In	January	and	March	2009,	one	of	CEMEX’s	subsidiaries	in	Mexico	was	notified	of	two	findings	of	presumptive	responsibility	issued	by	the	
Mexican Competition Authority (Comisión Federal de Competencia or “CFC”), alleging certain violations of Mexican antitrust laws. CEMEX 
believes these findings contain substantial violations of rights granted by the Mexican Constitution. In February and April 2009, CEMEX filed 
two constitutional challenges in connection with these two cases. With respect to the first case, the Circuit Court determined that CEMEX 
lacked standing since the notice of presumptive responsibility did not affect any of CEMEX’s rights; therefore, CEMEX should wait until the 
CFC concludes its proceedings and issues a final ruling before raising its constitutional challenge again. However, in July 2010, in light of the 
possible violations to CEMEX’s constitutional rights, the CFC terminated the existing proceeding and reinitiated a new proceeding against 
CEMEX to avoid such violations. CEMEX believes that Mexican law does not entitle the CFC to reinitiate a new proceeding but only to 
continue with the original one. In August 2010, CEMEX filed a separate constitutional challenge with the Circuit Court to argue against the 
reinitiated proceeding. With respect to the second case, in December 2010, the District Court in Mexico City determined that CEMEX lacked 
standing with its constitutional challenge since the notice of presumptive responsibility did not affect any of CEMEX’s rights; therefore, 
CEMEX should wait until the CFC concludes its proceeding and issues a final ruling before raising its constitutional challenge again. CEMEX 
expects to appeal the resolution of the District Court.

•	 In	November	2008,	AMEC/Zachry,	the	general	contractor	for	the	expansion	program	in	Brooksville,	Florida,	filed	a	lawsuit	against	CEMEX	
Florida in the United States, alleging delay damages and seeking an equitable adjustment to the contract and payment of change orders. 
In its claim, AMEC/Zachry sought indemnity for US$60 ($742). During 2009, FLSmidth (“FLS”), a supplier for the mining and cement industry, 
became a co-defendant in the lawsuit. During 2009 and 2010, CEMEX filed counterclaims against both suppliers. On November 18, 2010, 
the court denied AMEC/Zachry’s motion to dismiss against CEMEX Florida, and denied FLS’s motion on the pleading against CEMEX 
Florida. CEMEX Florida amended its pleadings in accordance with the court’s rulings. The parties have begun producing documents and 
are preparing to take depositions. Until discovery is significantly underway, CEMEX cannot assess the likelihood of an adverse result or the 
potential damages which could be borne by CEMEX.



•	 In	August	2005,	a	lawsuit	was	filed	against	a	subsidiary	of	CEMEX	Colombia	and	other	members	of	the	Asociación Colombiana de Productores de 
Concreto, or ASOCRETO, a union formed by all the ready-mix concrete producers in Colombia. The lawsuit claimed that CEMEX Colombia and 
other ASOCRETO members were liable for the premature distress of the roads built for the mass public transportation system in Bogotá using 
ready-mix concrete supplied by CEMEX Colombia and other ASOCRETO members. The plaintiffs alleged that the base material supplied for 
the road construction failed to meet the quality standards offered by CEMEX Colombia and the other ASOCRETO members and/or that they 
provided insufficient or inaccurate information in connection with the product. The plaintiffs sought the repair of the roads and estimated 
that the cost of such repair would be approximately 100 billion Colombian pesos (US$52 or $646). In January 2008, CEMEX Colombia was 
subject to a court order, sequestering a quarry called El Tunjuelo, as security for a possible future money judgment to be rendered against 
CEMEX Colombia in these proceedings. The court determined that in order to lift this attachment and prevent further attachments, CEMEX 
Colombia was required to deposit with the court 337.8 billion Colombian pesos (US$176 or $2,181) in cash. CEMEX appealed this decision 
and also requested that the guarantee be covered by all defendants in the case. In March 2009, the Superior Court of Bogotá allowed 
CEMEX to offer security in the amount of 20 billion Colombian pesos (US$10 or $129). CEMEX deposited the security and, in July 2009, the 
attachment was lifted. At this stage, we are not able to assess the likelihood of an adverse result or the potential damages that could be borne 
by CEMEX Colombia upon appeal.

C) OTHER CONTINGENCIES FOR LEGAL PROCEDURES
Finally, there are certain legal proceedings in which a negative resolution for CEMEX may represent, among others, the revocation of operating 
licenses or the assessment of fines, whereby CEMEX may experience a decrease of future revenues, an increase in operating costs or a loss. 
Nevertheless, as of the date of these financial statements, in some cases, it is not possible to quantify the impact. As of December 31, 2010, the 
most significant other contingencies were the following:  

•	 Pursuant	 to	amendments	 to	 the	Mexican	 income	tax	 law	effective	on	January	1,	2005,	Mexican	companies	with	 investments	 in	entities	
incorporated in foreign countries whose income tax liability is less than 75% of the income tax that would be payable in Mexico, are 
required to pay taxes in Mexico on indirect revenues, such as dividends, royalties, interest, capital gains and rental fees obtained by such 
foreign entities, provided however, that such revenues are not derived from entrepreneurial activities in such countries. CEMEX challenged 
the constitutionality of the amendments before the Mexican federal courts. In September 2008, the Supreme Court of Justice ruled the 
amendments were constitutional for tax years 2005 to 2007. Since the Supreme Court’s decision does not pertain to the amount of taxes 
due or other tax obligations, CEMEX will self-assess any taxes due through the submission of amended tax returns. CEMEX has not yet 
determined the amount of tax or the periods affected, but the amount could be material. If the Mexican tax authorities do not agree with our 
self-assessment of the taxes due for past periods, they may assess additional amounts of taxes past due, which could be material and may 
impact CEMEX’s cash flows.

•	 On	 June	 5,	 2010,	 the Secretaría Distrital de Ambiente de Bogotá, the District of Bogota’s environmental secretary (or the “environmental 
secretary”), ordered the suspension of the mining activities of CEMEX Colombia at El Tunjuelo quarry, located in Bogotá, Colombia, as a 
temporary injunction. As part of the temporary injunction, Holcim Colombia and Fundación San Antonio (local aggregates producers), 
which also have mining activities located in the same area of El Tunjuelo quarry, have also been ordered to suspend mining activities in 
that area. The environmental secretary alleges that during the past 60 years CEMEX Colombia and the other companies included in the 
temporary injunction have illegally changed the course of the Tunjuelo River, have used the percolating waters without any permission 
and have improperly used the edge of the river for mining activities. In connection with the temporary injunction, on June 5, 2010, CEMEX 
Colombia received a formal notification from the environmental secretary informing about the initiation of proceedings to impose fines 
based on the previously mentioned presumed environmental violations against CEMEX Colombia. CEMEX Colombia responded to the 
temporary injunction by requesting that it be revoked based on the fact that the mining activities at El Tunjuelo quarry are supported by the 
corresponding authorizations required by the applicable environmental laws and that all the environmental impact statements submitted by 
CEMEX Colombia have been reviewed and permanently authorized by the Ministerio del Medio Ambiente, Vivienda y Desarrollo Territorial. On 
June 11, 2010, the local authorities in Bogotá, in compliance with the environmental secretary’s decision, sealed off the mine to machinery 
and prohibited the removal of our aggregates inventory. Although there is not an official quantification of the possible fine, the environmental 
secretary has publicly declared that the fine could be as much as 300 billion Colombian pesos (US$157 or $1,941). The temporary injunction 
does not currently compromise the production and supply of ready-mix concrete to our clients in Colombia. CEMEX Colombia is analyzing its 
legal strategy to defend itself against these proceedings. At this stage, we are not able to assess the likelihood of an adverse result or potential 
damages which could be borne by CEMEX Colombia.

•	 In	October	2009,	CEMEX	Corp.,	one	of	CEMEX’s	subsidiaries	in	the	United	States,	and	other	cement	and	concrete	suppliers	were	named	as	
defendants in several purported class action lawsuits alleging price-fixing in Florida. The purported class action lawsuits are of two distinct 
types: a) the first type were filed by entities purporting to have purchased cement or ready-mix concrete directly from one or more of the 
defendants; and b) the second group of plaintiffs are entities purporting to have purchased cement or ready-mix concrete indirectly from 
one or more of the defendants. Underlying all proposed suits is the allegation that the defendants conspired to raise the price of cement 
and hinder competition in Florida. On October 12, 2010, the court granted in part the defendants’ motion, dismissing from the case all claims 
relating to cement and reducing the applicable time period of the plaintiffs’ claims. On October 29, 2010, the plaintiffs filed further amended 
complaints pursuant to the court’s decision. On December 2, 2010, CEMEX moved to dismiss the amended complaint filed by the indirect 
purchaser plaintiffs based on lack of standing. CEMEX also answered the complaint filed by the direct purchaser plaintiffs. CEMEX continues 
to believe that the lawsuits are without merit and intends to defend them vigorously.

•	 In	October	2008,	in	connection	with	the	nationalization	of	CEMEX’s	assets	in	Venezuela	(note	11A),	CEMEX’s	subsidiaries	in	Holland,	which	
held CEMEX’s shares in CEMEX Venezuela, submitted a complaint seeking international arbitration to the International Centre for Settlement 
of Investment Disputes (“ICSID”) following the Venezuelan Government’s confiscation of assets, deprivation of rights of CEMEX Venezuela and 
the initiation of the expropriation of CEMEX’s Venezuelan business. On July 27, 2010, the ICSID tribunal heard arguments on the jurisdictional 
objections raised by the Republic of Venezuela and issued its decision in favor of jurisdiction on December 30, 2010. The proceedings are now 
expected to proceed to the merits phase of the arbitration. CEMEX is unable at this preliminary stage to estimate the likely range of potential 
recovery or to determine what position the Republic of Venezuela will take in these proceedings, the nature of the award that may be issued 
by the ICSID tribunal or the likely extent of collection of any possible monetary award issued.
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 In addition, the government of Venezuela has claimed that three cement transportation vessels, transferred before the expropriation of 
CEMEX Venezuelan operations, continue to be the property of the former CEMEX Venezuela, and obtained interim measures before a 
Venezuelan court barring further transfer or disposition of the vessels. The government of Venezuela attempted to enforce this interim 
measure in the courts of Panama, and on November 2010, the Panamanian Supreme Civil Court’s confirmed its prior rejection of such 
attempt to give the Venezuelan interim measures legal effect in Panama. The appropriate affiliates of CEMEX will continue to resist any 
further efforts by the government of Venezuela to assert ownership rights over the vessels. 

•	 In	July	2008,	Strabag	SE	(“Strabag”),	one	of	the	leading	suppliers	of	building	materials	in	Europe,	entered	into	a	Share	Purchase	Agreement	
(“SPA”) to purchase CEMEX’s operations in Austria and Hungary for €310 (US$413 or $5,105), subject to authorization of the competition 
authorities in Hungary and Austria. On July 1, 2009, Strabag notified CEMEX of its purported rescission of the SPA, arguing that the regulatory 
approvals were not obtained before June 30, 2009. In October 2009, CEMEX filed a claim against Strabag before the International Arbitration 
Court of the International Chamber of Commerce (“ICC”), requesting a declaration that Strabag’s rescission of the SPA was invalid and 
claiming the payment of damages caused to CEMEX for the alleged breach of the SPA for €150 (US$200 or $2,472). In December 2009, 
Strabag requested the tribunal to dismiss the claim and also filed a counterclaim for the payment of damages and applied for security for 
costs related to the arbitration proceedings for an aggregate amount of approximately €2 (US$3 or $33). The security for costs application 
was withdrawn by Strabag in March 2010. The arbitration tribunal was constituted on February 16, 2010, and a first procedural hearing was 
held on March 23, 2010 at which parties agreed on the terms of reference and procedural rules in accordance to ICC Rules of Arbitration. 
On June 30, 2010, CEMEX submitted its statement of claim and its list of witnesses. On October 29, 2010, Strabag submitted its statement of 
defense and counterclaim. CEMEX believes Strabag’s counterclaim to be unfounded.

•	 In	2002,	CEMEX	Construction	Materials	Florida,	LLC	(“CEMEX	Florida”),	one	of	CEMEX’s	subsidiaries	in	the	United	States,	was	granted	one	
federal quarry permit that covered the SCL and FEC quarries, and was the beneficiary of another federal quarrying permit for the Lake Belt 
area in South Florida, which covered the Kendall Krome quarry. In response to litigation brought by environmental groups concerning the 
manner in which the federal quarry permits were granted, in January 2009, a judge from the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of 
Florida ordered the withdrawal of the federal quarry permits of CEMEX’s SCL, FEC and Kendall Krome quarries. The judge ruled that there 
were deficiencies in the procedures and analysis undertaken by the relevant governmental agencies involved with the issuance of the 
permits. On January 29, 2010, in connection with the withdrawal of federal quarry permits in Lake Belt, Florida, the Army Corps of Engineers 
concluded a revision related to the court’s ruling in 2006 and determined procedures for granting new federal quarry permits in the area. 
During February 2010, new quarry permits were granted to the SCL and FEC quarries. However, at December 31, 2010, a number of potential 
environmental impacts must be addressed before a new federal quarry permit may be issued for mining in the Kendall Krome quarry. If 
CEMEX Florida were unable to maintain the new Lake Belt permits, CEMEX Florida would need to source aggregates, to the extent available, 
from other locations in Florida or import aggregates. This would likely affect operating income from CEMEX’s Florida operations. Any adverse 
impacts on the Florida economy arising from the cessation or significant restriction of quarrying operations in the Lake Belt area could also 
have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

•	 In	April	2006,	the	cities	of	Kaštela	and	Solin	in	Croatia	published	their	respective	development	master	plans,	adversely	impacting	the	mining	
concession granted to a CEMEX’s subsidiary in Croatia by the Croatian government in September 2005. In May 2006, CEMEX filed an appeal 
before one constitutional court seeking a declaration by the court of its rights and seeking prohibition of the implementation of the master 
plans.	The	municipal	courts	in	Kaštela	and	Solin	had	previously	rejected	the	appeals	presented	by	CEMEX.	These	resolutions	were	appealed.	
These cases are currently under review by the Constitutional Court in Croatia, and it is expected that these proceedings will continue for 
several years before resolution. During the proceedings, the Administrative Court in Croatia ruled in favor of CEMEX, validating the legality 
of the mining concession granted by the government of Croatia. This decision was final. However, CEMEX expects a resolution from the 
Constitutional	Court	to	determine	if	the	cities	of	Kaštela	and	Solin,	within	the	scope	of	their	master	plans,	can	unilaterally	change	the	borders	
of	exploited	fields.	Currently,	it	is	difficult	to	determine	the	impact	on	CEMEX	as	a	result	of	the	Kaštela	and	Solin	proceedings.

In addition, as of December 31, 2010, there are various legal proceedings of minor impact that have arisen in the ordinary course of business. 
These proceedings involve: 1) product warranty claims; 2) claims for environmental damages; 3) indemnification claims relating to acquisitions; 
4) claims to revoke permits and/or concessions; and 5) other diverse civil actions. CEMEX considers that in those instances in which obligations 
have been incurred, CEMEX has accrued adequate provisions to cover the related risks. CEMEX believes these matters will be resolved without 
any significant effect on its business or results of operations.

 As of December 31, 2010, the tax returns submitted by some subsidiaries of CEMEX located in several countries are under review by the 
respective tax authorities in the ordinary course of business. CEMEX cannot anticipate if such reviews will result in new tax assessments, which, 
should any exist, would be appropriately disclosed and/or recognized in the financial statements.



21. RELATED PARTIES
All significant balances and transactions between the entities that constitute the CEMEX group have been eliminated in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements. These balances with related parties resulted primarily from: (i) the sale and purchase of goods between 
group entities; (ii) the sale and/or acquisition of subsidiaries’ shares within the CEMEX group; (iii) the invoicing of administrative services, rentals, 
trademarks and commercial name rights, royalties and other services rendered between group entities; and (iv) loans between related parties. 
Transactions between group entities were conducted on arm’s length terms based on market prices and conditions.

The definition of related parties includes entities or individuals outside the CEMEX group, which, pursuant to their relationship with CEMEX, may 
take advantage of being in a privileged situation. Likewise, this applies to cases in which CEMEX may take advantage of such relationships and 
obtain benefits in its financial position or operating results. CEMEX’s transactions with related parties are executed under market conditions. 
CEMEX has identified the following transactions between related parties:

•	 Mr.	Bernardo	Quintana	Isaac,	a	member	of	the	board	of	directors	at	CEMEX,	S.A.B.	de	C.V.,	is	the	current	chairman	of	the	board	of	directors	
of Empresas ICA, S.A.B. de C.V. (“Empresas ICA”), and was its chief executive officer until December 31, 2006. Empresas ICA is one of the most 
important engineering and construction companies in Mexico. In the ordinary course of business, CEMEX extends financing to Empresas ICA 
in connection with the purchase of CEMEX’s products, on the same credit conditions that CEMEX awards to other customers.

•	 Mr.	José	Antonio	Fernández	Carbajal,	member	of	the	board	of	directors	at	CEMEX,	S.A.B.	de	C.V.,	is	president	and	chief	executive	officer	of	
Fomento Empresarial Mexicano, S.A.B. de C.V. (“FEMSA”), a large multinational beverage company. In the ordinary course of business, CEMEX 
pays and receives various amounts to and from FEMSA for products and services for varying amounts on market terms. Mr. Fernández 
Carbajal is also vice-chairman of the board of Consejo de Enseñanza e Investigación Superior, A.C. (the managing entity of Instituto de Estudios 
Superiores de Monterrey or “ITESM”), of which Mr. Lorenzo Zambrano, chief executive officer and chairman of CEMEX’s board of directors, is 
chairman of the board. ITESM has received contributions by CEMEX for amounts that were not material in the periods presented.

•	 At	December	31,	2010,	Mr.	Rafael	Rangel	Sostmann,	a	member	of	the	board	of	directors	at	CEMEX,	S.A.B.	de	C.V.,	was	the	dean	of	ITESM.

•	 During	2010,	2009	and	2008,	there	were	no	loans	between	CEMEX	and	board	members	or	top	management	executives.

•	 For	the	years	ended	December	31,	2010,	2009	and	2008,	the	aggregate	amount	of	compensation	paid	by	CEMEX,	S.A.B.	de	C.V.	and	subsidiaries	
to its board of directors, including alternate directors and top management executives, was approximately US$11 ($139), US$11 ($144) and 
US$28 ($314), respectively. Of these amounts, approximately US$3 ($38) in 2010, US$10 ($131) in 2009 and US$12 ($134) in 2008, were 
paid as compensation plus performance bonuses, while approximately US$8 ($101) in 2010, US$1 ($13) in 2009 and US$16 ($179) in 2008, 
corresponded to share payments under the long-term incentive program in restricted CPOs.

22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On January 4, 2011, in connection with the class action lawsuits in Florida (note 20C), both the direct and indirect purchaser plaintiffs filed further 
amended complaint, which CEMEX answered on January 18, 2011. CEMEX simultaneously moved to partially dismiss the indirect purchaser 
plaintiffs’ amended complaint, again based on a lack of standing for two of the three named plaintiffs. CEMEX continues to believe that the 
lawsuits are without merit and intends to defend them vigorously.

On January 7, 2011, in connection with its nationalized assets in Venezuela (note 11A), CEMEX announced that it is maintaining a constructive 
negotiation process with the Republic of Venezuela aimed at achieving an amicable settlement and that an agreement may be finalized in the 
near term. Such agreement would render the ongoing arbitration process with the ICSID unnecessary. Nonetheless, for accounting purposes at 
December 31, 2010, CEMEX cannot assess the likelihood of effectively recovering the net asset in the short-term; therefore, its net assets remain 
within long-term assets.

On January 11, 2011, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. finalized the offering of US$1 billion aggregate principal amount of senior secured notes due in 2018 
with annual coupon of 9.0%, which were issued at 99.364% of face value, and will be callable beginning on their 4th anniversary. The notes 
share the collateral pledged to the lenders under the Financing Agreement and other senior secured indebtedness having the benefit of such 
collateral, and are unconditionally guaranteed by CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V., New Sunward Holding B.V. and CEMEX España, S.A.. This transaction 
was intended to improve CEMEX’s debt maturity profile and reduce short-term refinancing risk.

On January 21, 2011, the Mexican tax authority notified CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V., of a tax assessment for approximately $996 (US$81) pertaining 
to the tax year 2005. The tax assessment is related to the corporate income tax in connection with the tax consolidation regime. As a result of 
a tax reform in 2005; the law allows the cost of goods sold to be deducted instead of deducting purchases. Since there were inventories as of 
December 31, 2004, in a transition provision, the law allowed the inventory to be accumulated as income (thus reversing the deduction via 
purchases) and then deducted from 2005 onwards as cost of goods sold. In order to compute the income resulting from the inventories in 2004, 
the law allowed this income to be offset against accumulated tax losses of some of CEMEX’s subsidiaries. The authorities argued that because of 
this offsetting, the right to use such losses at the consolidated level had been lost; therefore, CEMEX had to increase its consolidated income or 
decrease its consolidated losses. CEMEX believes that there is no legal support for the conclusion of the Mexican tax authority and will proceed 
to challenge the assessment before the tax court.
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23. MAIN SUBSIDIARIES
The main subsidiaries as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

 % INTEREST

 SUBSIDIARY COUNTRY 2010 2009

CEMEX México, S. A. de C.V. 1 Mexico 100.0 100.0
 CEMEX España, S.A. 2 Spain 99.9 99.9
  CEMEX, Inc.  United States 100.0 100.0
  CEMEX (Costa Rica), S.A.  Costa Rica 99.1 99.1
  Assiut Cement Company  Egypt 95.8 95.8
  CEMEX Colombia S.A.  Colombia 99.7 99.7
  Cemento Bayano, S.A.  Panama 99.5 99.5
  CEMEX Dominicana, S.A. Dominican Republic 100.0 100.0
  CEMEX de Puerto Rico Inc. Puerto Rico 100.0 100.0
  CEMEX France Gestion (S.A.S.) France 100.0 100.0
  CEMEX Asia Holdings Ltd. 3 Singapore 100.0 100.0
   Solid Cement Corporation 3 Philippines 100.0 100.0
   APO Cement Corporation 3 Philippines 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX (Thailand) Co., Ltd. 3 Thailand 100.0 100.0
  CEMEX U.K. United Kingdom 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX Investments Limited United Kingdom 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX Deutschland, AG.  Germany 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX Austria, AG. Austria 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX Hrvatska d.d.  Croatia 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX Czech Operations, s.r.o.  Czech Republic 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX Polska sp. Z.o.o.  Poland 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX Hungária Kft. Hungary 100.0 100.0
   Readymix PLC. 4 Ireland 61.2 61.2
   CEMEX Holdings (Israel) Ltd.  Israel 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX SIA Latvia 100.0 100.0
   CEMEX Topmix LLC, Gulf Quarries LLC, 
        CEMEX Supermix LLC and CEMEX Falcon LLC 5 United Arab Emirates 100.0 100.0

1 CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. is the indirect holding company of CEMEX España, S.A. and subsidiaries.

2 CEMEX España, S.A. is the indirect holding company of all CEMEX’s international operations.

3 Represents CEMEX’s indirect interest in the economic benefits of these entities.

4 Readymix PLC is listed in the Irish stock exchange.

5 CEMEX owns 49% of the common stock of these entities and obtains 100% of the economic benefits, through arrangements with other stockholders.  



24. NOTES TO PARENT COMPANY-ONLY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. is a Mexican corporation, a holding company (parent) of entities whose main activities are oriented to the construction 
industry, through the production, marketing, distribution and sale of cement, ready-mix concrete, aggregates and other construction materials. 
CEMEX is a public stock corporation with variable capital (S.A.B. de C.V.) organized under the laws of the United Mexican States, or Mexico.

CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. was founded in 1906 and was registered with the Mercantile Section of the Public Register of Property and Commerce in 
Monterrey, N.L., Mexico in 1920 for a period of 99 years. In 2002, this period was extended to the year 2100. The shares of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. 
are listed on the Mexican Stock Exchange (“MSE”) as Ordinary Participation Certificates (“CPOs”). Each CPO represents two series “A” shares and 
one series “B” share of common stock of CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.  In addition, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange 
(“NYSE”) as American Depositary Shares or “ADSs” under the symbol “CX.” Each ADS represents ten CPOs.

The terms “CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.” or the “Parent Company” used in these accompanying notes to the Parent Company only financial statements 
refer to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. without its consolidated subsidiaries. The terms the “Company” or “CEMEX” refer to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. together 
with its consolidated subsidiaries. The issuance of Parent Company only and consolidated financial statements was authorized by the Company’s 
management on January 27, 2011, and they will be submitted for approval in the next stockholders’ meeting.

B. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The same accounting policies listed in note 2 to CEMEX S.A.B. de C.V. consolidated financial statements were applied, as applicable, in the 
preparation of the Parent Company’s financial statements and subsidiaries. This note includes references to other notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, in those cases in which the information also refers to the Parent Company.

Basis of presentation and disclosure
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with MFRS issued by CINIF. MFRS recognized the effects of inflation on the financial 
information until December 31, 2007. 

Definition of terms 
When reference is made to pesos or “$,” it means Mexican pesos. Except when specific references are made to “earnings per share” and “prices 
per share,” the amounts in the financial statements and the accompanying notes are stated in millions of pesos. When reference is made to 
“US$” or dollars, it means millions of dollars of the United States of America (“United States”). When reference is made to “£” or pounds, it means 
millions of British pounds sterling. When reference is made to “€” or euros, it means millions of the currency in circulation in a significant number 
of European Union countries.

When it is deemed relevant, certain amounts presented in the notes to the financial statements include between parentheses a translation into 
dollars, into pesos, or both, as applicable. These translations are provided as informative data and should not be construed as representations 
that the amounts in pesos or dollars, as applicable, actually represent that those peso or dollar amounts could be converted into pesos or dollars 
at the rate indicated. The translation procedures used are detailed as follows:

•	 In	2010,	2009	and	2008,	 translations	of	pesos	 into	dollars	 and	dollars	 into	pesos,	were	determined	using	 the	closing	exchange	 rates	of	
$12.36 pesos per dollar, $13.09 pesos per dollar and $13.74 pesos per dollar for balance sheet amounts, respectively, and using the average 
exchange rates of $12.67 pesos per dollar, $13.60 pesos per dollar and $11.21 pesos per dollar for the statements of operations amounts for 
2010, 2009 and 2008, respectively. 

•	 When	the	amounts	between	parentheses	are	the	peso	and	the	dollar,	it	means	the	disclosed	amounts	were	originated	in	other	currencies.	
Such amounts were determined by translating the foreign currency figures into dollars using the respective closing exchange rates at year-
end, and then translated into pesos using the closing exchange rates of $12.36 pesos per dollar in 2010, $13.09 pesos per dollar in 2009 and 
$13.74 pesos per dollar in 2008.

Inflationary accounting
Beginning on January 1, 2008, pursuant to MFRS B-10, “Inflation Effects” (“MFRS B-10”), the financial statements subject to restatement are those 
related to an entity whose functional currency corresponds to a country in which the cumulative inflation rate over the preceding three years 
equals or exceeds 26% (i.e., a high-inflation environment). Designation takes place at the end of each year and inflation restatement is applied 
prospectively. 

The amounts in the statements of operations, the statements of cash flows and the statement of changes in stockholders’ equity are presented 
in nominal pesos. The restatement adjustments as of December 31, 2007, date in which the inflationary accounting was discontinued, are part 
of the carrying amounts. When moving back from a low-inflation to a high-inflation environment, the initial restatement factor should consider 
the cumulative inflation since the last time in which inflationary accounting was applied.

Upon adoption of MFRS B-10 on January 1, 2008, the accumulated result for holding non-monetary assets as of December 31, 2007 included in 
“Other equity reserves” (note 16B) was reclassified to “Retained earnings,” representing a decrease in this caption of approximately $97,722.

Statement of cash flows
The statements of cash flows present cash inflows and outflows in nominal currency, and exclude inflation effects and unrealized foreign 
exchange effects. The statements of cash flows exclude the following transactions that did not represent sources or uses of cash: a) in 2009, the 
effects of the exchange of CBs into mandatorily convertible securities (note 12A), which represented a reduction in debt of $4,007, and increase 
in other financial obligations of $2,036 and an increase in stockholders’ equity of $1,971 (net of issuance expenses); b) in 2010, 2009 and 2008, the 
increase in stockholders’ equity associated with the capitalization of retained earnings for $5,481, $4,373 and $6,794, respectively (note 16A); c) in 
2010 and 2009, the increase in stockholders’ equity associated with CPOs issued as part of the executive stock-based compensation for $312 and 
$163, respectively (note 16A); and d) in 2010 and 2009, a decrease of $2,911 and an increase of $2,245, respectively, in taxes payable as a result of 
the Mexican tax reform of 2009, which were recognized against retained earnings (notes 15A and 16C). As of December 31, 2010, the line item 
“Cash and investments” of the Parent Company in the balance sheet for $195 refer to the CB reserve (note 12A).
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C. OTHER ACCOUNTS RECEIvABLE
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, other short-term accounts receivable of the Parent Company consisted of:

 2010 2009

Non-trade accounts receivable $ 294 312
Other refundable taxes  281 1,871
   $ 575 2,183

D. INvESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, investments of the Parent Company in subsidiaries and associates, which are accounted for by the equity 
method, were as follows:

 2010 2009

Book value at acquisition date $ 107,749 107,749
Revaluation by equity method  156,802 173,254
   $ 264,551 281,003

In 2009, the Parent Company made an equity contribution to its subsidiary CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. (“CEMEX México”) and CEMEX Trademarks 
Holding, for approximately $11,891 and $250, respectively, while the Parent Company received an equity distribution from CEMEX Central, S.A. 
de C.V. for approximately $16,500.

E. LAND AND BUILDINGS
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Parent Company’s land and buildings are summarized as follows:

 2010 2009

Land  $ 1,819 1,819
Buildings  470 470
Accumulated depreciation  (312) (306)
   $ 1,977 1,983

F. GOODWILL AND DEFERRED CHARGES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Parent Company’s goodwill and deferred charges consisted of:

 2010 2009

Intangible assets of indefinite useful life:
Goodwill, net $ 1,894 1,894
Deferred Charges:
Deferred financing costs  3,141 2,906
Deferred income taxes (note J)  4,216 9,905
Accumulated amortization  (1,130) (394)
 Total deferred charges $ 6,227 12,417
 Total goodwill and deferred charges $ 8,121 14,311

In 2009, the Parent Company capitalized financing costs associated with the Financing Agreement for approximately $2,843 (US$209). Under 
MFRS, the Financing Agreement qualified as the issuance of new debt and the extinguishment of the old facilities. Consequently, approximately 
$92 (US$7) of deferred financing costs associated with the extinguished debt were recognized immediately in the statement of operations. 

Goodwill of the Parent Company refers to a portion of the reporting unit in Mexico (note 11). During the last quarter of 2010, 2009 and 2008, the 
Parent Company made the annual test for goodwill impairment. For the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, the Parent Company 
did not recognize impairment losses for goodwill, considering that impairment tests presented an excess of the value in use (discounted cash 
flows) over the carrying amount of goodwill in the reporting unit. The projection models for cash flows to value long-lived assets include 
long-term variables. Nevertheless, the Parent Company believes that its cash flow projections and the discount rates used for present value, 
reasonably capture current conditions at the time of the calculations, considering that: a) the starting point of future cash flow models is the 
operating flow for the previous year; b) the cost of capital reflects current risks and volatility in the markets; and c) the cost of debt represents 
the Parent Company’s specific interest rates observed in recent transactions. 

Impairment tests are significantly sensitive to, among other factors, the estimation of future prices of CEMEX’s products, the development 
of operating expenses, local and international economic trends in the construction industry, long-term growth expectations in the different 
markets, as well as the discount rates and the rates of growth in perpetuity used. The Parent Company uses after-tax discount rate for its reporting 
unit in Mexico, which are applied to after-tax cash flows. Undiscounted cash flows are significantly sensitive to the growth rate in perpetuity 
used. Likewise, discounted cash flows are significantly sensitive to the discount rate used. The higher the growth rate in perpetuity applied, the 
higher the amount obtained of undiscounted future cash flows by reporting unit. Conversely, the higher the discount rate applied, the lower 
the amount obtained of discounted estimated future cash flows by reporting unit. For impairment tests in 2010 and 2009 of the reporting unit 
in Mexico, the Parent Company used a discount rate of 10% in both years, as well as a growth rate in perpetuity of 2.5% in both years.



G. OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED EXPENSES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, other accounts payable and accrued expenses of the Parent Company are disclosed below:

 2010 2009

Other accounts payable, accrued expenses, dividends payable and interest payable $ 402 355
Tax payable  2,390 920
   $ 2,792 1,275

H. SHORT-TERM AND LONG-TERM DEBT
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Parent Company’s debt by interest rate and currency type, is as follows:

 CARRYING AMOUNT EFFECTIvE RATE 1

 2010 2009 2010 2009

Short-term
Floating rate $ 3,922 3,986 5.4% 4.6%
Fixed rate  759 – 7.7% –
    4,681 3,986
long-term
Floating rate  38,182 50,082 5.2% 5.3%
Fixed rate  9,741 2,923 8.7% 9.2%
    47,923 53,005
   $ 52,604 56,991

 2010 2009
    EFFECTIvE    EFFECTIvE 
 SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM TOTAL RATE 1 SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM TOTAL RATE 1

Dollars $ 48 35,456 35,504 5.5% $ 291 32,764 33,055 4.7%
Pesos    4,633 12,467 17,100 6.7%  3,695 20,241 23,936 6.3%
   $ 4,681 47,923 52,604  $ 3,986 53,005 56,991

1 Represents the weighted average effective interest rate.

As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Parent Company’s short-term debt included $4,406 and $3,186, respectively, representing current 
maturities of long-term debt.

The maturities of the Parent Company’s long-term debt as of December 31, 2010, which reflect the amortization of debt under the Financing 
Agreement (note 12A), are as follows:

 PARENT

2012 $ 9,877
2013  7,756
2014  21,906
2015  7,741
2016 and thereafter  643
 $ 47,923

On March 30, 2010, the Parent Company closed an offering of US$715 aggregate principal amount of 4.875% Optional Convertible Subordinated 
Notes due 2015, including the full exercise of the US$65 over-allotment option granted to the initial purchasers of the notes. The notes are 
subordinated to all the Parent Company’s liabilities and commitments. The holders of the notes have the option to convert their notes for 
CEMEX’s ADSs at a conversion price per ADS 30% higher than the ADS price at the pricing of the transaction. In connection with the offering, 
CEMEX entered into a capped call transaction expected to generally reduce the potential dilution cost to CEMEX upon future conversion of the 
notes (note 12C). Based on MFRS, the optional convertible notes contain a liability component and an equity component (note 2K). The equity 
component, which represents the premium of the noteholders’ call option, amounted to $1,232 (US$99) and was recognized upon issuance 
within “Other equity reserves.” As of December 31, 2010, the liability component amounted to approximately $7,690 (US$622). After antidilution 
adjustments, the conversion rate as of December 31, 2010 was 76.4818 ADS per 1 thousand principal amount of such notes.
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In December 2009, the Parent Company completed its offer to exchange CBs issued in Mexico with maturities between 2010 and 2012, into 
mandatorily convertible securities for approximately $4,126 (US$315). Reflecting antidilution adjustments, at their mandatory scheduled 
conversion in ten years or earlier if the price of the CPO reaches approximately $34.50, the securities will be mandatorily convertible into 
approximately 179.4 million CPOs at a conversion price of approximately $23.00 per CPO. During their tenure, the securities yield a 10% interest 
payable quarterly. Holders have an option to voluntarily convert their securities, after the first anniversary of their issuance, on any interest 
payment date into CPOs. Based on MFRS, the convertible securities represent a compound instrument which has a liability component and an 
equity component. At December 31, 2010 and 2009, the liability component, which represents the net present value of interest payments on 
the principal amount, without assuming any early conversion, amounted to $1,994 and $2,090, respectively, and was recognized within “Other 
financial obligations.” The equity component, which represents the difference between the principal amount and the liability component and 
was recognized within “Other equity reserves” net of commissions amounted to $1,971.

The Parent Company’s debt contracts contain restrictive covenants calculated on a consolidated basis requiring, among others, the compliance 
with financial ratios and tests, which are detailed in note 12A. 

I. BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the main accounts receivable and payable with related parties were as follows:

 ASSETS LIABILITIES
 2010 SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM

CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. $ 4,289 13,943 – –
Centro Distribuidor de Cemento, S.A. de C.V.  – 25,196 – –
CEMEX International Finance Co.  16 – 3,349 54,419
CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V.  – – 171 –
TEG Energía, S.A. de C.V.  – – – 439
Others  73 – 10 –
   $ 4,378 39,139 3,530 54,858

 ASSETS LIABILITIES
 2009 SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM SHORT-TERM LONG-TERM

CEMEX México, S.A. de C.V. $ 1,558 13,943 – –
CEMEX International Finance Co.  1,069 – – 31,423
CEMEX Central, S.A. de C.V.  – – 519 –
TEG Energía, S.A. de C.V.  – – – 353
Others  50 – 28 –
   $ 2,677 13,943 547 31,776

The main operations with related parties are summarized as follows:

 PARENT COMPANY 2010 2009 2008

Rental income $ 370 272 271
License fees  814 1,002 1,197
Financial expense  (3,293) (2,576) (1,316)
Management service expenses  (1,046) (836) (753)
Financial income  2,689 1,186 1,670
Results from financial instruments  (120) (4,067) 3,063
Other expenses, net  (1,168) (870) (809)

Balances and transactions of the Parent Company with related parties result primarily from: (i) the sale and/or acquisition of subsidiaries’ shares 
within the CEMEX group; (ii) the invoicing of administrative services, rentals, trademarks and commercial name rights, royalties and other 
services rendered between group entities; and (iii) loans between related parties. Transactions between group entities are conducted on arm’s 
length terms based on market prices and conditions.

The account receivable balance against Centro Distribuidor de Cemento, S.A. de C.V., corresponds to a loan cession denominated in dollars which 
the subsidiary had with CEMEX International Finance Co., for US$2,341. The new account receivable accrues interest at TIIE plus 100 basis points.

The long-term account receivable with CEMEX Mexico is related to a loan bearing the TIIE rate plus 129 basis points. The account payable to 
TEG Energía, S.A. de C.V., corresponds to the valuation of an interest rate swap related to energy projects negotiated between CEMEX and 
TEG Energía for a notional amount of US$15 with maturity in September 2022. The account payable to CEMEX International Finance Co. bears 
interest at market rates and matures in 2028.

The loss on financial instruments during 2009 mainly refers to results incurred in hedging transactions with related parties using foreign 
currency options. 

As of December 31, 2010, the Parent Company acted as a counterpart to third parties in forward sale commitments for emission allowances for 
approximately $319 with maturity in March 2011.



The definition of related parties includes entities or individuals outside the CEMEX group, which, pursuant to their relationship with CEMEX, may 
take advantage from being in a privileged situation. Likewise, this applies to cases in which CEMEX may take advantage of such relationships and 
obtain benefits in its financial position or operating results. CEMEX’s transactions with related parties are executed under market conditions. The 
Parent Company identifies the following transactions between related parties:

•	 Mr.	Bernardo	Quintana	Isaac,	a	member	of	the	board	of	directors	at	CEMEX,	S.A.B.	de	C.V.,	is	the	current	chairman	of	the	board	of	directors	
of Empresas ICA, S.A.B. de C.V. (“Empresas ICA”), and was its chief executive officer until December 31, 2006. Empresas ICA is one of the most 
important engineering and construction companies in Mexico. In the ordinary course of business, CEMEX extends financing to Empresas ICA 
in connection with the purchase of CEMEX’s products, on the same credit conditions that CEMEX awards to other customers.

•	 Mr.	José	Antonio	Fernández	Carbajal,	member	of	the	board	of	directors	at	CEMEX,	S.A.B.	de	C.V.,	is	president	and	chief	executive	officer	of	
Fomento Empresarial Mexicano, S.A.B. de C.V. (“FEMSA”), a large multinational beverage company. In the ordinary course of business, CEMEX 
pays and receives various amounts to and from FEMSA for products and services for varying amounts on market terms. Mr. Fernández 
Carbajal is also vice-chairman of the board of Consejo de Enseñanza e Investigación Superior, A.C. (the managing entity of Instituto de Estudios 
Superiores de Monterrey or “ITESM”), of which Mr. Lorenzo Zambrano, chief executive officer and chairman of CEMEX’s board of directors, is 
chairman of the board. ITESM has received contributions by CEMEX for amounts that were not material in the periods presented.

•	 At	December	31,	2010,	Mr.	Rafael	Rangel	Sostmann,	a	member	of	the	board	of	directors	at	CEMEX,	S.A.B.	de	C.V.,	was	the	dean	of	ITESM.

J. INCOME TAXES 
INCOME TAXES 
In November 2009, the Mexican Congress approved amendments to the income tax law that are effective beginning January 1, 2010. The 
new law included changes to the tax consolidation regime that will require CEMEX, among other things, to determine income taxes as if the 
tax consolidation provisions in Mexico did not exist from 1999 and onward. These changes also required the payment of taxes on dividends 
between entities of the tax consolidation group (specifically, dividends paid from profits that were not taxed in the past), certain special items in 
the tax consolidation, as well as tax loss carryforwards generated by entities within the consolidated tax group that should had been recovered 
by such individual entities over the succeeding 10 years. This new law increased the statutory income tax rate from 28% to 30% for the years 
2010 to 2012, 29% for 2013, and decreasing to 28% for 2014 and future years. Pursuant to the new tax law, the Parent Company was required to 
pay in 2010 (at the new 30% tax rate) 25% of the tax that results from eliminating the tax consolidation effects from 1999 to 2004. The remaining 
75% should be paid as follows: 25% in 2011, 20% in 2012, 15% in 2013 and 15% in 2014. In connection with the consolidation effects originated 
after 2004, these should be considered during the sixth fiscal year following their origination and will be payable over the succeeding five years 
in the same proportions (25%, 25%, 20%, 15%, and 15%). Applicable taxes payable as a result of the changes to the tax consolidation regime will 
be increased by inflation as required by the Mexican income tax law.  

As of December 31, 2009, the Parent Company recognized the nominal value of estimated taxes payable in connection with the aforementioned 
amendments in the law for approximately $10,461. Based on Interpretation 18, this amount was recognized by the Parent Company as a tax 
payable on its balance sheet against “Other non-current assets” for approximately $8,216, in connection with the net liability recognized before 
the new tax law and that the Parent Company expects to realize in connection with the payment of this tax liability; and approximately $2,245 
against “Retained earnings” for the portion, according to the new law, related to: a) the difference between the sum of the equity of the controlled 
entities for tax purposes and the equity of the consolidated entity for tax purposes; b) dividends from the controlled entities for tax purposes 
to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V.; and c) other transactions between the companies included in the tax consolidation that represented the transfer of 
resources within such group. In December 2010, pursuant to miscellaneous rules, the tax authority in Mexico granted the option to defer the 
calculation and payment of the income tax, until the subsidiary is disposed of or the Parent Company eliminates the tax consolidation, over the 
difference between the sum of the equity of the controlled entities for tax purposes and the equity of the consolidated entity for tax purposes. 
As a result, the Parent Company reduced its estimated tax payable for approximately $2,911 against a credit to “Retained earnings.” 

In 2010, changes in the Parent Company’s tax payable associated to the tax consolidation in Mexico are as follows:

 2010

Balance at the beginning of the period $ 10,461
 Income tax received from subsidiaries  2,496
 Restatement for the period  358
 Payments during the period  (325)
 Effects associated with miscellaneous rules  (2,911)
Balance at the end of the period $ 10,079

As of December 31, 2010, the balance of tax loss carryforwards that have not been considered in the tax consolidation is approximately $5,727. 

As of December 31, 2010, the estimated payment schedule of taxes payable resulting from changes in the tax consolidation regime in Mexico 
was as follows: 

 2010

2011 $ 501
2012  667
2013  667
2014  1,930
2015  2,037
2016 and thereafter  4,277
  $ 10,079



The Parent Company and its Mexican subsidiaries determine income tax on a consolidated basis; therefore, the amounts recognized in the Parent 
Company-only financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008, include the effect of such tax consolidation. 

On January 1, 2008, a new law became effective in Mexico, which was named the Minimum Corporate Tax law (Impuesto Empresarial Tasa Única 
or “IETU”) and superseded the Business Asset Tax law (“BAT”). IETU is calculated based on cash flows, and the rate was 16.5% in 2008, 17% in 
2009 and will be 17.5% in 2010 and thereafter. Entities subject to IETU are also required to determine income tax and pay the greater of the 
amounts between the two. In broad terms, taxable revenues for IETU purposes are those generated through the sale of goods, the rendering 
of professional services, as well as rental revenue. There are certain exceptions, and a taxpayer may consider, as deductible items for IETU 
calculations, the expenses incurred to conduct the activities previously described. Capital expenditures are fully deductible for IETU. Each entity 
should calculate IETU on a stand-alone basis, and tax consolidation is not permitted. Unlike BAT, IETU is a definitive tax and, unlike income tax, 
the taxable income under IETU is greater since some deductions are not permitted, which in some cases may be compensated by the lower 
IETU rate than the income tax rate. During 2009 and 2008, the Parent Company and its main subsidiaries in Mexico paid income tax in lieu of 
IETU, as its income tax exceeded the minimum corporate tax under IETU.

In 2010, 2009 and 2008, income tax recognized in the Parent Company’s statements of operations consisted of:
 2010 2009 2008

Current income tax $ (357) 13 66
Deferred income tax  (5,564) (554) 5,045
   $ (5,921) (541) 5,111

The Parent Company has consolidated tax loss carryforwards for approximately $5,727 generated in 2008 by its Mexican operations which, 
restated for inflation, can be amortized against taxable income obtained in the succeeding ten years. 

As of December 31, 2010, the Parent Company’s individual tax loss carryforwards were as follows:
  AMOUNT OF YEAR OF 
 YEAR IN WHICH TAX LOSS OCCURRED CARRYFORWARDS EXPIRATION

2001  $ 2,274 2011
2002   5,796 2012
2003   5,455 2013
2004   54 2014
2005   375 2015
2006 and thereafter  25,646 2016 
   $ 39,600

BAT levied in excess of income tax for the period may be recovered, restated for inflation, in any of the succeeding ten years, provided that 
the income tax incurred exceeds BAT in such period. The Parent Company determines income tax on a consolidated basis; consequently, it 
calculated and presented consolidated BAT through the 2007 tax period. As of December 31, 2010, the recoverable BAT was $141 and expires 
in 2016.  

DEFERRED INCOME TAX
The valuation method for deferred income taxes is detailed in note 2N. Deferred income taxes for the period represent the difference between 
the balances, in nominal pesos, of deferred income at the beginning and the end of the period. As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the income 
tax effects of the main temporary differences that generated the deferred income tax assets and liabilities of the Parent Company are presented 
below:

 2010 2009

Deferred tax assets:
Tax loss and tax credits carryforwards $ 11,508 11,047
Recoverable BAT  141 139
Convertible securities  247 585
Derivative financial instruments  526 524
 Gross deferred tax assets  12,422 12,295
Less – valuation allowance  (6,452) (749)
 Total deferred tax asset, net  5,970 11,546
Deferred tax liabilities:
Land and buildings  (486) (489)
Derivative financial instruments  (257) (99)
Investment in associates  (1,011) (1,053)
 Total deferred tax liabilities  (1,754) (1,641)
 Net active position of deferred taxes $ 4,216 9,905

The change in deferred income taxes during 2010 and 2009 include an expense of $338 and an income of $585, respectively, related to the 
effects generated by the future tax deduction related to the debt components of the convertible securities, which were recorded in “Other 
equity reserves,” $182 in 2010 related to expenses incurred in equity issuance, and $4,626 in 2009, related to the new income tax law. The net 
change in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2010, 2009 and 2008 was an increase of $5,703, an increase of $610 and 
a decrease of $592, respectively. 
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The Parent Company’s management considers that sufficient taxable income will be generated to realize the tax benefits associated with 
the deferred income tax assets, and the tax loss carryforwards, prior to their expiration. In the event that present conditions change, and it is 
determined that future operations would not generate enough taxable income, or that tax strategies are no longer viable, the valuation allowance 
would be increased against the results of the period. The Parent Company does not recognize a deferred tax liability for the undistributed 
earnings generated by its subsidiaries recognized under the equity method, considering that such undistributed earnings are expected to be 
reinvested, not generating income tax in the foreseeable future. Likewise, the Parent Company does not recognize a deferred income tax liability 
related to its investments in subsidiaries considering that the Parent Company controls the reversal of the temporary differences arising from 
these investments.

RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIvE TAX RATE
The effects of inflation are recognized differently for income tax and for accounting purposes. This situation, and other differences between 
the financial reporting and the corresponding tax basis of assets and liabilities, give rise to permanent differences between the approximate 
statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate presented in the Parent Company’s statements of operations. As of December 31, 2010, 2009 and 
2008, these differences were as follows:
 2010 2009 2008

 % % %

Effective Parent Company statutory tax rate  (30.0) 28.0 (28.0)
Equity in income (loss) of subsidiaries and associates  20.8 (166.9) (88.4)
Valuation allowance for tax loss carryforwards  53.4 31.0 (5.6)
Benefit for tax consolidation  – – (45.6)
Inflation adjustments  8.9 46.0 14.0
Others  2.8 89.7 (26.8)
Parent Company’s effective tax rate  55.9 27.8 (180.4)

K. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
The consolidated controlling stockholders’ equity is the same as the Parent Company’s stockholders’ equity. Therefore, stockholders’ equity 
information detailed in note 16A to the consolidated financial statements also refers to the Parent Company, except for non-controlling interest 
and the perpetual bonds, which refer exclusively to the consolidated entity and cumulative initial effect of deferred taxes. 

L. EXECUTIvE STOCK OPTION PROGRAMS
Of the different stock option programs disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, only the “Fixed program” was issued by the 
Parent Company. Entities obligated under the other programs are part of the consolidated group.

M. EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE
The calculation of earnings (loss) per share included in note 18 is the same for the Parent Company.

N. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
GUARANTEES
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. guaranteed loans made to certain subsidiaries for approximately US$13,028 and 
US$12,570, respectively. 

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the approximate cash flows that were required by the Parent Company to meet its material contractual 
obligations are summarized as follows:

 (U.S. DOLLARS MILLIONS) 2010 2009
  LESS THAN 1-3 3-5 MORE THAN 
 OBLIGATIONS 1 YEAR YEARS YEARS 5 YEARS TOTAL  TOTAL

Long-term debt 1 US$ 356 800 2,400 678 4,234 4,293
Interest payments on debt 2  194 393 146 7 740 1,004
Total contractual obligations US$ 550 1,193 2,546 685 4,974 5,297
   $ 6,798 14,745 31,469 8,467 61,479 69,338

1 The schedule of debt payments, which includes current maturities, does not consider the effect of any refinancing that may occur of debt during the following 
years. The Parent Company has been successful replacing its long-term obligations with others of similar nature in the past.

2 In the determination of future estimated interest payments on floating rate denominated debt, the Parent Company used the floating interest rates in effect as 
of December 31, 2010 and 2009.

O. TAX ASSESSMENTS AND LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Pursuant to amendments to the Mexican income tax law effective on January 1, 2005, Mexican companies with investments in entities incorporated 
in foreign countries whose income tax liability is less than 75% of the income tax that would be payable in Mexico, are required to pay taxes 
in Mexico on indirect revenues, such as dividends, royalties, interest, capital gains and rental fees obtained by such foreign entities, provided 
however, that such revenues are not derived from entrepreneurial activities in such countries. CEMEX challenged the constitutionality of the 
amendments before the Mexican federal courts. In September 2008, the Supreme Court of Justice ruled the amendments were constitutional 
for tax years 2005 to 2007. Since the Supreme Court’s decision does not pertain to the amount of taxes due or other tax obligations, CEMEX will 
self-assess any taxes due through the submission of amended tax returns. As of December 31, 2010, based on preliminary estimates, CEMEX 
believes that the amount will not be material, but no assurance can be given that the Mexican tax authorities will agree with CEMEX’s self-
assessment of the taxes due for past periods.

P. SUBSEQUENT EvENTS
Subsequent events of the Parent Company are included in note 22.
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fINaNCIal tErMs
aMErICaN DEPosItarY sharEs (aDss) are a means for non-U.S.-based 
corporations to list their ordinary equity on an American stock 
exchange. Denominated in US dollars, they confer full rights of 
ownership to the corporation’s underlying shares, which are held 
on deposit by a custodian bank in the company’s home country or 
territory. In CEMEX, each ADS represents 10 CPOs.

EUrIBor (EUro INtErBaNk offErED ratE) is the rate at which euro 
interbank term deposits within the euro zone are offered by one 
prime bank to another prime bank.

EXPaNsIoN CaPItal EXPENDItUrEs consist of expansion spending on our 
cement, ready-mix concrete, and other core businesses in existing 
markets.

frEE Cash floW equals operating EBITDA minus net interest expense, 
maintenance and expansion capital expenditures, change in 
working capital, taxes paid, and other cash items (net other 
expenses less proceeds from the disposal of obsolete and/or 
substantially depleted operating fixed assets that are no longer in 
operation and coupon payments on our perpetual notes).

lIBor (loNDoN INtErBaNk offErED ratE) is a daily reference rate based 
on the interest rates at which banks borrow unsecured funds from 
other banks in London.

MaINtENaNCE CaPItal EXPENDItUrEs consist of maintenance spending 
on our cement, ready-mix concrete, and other core businesses in 
existing markets.

NEt WorkING CaPItal equals operating accounts receivable (including 
other current assets received as payment in kind) plus historical 
inventories minus operating payables.

oPEratING EBItDa is operating income plus depreciation and 
amortization. Amortization of goodwill is not included in operating 
income, but is instead recorded in other income (expense) below 
the operating line. Operating EBITDA does not include certain 
extraordinary income and expenses that are not included in 
operating income under Mexican GAAP. Operating EBITDA is not a 
GAAP measure.

orDINarY PartICIPatIoN CErtIfICatEs (CPos) represent two of CEMEX’s 
series A shares and one of CEMEX’s series B shares. This instrument 
is listed on the Mexican Stock Exchange.

tIIE (tasa DE INtErés INtErBaNCarIa DE EQUIlIBrIo) is a measure of the 
average cost of funds in the Mexican interbank money market.

INDUstrY tErMs
aGGrEGatEs are sand and gravel, which are mined from quarries. 
They give ready-mix concrete its necessary volume and add to its 
overall strength. Under normal circumstances, one cubic meter of 
fresh concrete contains two metric tons of gravel and sand.

ClEaN DEVEloPMENt MEChaNIsM (CDM) is a mechanism under the Kyoto 
Protocol that allows Annex I countries to recognize greenhouse 
gas emission reductions from projects developed in Non-Annex I 
countries.

ClINkEr is an intermediate cement product made by sintering 
limestone, clay, and iron oxide in a kiln at around 1,450 degrees 
Celsius. One metric ton of clinker is used to make approximately 1.1 
metric tons of gray Portland cement.

flY ash is a combustion residue from power plants that can be used 
as a non-clinker cementitious material.

GraY PortlaND CEMENt is a hydraulic binding agent with a 
composition by weight of at least 95% clinker and 0–5% of a 
minor component (usually calcium sulfate). It can set and harden 
underwater and, when mixed with aggregates and water, produces 
concrete or mortar.

INstallED CaPaCItY is the theoretical annual production capacity of a 
plant; whereas effective capacity is a plant’s actual optimal annual 
production capacity, which can be 10–20% less than installed 
capacity.

MEtrIC toN is the equivalent of 1.102 short tons.

PEtrolEUM CokE (PEtCokE) is a byproduct of the oil refining coking 
process.

PoZZolaNa is a fine, sandy volcanic ash.

rEaDY-MIX CoNCrEtE is a mixture of cement, aggregates, and water.

slaG is the byproduct of smelting ore to purify metals.

terMs
we use
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ALFONSO ROMO GARzA
JOSé MANUEL RINCóN GALLARDO
JOSé ANTONIO FERNáNDEz CARBAJAL
RAFAEL RANGEL SOSTMANN

sECrEtarY

RAMIRO vILLARREAL MORALES
(not a member of the board)

aUDIt CoMMIttEE

ROBERTO zAMBRANO vILLARREAL
President

JOSé MANUEL RINCóN GALLARDO
ALFONSO ROMO GARzA
RAFAEL RANGEL SOSTMANN

CorPoratE PraCtICEs CoMMIttEE

DIONISIO GARzA MEDINA
President

BERNARDO QUINTANA ISAAC
JOSé ANTONIO FERNáNDEz CARBAJAL
RAFAEL RANGEL SOSTMANN

fINaNCE CoMMIttEE

ROGELIO zAMBRANO LOzANO
President

TOMáS MILMO SANTOS
RODOLFO GARCíA MURIEL
ALFONSO ROMO GARzA
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lorENZo h. ZaMBraNo (66)
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Zambrano joined CEMEX in 1968. He was named CEO in 1985 

and has served as Chairman of the Board since 1995. He holds a B.S. 

degree in mechanical engineering from Tecnológico de Monterrey 

and an M.B.A. from Stanford University. He is a member of the Board 

of Directors of IBM and FEMSA, and he serves on the Citigroup Inter-

national Advisory Board. Mr. Zambrano is also Chairman of the Board 

of Tecnológico de Monterrey.

fraNCIsCo GarZa (55)
President of the Americas

Mr. Garza is a graduate of Tecnológico de Monterrey and has an 

M.B.A. from Cornell University’s Johnson Graduate School of Man-

agement. Since he joined CEMEX in 1988, he has occupied several 

senior management positions in the company, including President 

of CEMEX USA; President of CEMEX Venezuela; President of CEMEX 

Panama; and President of CEMEX Mexico. Today, Mr. Garza is directly 

responsible for CEMEX’s interests and operations in the United States, 

Mexico, Central and South America and the Caribbean.

JUaN roMEro (53)
President of the Europe, Middle East, Africa & Asia Region

Mr. Romero graduated from Universidad de Comillas, Spain, where 

he studied Law and Economic and Enterprise Sciences. He joined CE-

MEX in 1989 and has occupied several senior management positions, 

including the responsibility for the company’s operations in Colom-

bia and Mexico, as well as President of CEMEX South America and 

Caribbean region. Currently, he is directly responsible for CEMEX’s 

operations and interests in Europe, the Middle East, Africa, and Asia.

roDrIGo trEVIño (54)
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Treviño, who joined CEMEX in 1997, received his B.S. and M.S. 

degrees in industrial engineering from Stanford University. He is 

responsible for the company’s finance, capital markets, treasury, and 

investor relations.

fErNaNDo a. GoNZálEZ (56)
Executive vice President of Planning and Finance

Since joining CEMEX in 1989, he has held several senior management 

positions, including Corporate Vice President of Strategic Planning; 

President of CEMEX Venezuela; President of CEMEX Asia; President of 

CEMEX South America and Caribbean Region; President of CEMEX 

Europe; President of CEMEX Europe, Middle East, Africa, Asia and 

Australia; and Executive Vice President of Planning and Development. 

Currently, Mr. González is Executive Vice President of Planning and 

Finance. He earned his B.A. and M.B.A. from Tecnológico de Monterrey.

VíCtor M. roMo (52)
Executive vice President of Administration

Mr. Romo joined CEMEX in 1985. He earned his bachelor’s degree in 

accounting and his M.S. degree in administration from Tecnológico de 

Monterrey. Before assuming his current position, Mr. Romo served as 

President of CEMEX South America and Caribbean Region. Currently, 

he is responsible for the areas of comptrollership, processes and IT, 

taxation, security, risk management, share service centers, and Neoris.
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EXChaNGE lIstINGs

BOLSA MEXICANA DE vALORES (BMv) MEXICO
NEW YORk STOCk EXCHANGE (NYSE) UNITED STATES

sharE sErIEs

CPO (REPRESENTING TWO A SHARES AND ONE B SHARE)
ADS (REPRESENTING 10 CPOS)

MEDIa rElatIoNs CoNtaCt

mr@cemex.com
PHONE: (52-81) 8888-4334
FAX: (52-81) 8888-4417

INVEstor rElatIoNs CoNtaCt

ir@cemex.com
FROM THE US: 1 877 7CX NYSE
FROM OTHER COUNTRIES: (212) 317-6000
FAX: (212) 317-6047

WEB aDDrEss

www.cemex.com

hEaDQUartErs

Av. RICARDO MARGáIN zOzAYA 325
66265 SAN PEDRO GARzA GARCíA, N.L. MéXICO
PHONE: (52-81) 8888-8888
FAX: (52-81) 8888-4417

MEXICo CItY offICE

Av. PRESIDENTE MASARIk 101-18
11570 MéXICO, D.F. MéXICO
PHONE: (52-55) 5726-9040
FAX: (52-55) 5203-2542

NEW York offICE

590 MADISON AvE. 41ST FLOOR
NEW YORk, NY 10022 USA
PHONE: (212) 317-6000
FAX: (212) 317-6047

BMV tICkEr sYMBol

CEMEXCPO

NYsE tICkEr sYMBol

CX



The information presented herein contains certain forwardlooking statements and information relating to CEMEX, S.A.B. de C.V. 
and its subsidiaries (collectively, “CEMEX”) that are based on the beliefs of its management, as well as assumptions made by and 
information currently available to CEMEX. Such statements reflect the current views of CEMEX with respect to future events 
and are subject to certain risks, uncertainties, and assumptions. Many factors could cause the actual results, performance, or 
achievements of CEMEX to be materially different from any future results, performance, or achievements that may be expressed 
or implied by such forward- looking statements, including, among others, changes in general economic, political, governmental, 
and business conditions globally and in the countries in which CEMEX does business; changes in interest rates; changes in infla-
tion rates; changes in exchange rates; the level of construction generally; changes in cement demand and prices; changes in raw 
material and energy prices; changes in business strategy; and various other factors. Should one or more of these risks or uncer-
tainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary materially from those described 
herein as anticipated, believed, estimated, or expected. CEMEX does not intend, and does not assume any obligation, to update 
these forward-looking statements. In addition, certain information presented herein was extracted from information published 
by various official sources. This information includes statistical information relating to the cement industry, certain reported rates 
of inflation, exchange rates, and information relating to the countries in which CEMEX operates. CEMEX has not participated in 
the preparation or compilation of any of such information and accepts no responsibility therefor.
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